# Measurement and Properties of Firms' Subjective Uncertainty

Stefan Lautenbacher



Dissertation

## Measurement and Properties of Firms' Subjective Uncertainty

Inaugural-Dissertation zur Erlangung des Grades

Doctor oeconomiae publicae (Dr. oec. publ.) an der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München

> vorgelegt von Stefan Lautenbacher

### 2020

Referent: Prof. Dr. Andreas Peichl Korreferent: Prof. Rüdiger Bachmann, PhD Promotionsabschlussberatung: 3. Februar 2021

Datum der mündlichen Prüfung: 19. Januar 2021 Berichterstatter: Andreas Peichl, Rüdiger Bachmann, Gerhard Illing To my parents, Rosemarie and Winfried Lautenbacher.

### Acknowledgements

I am deeply indebted to the Fritz Thyssen Foundation for its financial support of my doctoral studies. I feel equally indebted to my very knowledgeable co-authors Kai Carstensen, Rüdiger Bachmann, and Martin Schneider: they taught me a large share of what I know about conducting research. I would like to specifically express my gratitude for their immediate and high-frequent feedback on my work, and thank Kai Carstensen and Rüdiger Bachmann for their mentoring, approachability, and continuous support throughout the past four years.

I also sincerely thank Andreas Peichl for supervising my thesis, helpful feedback, and for providing excellent conditions for my research. Furthermore, I thank Timo Wollmershäuser for augmenting my knowledge of business cycles and forecasting, and Gerhard Illing for readily joining the examination committee. I am also indebted to Klaus Wohlrabe for his openness to include numerous special questions in the ifo Business Survey and his co-operation to conduct a special meta survey. Moreover, I would like to express my gratitude to Magnus Reif for his patience with my ideas, lively discussions about economic uncertainty, and his feedback on my work. I also sincerely thank Franziska Hünnekes for many enriching and salutary conversations, Sebastian Link for valuable comments on my research, and the whole team at the ifo Center for Macroeconomics and Surveys for its support and an enjoyable time, in particular Pauliina Sandqvist, Robert Lehmann, Christian Grimme, Marcel Göttert, Carla Crolage, Paul Hufe, and Paul Schüle.

Moreover, I thank Daniel Stöhlker for his moral support and for enriching my time at ifo Institute with his humor and unshakeable good mood. Likewise, I thank Annika Bergbauer, Marc Fabel, Patrick Reich, and Eleonora Guarnieri for discussions and distractions during coffee and lunch breaks.

Last, but certainly not least, I am very thankful to my parents, Rosemarie and Winfried Lautenbacher, for their unconditional love and support, and for teaching me curiosity, the most important driver of research.

Stefan Lautenbacher Munich in September 2020

## Contents

Li	List of Figures v				
Li	st of '	Tables		vii	
Pr	eface	!		1	
1	Unc	ertaint	y and Change: Survey Evidence of Firms' Subjective Beliefs	7	
	1.1	Introc	luction	8	
	1.2	Data		14	
		1.2.1	Quality of Responses	16	
		1.2.2	Eliciting Subjective Uncertainty	19	
		1.2.3	Span as a Measure of Subjective Uncertainty	21	
		1.2.4	Properties of Subjective Uncertainty	23	
	1.3	Uncer	tainty and Change	26	
		1.3.1	Uncertainty and Past Growth: An Asymmetric V $\ldots$	26	
		1.3.2	Uncertainty and Change: An Organizing Framework	27	
	1.4	Uncer	tainty and Change in the Cross Section	30	
		1.4.1	Change in Firms' Environment	30	
		1.4.2	Subjective Uncertainty, Size, Trend, and Turbulence	32	
		1.4.3	Subjective Uncertainty, Volatility, and Bias in the Cross Section .	34	
		1.4.4	Heteroscedasticity and Firm Charateristics	35	
	1.5	Uncer	tainty and Change Over Time	36	
		1.5.1	Time Variation in Subjective Uncertainty and Growth	37	
		1.5.2	Comparing Cross Section and Time Series Variation in Subjective		
			Uncertainty	39	
		1.5.3	Subjective Uncertainty and Volatility in the Time Series	40	
		1.5.4	Controlling for Firm Actions and Expectations	42	
	1.6	The D	ynamics of Subjective Uncertainty	43	
		1.6.1	What Moves Subjective Uncertainty?	44	
		1.6.2	Another Surprise Measure	47	

	1.7	Volatili	ty	48
		1.7.1	Cleaned Subjective and Statistical Forecast Errors	50
		1.7.2	Measuring Conditional Volatility	52
		1.7.3	Comparison of Subjective Uncertainty and Conditional	
			Volatility	54
	1.8	Conclu	sion	58
A	opend	dices		59
-	Арр	endix 1	A Representativeness of the Sample	59
	App	endix 1	B Questionnaire for the One-Time Meta-Survey From Fall 2018	62
	Арр	endix 1	C Sample Creation	65
	Арр	endix 1	D Definition of Supersectors	67
	Арр	endix 1	E Detailed Summary Statistics	68
	App	endix 1	F Uncertainty and Change by Firm Characteristics	71
	Арр	endix 1	G Robustness of Uncertainty and Change in the Time Series	74
	Арр	endix 1	H List of Firm-Level Controls	77
2 Uncertainty is More Than Risk – Survey Evidence on Knightia			is More Than Risk – Survey Evidence on Knightian and Bayesian	
	Firm	ns		79
	2.1	Introdu	action	80
	2.2	Data .		85
		2.2.1	The Subjective Likelihood of a Sales Increase	86
		2.2.2	Summary Statistics: The Prevalence of Knightian Responses	87
	2.3	Why K	nightian Responses?	89
		2.3.1	How Firms View Their Survey Responses	90
		2.3.2	Relationship With Other Planning Output	93
		2.3.3	Calibration	97
	2.4	Dynam	nics of Knightian Responses	100
		2.4.1	The Persistence of Knightian Spells in the Cross Section	101
		2.4.2	Knightian Responses and Macroeconomic Risk	103
		2.4.3	Transition Dynamics Between Bayesian and Knightian Responses	105
	2.5	Conclu	sion	106
Aj	opend	dices		109
_	Арр	endix 2	A Questionnaire for the Fall 2018 Meta-Survey	109
	Арр	endix 2	B Estimation of Transition Matrices	112
3	Sub	jective l	Uncertainty, Expectations, and Firm Behavior	115
	3.1	Introdu	action	116

3.2	Data .		121
	3.2.1	Two Samples for the Micro Analysis	122
	3.2.2	Survey Questions	123
3.3	Compa	rring Two Measures of Subjective Uncertainty	124
3.4	Subject	ive Uncertainty at the Micro Level	127
	3.4.1	Uncertainty vs. Expectations and the Business Situation	127
	3.4.2	Uncertainty and Combinations of Situation and Expectations	131
	3.4.3	Uncertainty and Components of Situation and Expectations	134
3.5	Subject	ive Uncertainty in the Aggregate	136
3.6	Case St	tudy: COVID-19 Crisis	139
	3.6.1	Time Series during the COVID-19 Crisis	139
	3.6.2	Uncertainty, Expectations, and Corporate Decisions	142
3.7	Conclu	sion	151
Append	ices		153
Appe	endix 3.	A Data	153
Appe	endix 3.	B Comparing Two Measures of Subjective Uncertainty	155
Appe	endix 3.	C Subjective Uncertainty at the Micro Level	159
Appe	endix 3.	D Subjective Uncertainty in the Aggregate	163
Appe	endix 3.	E Variation in Uncertainty and Sectoral Performance	166
Appe	endix 3.	F Case Study: COVID-19 Crisis	168
Bibliogr	aphy		179

# **List of Figures**

1.1	Original survey questionnaire in German	19
1.2	Changes in subjective uncertainty	25
1.3	Uncertainty and past sales growth	26
1.4	Trend and turbulence	31
1.5	Cross-sectional and time series relationships between uncertainty and	
	past sales growth	40
1.A.1	ROC curves for probit estimations	61
1.B.1	Original meta survey questionnaire in German, part 1	62
1.B.2	Original meta survey questionnaire in German, part 2	63
1.B.3	Original meta survey questionnaire in German, part 3	64
1.F.1	Subjective uncertainty and past sales growth by firm size	71
1.F.2	Subjective uncertainty and past sales growth by growth trend	72
1.F.3	Subjective uncertainty and past sales growth by turbulence	73
2.1	Original survey questionnaire in German	87
2.1	Importance of scenario analysis and statistical analysis	92
2.2	Motivation for stating a probability interval	93
2.3	Response shares	94
2.4	Predicted probabilities of a sales increase, forecasts, and scenarios	96
2.5	Calibration plot	98
2.1	Time-variation of Knightian share	.00
2.2	Time-variation of Knightian share with financial measures of macroe-	
	conomic risk	.04
2.3	Time varying transition probabilities	.06
2.A.1	Original meta survey questionnaire in German, part 1	.09
2.A.2	Original meta survey questionnaire in German, part 2	10
2.A.3	Original meta survey questionnaire in German, part 3	.11
3.1	Comparison of two measures of subjective uncertainty	.26

3.1	Relation of subjective uncertainty to expectations and the business sit-
	uation
3.2	Uncertainty by combinations of business situation and expectations $\ . \ . \ 132$
3.3	Within-variation of uncertainty by variables of business activity 135
3.1	Time series of subjective uncertainty, expectations, and the business
	situation
3.1	Subjective uncertainty and expectations in the COVID-19 crisis and be-
	fore
3.2	Changes of uncertainty, expectations, and the business situation in March
	2020
3.3	Distribution of changes in uncertainty and expectations
A.1	Online questionnaire with questions using visual analogue scales 153
B.1	Determinants of business situation and expectations from meta survey 155
B.2	Comparison of two measures of subjective uncertainty
C.1	Relation of uncertainty ( <i>diff_pred</i> ) to expectations and the business sit-
	uation
C.2	Relation of uncertainty to the business situation by expectation category 159
C.3	Uncertainty ( <i>diff_pred</i> ) for combinations of business situation and ex-
	pectations
C.4	Total variation of uncertainty by variables of business activity 162
D.1	Weighted and unweighted time series
D.2	Business situation vs. industrial production and gross value added $164$
D.3	Long time series of gross value added in manufacturing
D.4	Time series of uncertainty, expectations, and situation by firm size $\ldots$ 165
E.1	Changes in uncertainty, expectations, and the situation by sector $\ldots$ 166
F.1	Uncertainty (unc), expectations, and business situation by major sector 168
F.2	Uncertainty ( <i>diff_pred</i> ), expectations, and business situation by major
	sector
F.3	Sales growth uncertainty, expectations, and business situation by ma-
	jor sector
F.4	Histogram of the submission dates of the responses in March 2020 $\ .$ 172

## List of Tables

1.1	Meta Survey 2018 answers on quantitative planning	18
1.2	Meta Survey 2018 answers on determinants of scenarios	22
1.3	Subjective uncertainty and forecast errors by firm characteristics	33
1.4	Volatility of subjective uncertainty by firm characteristics	35
1.5	Subjective uncertainty and past sales growth	38
1.6	Relation of subjective uncertainty and the absolute forecast error to	
	past sales growth, firm characteristics, and additional controls	41
1.7	Relation of span to its own lag, past sales growth, and past forecast error	45
1.8	Two-by-two tables of span	46
1.9	Relation of span to its own lag, past sales growth, and past outside	
	deviation from worst or best case	48
1.10	Relation of sales growth to past sales growth and firm characteristics .	50
1.11	Model selection criteria for different specifications of the conditional	
	volatility model	54
1.12	Conditional volatility specification (1.8) estimated by maximum likeli-	
	hood	55
1.13	Summary statistics for measures of subjective uncertainty and condi-	
	tional volatility	56
1.14	Comparison of subjective uncertainty and conditional volatility	57
1.A.1	Representativeness of special survey sample	60
1.C.1	Sample creation	65
1.D.1	Definition of supersectors	67
1.E.1	Summary statistics of survey answers and derived variables, pooled	69
1.E.2	Summary statistics of survey answers and derived variables, by firm	70
1.G.1	Robustness sales growth in interval (-15,15): subjective uncertainty and	
	past sales growth	75
1.G.2	Robustness larger sample: subjective uncertainty and past sales growth	76
2.1	Transition matrix for Knightian and Bayesian responses	89
2.2	Summary statistics for Bayesian and Knightian probabilities	89

2.1	Knightian (K) and Bayesian (B) responses for different groups of firms . 102
3.1	Relation of subjective uncertainty (unc) to expectations and the busi-
	ness situation
3.1	Relationship between corporate investment and employment decisions
	and past uncertainty, expectations, and situation
A.1	Representativeness of online participants in the ifo Business Survey 154
B.1	Relationship of the business situation and variables of business activity 156
B.2	Relationship of business expectations and variables of business activity 157
B.3	Summary statistics of situation, expectations, and uncertainty (unc) 158
B.4	Summary statistics of uncertainty: <i>diff_pred</i>
C.1	Uncertainty by interaction dummies of business situation and expecta-
	tions
F.1	Selected events in the onset of the COVID-19 crisis in Germany 172
F.2	Representativeness of subsample of firms responding from March 16
	to 24
F.3	Correlation of regressors, levels and changes
F.4	Relationship between other corporate investment and employment de-
	cisions and past uncertainty, expectations, and situation
F.5	Robustness linear probability model: relationship corporate decisions
	and past uncertainty, expectations, and situation
F.6	Robustness manufacturing excluded: relationship corporate decisions
	and past uncertainty, expectations, and situation
F.7	Robustness measurement error: relationship corporate decisions and
	past uncertainty, expectations, and situation
F.8	Robustness uncertainty <i>diff_pred</i> : Relationship corporate decisions and
	past uncertainty, expectations, and situation

## Preface

Uncertainty about the future accompanies economic decisions every day. For instance, managers in firms need to estimate the returns on new investments without knowing the future demand for their products. Households may take into account the odds of losing employment when considering the purchase of a car or real estate. The fact that the future is uncertain raises a number of questions. Most importantly, does uncertainty affect economic decisions, and if so, how? What are possible effects on the aggregate economy? Research in this area faces the challenge that uncertainty is not directly observable. Therefore, adequately capturing individuals' beliefs is a key pre-requisite for all further investigations.

This thesis addresses the measurement of firms' subjective uncertainty and studies its properties. Before further clarifying my contribution and summarizing the main results, I provide an overview of the related literature.

Conceptually, uncertainty can either take the form of risk or of Knightian uncertainty, which is also known as ambiguity. This distinction dates back to Frank Knight's 1921 book "Risk, Uncertainty and Profit". While, in his words, risk was a "quantity susceptible to measurement", ambiguity was "distinctly not of this character" (Knight, 1921). In modern economics, risk refers to a situation in which an individual can form probabilistic expectations about a set of future events. Ellsberg (1961) demonstrates that there can be situations in which individuals are unable to provide a subjective probability distribution. This characterizes Knightian uncertainty in today's understanding. Due to its more tangible properties, the subsequent theoretical literature has mostly modeled uncertainty as risk.

In an influential contribution, Bernanke (1983) connects uncertainty about investment decisions to aggregate economic fluctuations. The underlying theoretical mechanism is based on so-called "real options": if it is costly to reverse decisions, uncertainty can make it beneficial for investors to delay investments and pause hiring and firing until more information is available. This exploits the option value of waiting (see also, for instance, McDonald and Siegel 1986). Another classical channel that connects un-

certainty to decisions that lead to a negative impact on the economy is precautionary behavior. This can materialize in lower consumption spending by households and reduced investment by risk-averse managers. A third channel works via increased risk premia, which increase the cost of finance and depress demand. Moreover, there are two theoretical mechanisms that postulate an increase in (longer-run) growth as a result of increased uncertainty. Since losses are bounded, but gains are not, the theory of "growth options" predicts higher investment as expected profits increase with higher risk. Similarly, if profits are convex in demand or costs, a higher variance of future outcomes may also incentivize investment according to the Oi-Hartman-Abel effect. Bloom (2014) provides an overview of these channels.

After the experience of the Great Recession, there has been a surge in the interest to study economic uncertainty and its effects on the business cycle. Motivated by the Global Financial Crisis as well as earlier events such as the 9/11 terrorist attacks and the OPEC I oil crisis, the notion of aggregate uncertainty shocks as potential drivers of the business cycle gained momentum in macroeconomics. This is reflected in a number of theoretical and empirical contributions following the seminal work by Bloom (2009).

On the theoretical side, canonical business cycle models were augmented to investigate the effect of time-varying uncertainty. For instance, Basu and Bundick (2017) illustrate the dampening effect of uncertainty caused by a precautionary decrease in consumption coupled with downward price rigidities. Some scholars study an increase in the variance of technology shocks in combination with non-convex adjustment costs and investigate the effects on the real economy and the labor market (Bloom et al., 2018b; Schaal, 2017). Others point at financial distortions as a transmission channel of uncertainty to output (see, for instance, Gilchrist et al. 2014). Most studies assume that uncertainty shocks are exogenous. This is challenged by some scholars who lay out theoretical feedback effects from lower growth to uncertainty, such as Fajgelbaum et al. (2017). In most models uncertainty refers to risk, which is often equated with volatility. A prominent exception is Ilut and Schneider (2014), who introduce Knightian uncertainty to this line of research. They explain aggregate fluctuations of the economy using confidence shocks and behavioral insights about ambiguity aversion.

In the empirical literature, the notion of uncertainty shocks inspired the development of various time series proxy measures of uncertainty. Popular examples include the implied or realized volatility of stock prices (e.g. Bloom 2009), the cross-sectional dispersion of firm variables (e.g. Bachmann et al. 2013), the conditional volatility of macroeconomic forecast errors (Jurado et al., 2015), and count indices of uncertaintyrelated keywords in newspapers (Baker et al., 2016). While all of these proxies refer to the concept of uncertainty, they are statistically quite distinct (Kozeniauskas et al., 2018). A common stylized fact is that they are counter-cyclical: uncertainty is higher in recessions. Using time series econometric methods, innovations in proxy measures of uncertainty are generally found to have a negative effect on output. Based on proxies derived from the stock market, Berger et al. (2020) show that realized volatility is associated with declines, while forward-looking conditional volatility is not. Ludvigson et al. (2020) distinguish financial from macroeconomic uncertainty and find negative effects on output only for shocks originating in the financial sector. They also emphasize the difficulty to identify uncertainty shocks in time series models, as they may be endogenous to first moment shocks.

In summary, the empirical evidence on the effects of uncertainty using macroeconomic proxy measures remains suggestive. The two main obstacles to a clearer picture are imprecise measurement and possible endogeneity of uncertainty and growth. Simultaneity and feedback effects are generally difficult to address and pose a big challenge to all analysis attempting to causally link uncertainty to outcomes. Concerning measurement, a shortcoming of all macroeconomic proxies for uncertainty—and the results of the analyses using them—is that they may differ from the perceived uncertainty of individuals in the economy. When studying the effect of uncertainty on outcomes, what should ultimately matter, besides a transmission via risk premia in financial markets, is the subjective uncertainty of decision makers.

As an alternative to time series econometric analyses, micro data can be used to test the theoretical channels that link uncertainty to economic decisions and outcomes. However, due to the scarcity of data on subjective uncertainty, this literature is small. One rare example is Guiso and Parigi (1999). Based on a cross section of Italian firms, they find that businesses that are more uncertain about their future sales growth plan to invest less. Ben-David et al. (2018) present evidence that, when more uncertain, house-holds exhibit precautionary behavior regarding consumption, credit, and investment.

One reason for the lack of micro data and time series of subjective uncertainty is the rational expectations paradigm. It has dominated economists' thinking since its promotion in the 1970s. As a convenient feature in modeling, it entails that agents are assumed to be fully informed and to hold rational expectations in accordance with the model (Coibion et al., 2018a). Another reason for the lack of micro data on subjective uncertainty is the behaviorist tradition to only take into consideration individuals' actions and outcomes, but not their intentions and perceptions (Bachmann, 2019).

With the rise of behavioral economics, psychological insights were introduced into mainstream economics and weakened the paradigm of rational expectations. As a result, in the last decade there has been renewed interest in survey data about the expec-

tations and uncertainty of households and firms. In fact, there exists a long tradition of eliciting expectations in regular consumer and business surveys to inform macroeconomic forecasts. However, only in recent years researchers have started to systematically exploit this existing information, to design new surveys, and to add questions about subjective uncertainty. Micro data on perceptions opens up new opportunities to review model assumptions and to test the theoretical channels that describe effects of uncertainty on economic outcomes. To date, we still know little about the determinants and properties of subjective business uncertainty, and its effect on economic decisions and the business cycle.

This dissertation addresses some of these gaps. It consists of three chapters—each constitutes a self-contained research article and can be read independently. The papers that underlie chapters one and two are co-authored with Rüdiger Bachmann, Kai Carstensen, and Martin Schneider. The third chapter is my own work. Based on German firm-level survey data collected by the ifo Institute, this thesis extends the literature by presenting three new measures of managers' perceived business uncertainty and by providing an extensive analysis of their properties. In particular, it examines the relation of firms' subjective uncertainty to past growth, firm characteristics, volatility, expectations, and corporate decisions. Moreover, it studies the prevalence of Knightian thinking. Below, I briefly summarize the main findings of each chapter.

The first chapter examines the relationship between firms' subjective uncertainty and past change, and it compares subjective uncertainty to measures of realized and conditional volatility in the cross section and the time series. We measure uncertainty as the difference between managers' expectations about quarterly sales growth in the best and in the worst case. Our main finding is that uncertainty reflects change: firms report more subjective uncertainty after either high or low growth realizations. In the cross section of firms, subjective uncertainty differs from statistical measures of uncertainty such as volatility: fast-growing and large firms report lower subjective uncertainty than fast-shrinking and small firms, respectively, even if they face shocks of similar size. By contrast, the substantial time variation in firm-specific subjective uncertainty resembles that in conditional volatility: both measures of uncertainty are mildly persistent and rise more when growth is temporarily low. These results highlight the importance of idiosyncratic variation in uncertainty outside recessions and provide micro evidence for feedback effects between uncertainty and growth. Moreover, they entail valuable insights for models of firm dynamics and those using conditional volatility as a proxy for subjective uncertainty.

The second chapter investigates whether decision-makers in firms think about the future in terms of probabilities. We ask German manufacturing executives about the likelihood of a sales increase. The key departure from existing business surveys is that we do not force respondents to submit a single probability, but instead give a "Knightian" option of answering with a probability interval. Our main result is that Knightian responses are pervasive: 76% of firms choose a probability interval at least once in five years. We further show that Knightian responses are motivated by a lack of clarity about the future; they do not reflect a lack of sophistication. Over time, substantial switching into and out of the Knightian state reflects both idiosyncratic and aggregate shocks. In particular, the share of Knightian responses spikes up sharply during the Greek crisis in 2015, along with credit spreads. This chapter establishes new stylized facts about the probabilistic beliefs of top-level managers in firms, as opposed to participants in behavioral laboratory experiments. Given the common practice to elicit subjective uncertainty using single probabilities—uncertainty is then measured, in effect, as risk—the new findings may contribute to adopt more flexible question types that also incorporate Knightian thinking.

The third chapter presents a novel measure of subjective uncertainty and relates it to business expectations and firm decisions. Uncertainty is measured by asking managers directly how uncertain they are about their future business development. I demonstrate that the relationship between perceived uncertainty and expectations is strongly negative at the micro level and almost perfectly inverse in the aggregate. It is also state-dependent: uncertainty co-moves less with expectations in bad times. These stylized facts are manifest during the economic downturn of the COVID-19 crisis, but also in the years before. They highlight the simultaneity of movements in subjective uncertainty and expectations, which impedes the identification of uncertainty shocks in time series econometric analyses. As an alternative approach, I use micro data to evaluate the connection of subjective uncertainty and expectations to corporate decisions about investment and employment. In particular, I exploit the between-firm variation during the COVID-19 shock. In contrast to first moment changes, I find that changes in uncertainty neither predict the postponement of investment nor a "freeze" of employment. Averaging over all firms, these results are not in accordance with "wait and see" behavior that we would expect from the "real options" channel of uncertainty.

## Chapter 1

# Uncertainty and Change: Survey Evidence of Firms' Subjective Beliefs\*

<sup>\*</sup> This chapter is based on joint work with Kai Carstensen, Rüdiger Bachmann, and Martin Schneider.

### 1.1 Introduction

A large theoretical literature studies how firms respond to time variation in uncertainty. It has highlighted two key sources of variation. First, firms respond in the short run to news about the business environment. For example, in recessions firms may become less confident in their forecasts of future cost or demand. Heightened uncertainty can then have a negative impact on their hiring and investment.<sup>1</sup> Second, many firms face longer term risks that they learn about over time: for example, expanding firms find out gradually about demand in new markets. It makes sense for firms that operate in unfamiliar territory to operate more cautiously; to an observer they may then appear to adjust "too slowly".<sup>2</sup>

Yet, to date there is little *direct* evidence on how decision makers within businesses perceive and process uncertainty. Instead, subjective uncertainty is often indirectly inferred through the lens of a particular model: for example, if a model imposes rational expectations, the realized volatility of shocks estimated by the modeler becomes a measure of uncertainty perceived by the firms. However, since there is no consensus on model structure, many open questions remain. In particular, how much does subjective uncertainty fluctuate over time? How is it shaped by past firm performance, both in the short run and the longer run? And how does it relate to realized volatility?

This paper provides survey evidence on firms' perceived uncertainty about future sales growth. We introduce a panel data set of firms' subjective beliefs, characteristics and performance for the German manufacturing sector. It is based on a new module of the ifo Business Survey, a long-established survey used to develop business sentiment indicators. The survey is well regarded in the German business community: questions are answered mostly by senior management and there is a high response rate even from large firms.<sup>3</sup> Our data set is based on 14 survey waves in consecutive quarters from 2013 to 2016. We use it to document how subjective uncertainty varies not only in the cross section of firms but also over time.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Bloom (2014) and Fernández-Villaverde and Guerrón-Quintana (2020) survey the macroeconomic literature on fluctuations in uncertainty. One concrete workhorse model assumes that productivity exhibits stochastic volatility that – exogenously or endogenously – increases at the beginning of recessions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Following the seminal work of Jovanovic (1982), a large literature on firm dynamics with learning studies questions such as the contribution of young firms to growth and the role for subsidizing such firms.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Research studies using the standard ifo expectation data are, for instance, Bachmann et al. (2013); Buchheim and Link (2017); Massenot and Pettinicchi (2018); Bachmann et al. (2019); Enders et al. (2019a,b).

The new survey module asks firms for a forecast of one-quarter-ahead sales growth together with two numbers for best and worst case sales growth scenarios. We then define the difference, that is, *span*, between the best and worst case one-quarter-ahead sales growth scenarios as our quantitative measure of subjective uncertainty. The idea behind the survey design is that firms can directly report scenarios developed as part of their regular planning process. Responses to a one-time meta survey we commissioned show that a large majority of firms engages in scenario analysis and uses results from routine quantitative planning when filling out the survey module. Since in addition to the forecast we also retrospectively ask for firms' realized sales growth, we can further compare subjective uncertainty to firms' realized (subjective) forecast errors.

Our main finding is that *uncertainty reflects change* experienced by firms. This principle describes beliefs in both the short and longer run. On the one hand, subjective uncertainty perceived by an individual firm varies substantially at the quarterly frequency; in particular, it is high after both very good and very bad growth realizations. This short run pattern is shared by the conditional volatility of firms' forecast errors. On the other hand, average subjective uncertainty over our four-year sample comoves strongly with measures of change in a firm's environment: it is higher for firms that consistently grow or shrink, as well as for firms with more volatile sales growth. In the cross section of firms, however, subjective uncertainty behaves differently from realized volatility. In particular, large and growing firms report relatively low subjective uncertainty even when they make large forecast errors.

Our results thus provide direct evidence for both types of time variation in uncertainty emphasized in the literature. One key takeaway is the importance of short run *idiosyncratic* variation. Mechanisms at work when uncertainty goes up in recessions could therefore be relevant also for firm dynamics in normal times. Moreover, subjective uncertainty is closely related in the short run to the (absolute) magnitude of past and future shocks. A model of short term planning should therefore draw a connection between subjective uncertainty and conditional volatility, for which our results provide an empirical basis. Traditionally, this connection was simply assumed through the rational expectations assumption. Firms' planning under uncertainty appears to reflect at least in part actual volatility, perhaps because managers are quite familiar with the short run dynamics of their business.

At the same time, our results point to an important role for learning over the longer run. Indeed, fast-growing and fast-shrinking firms not only perceive higher uncertainty, but also make forecasts that are too conservative, that is, systematically biased towards zero. This is true after controlling for firm size, suggesting that even large firms sometimes enter unfamiliar territory where growth is uncertain and hard to forecast. While we document a connection between volatility and subjective uncertainty also for longer term risk, there is an important second force: successful firms – either growing or large – report lower uncertainty when faced with the same volatility. This fact is consistent with mechanisms that make uncertainty matter more to decision makers in bad times, so their planning considers a wider span of scenarios.

To provide an idea of magnitudes, the mean span between best and worst case scenarios is 12.1 percentage points (pp), slightly above the mean absolute forecast error. Firms differ in average subjective uncertainty: the cross sectional standard deviation of average span per firm is 7.4 pp. At the same time, we document large time variation in subjective uncertainty for individual firms: the cross sectional average of the firm-level standard deviation of span is 5.9 pp. Time varying span is thus a volatile component of firms' planning process. In fact, it is almost as volatile as the usual driver of firm planning in economic models, namely changes in conditional expectations: the average firm-level time series standard deviation of growth forecasts is 7.4 pp. Most of the time series variation in subjective uncertainty is firm-specific: time-sector fixed effects explain only a negligible share.

Our cross-sectional results relate average firm-level subjective uncertainty to two measures of how a firm's environment changes over the medium term. First, we define *trend* as a firm's unconditional mean growth rate over our four year sample. We show that both high and low trend firms are significantly more uncertain. Span in the bottom quartile by trend is 6pp higher than for the "normal" firms, that is, firms within the interquartile range; it is 2pp higher in the top quartile. At the same time, high and low trend firms' forecasts are biased towards zero by about 5pp on average. Both results are consistent with models of learning: fast expansion or shrinkage leads firms to a less familiar, and hence more uncertain, state of business that is difficult to forecast. They are not consistent with simple models of firm dynamics in which every firm knows its trend growth.

Our second measure of medium term change is *turbulence*, defined as firms' in-sample sales growth volatility over time. High turbulence firms face larger (absolute) shocks than the average firm, but do not make biased forecasts. Moreover, they not only report higher subjective uncertainty on average, but also higher *variation* in subjective uncertainty. Indeed, controlling for trend as well as size, the mean span in the top quartile by turbulence is 10pp higher than in the bottom quartile, whereas the standard deviation of span is 6pp higher. In other words, planning at firms that face larger

shocks not only uses scenarios that are further apart but also varies those scenarios more over time as shocks arrive.<sup>4</sup>

The short-run relationship between subjective uncertainty and past growth is V-shaped, with a minimum close to zero. Firms thus become more uncertain after either negative or positive growth. Bad quarters increase uncertainty by more: while a one percentage point lower negative growth rate is followed by 30 basis points wider span between firms' best and worst case scenarios, a one percentage point higher positive growth rate widens span by only 17 basis points; these numbers are robust to controlling for firm heterogeneity. The V-shape is perhaps surprising in light of the negative comovement between growth and uncertainty emphasized in the literature. It is nevertheless consistent because this literature focuses on the behavior of uncertainty over the business cycle, whereas most variation in our sample is idiosyncratic. Our results suggest that individual firms' uncertainty is shaped by its individual performance, and increases when an unfamiliar event occurs, especially a bad one.

There are several candidate explanations for why uncertainty might reflect change in the short run. One possibility is that the basic principle we have found in the cross section – firms that operate in unfamiliar territory perceive more uncertainty – is also at work in the short run. If this force were dominant, we should see that uncertainty is particularly related to growth *surprises*. We indeed confirm a positive relationship between lagged absolute forecast errors and span. However, we also show that, in firm quarters with negative growth, the previous-quarter growth rate is a sufficient statistic for predicting span given the previous-quarter growth rate and forecast error. The reason behind this result is that predictable low growth realizations also increase uncertainty, to a similar extent as low growth surprises. A possible explanation is that planning takes into account state variables other than growth. For example, in a model with customer capital, a shrinking firm might see the size and/or composition of its future pool of customers become more uncertain in a predictable way.

How does firms' subjective uncertainty compare to the volatility of their forecast errors, a measure of uncertainty in many models? Our key cross sectional finding here is that successful firms—defined as either large and fast-growing—plan with narrower spans even when they face the same magnitude of forecast errors as less successful firms. The result has two parts. First, controlling for firm size, the absolute forecast

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This distinction matters because of its implication for behavior such as firm factor choice: in the presence of adjustment costs or time to build, time variation in subjective uncertainty leads firms to respond differently each period. If instead, high volatility firms simply faced larger iid shocks, they might still behave different from low volatility firms, but that behavior would not vary over time. Our results say that the theoretical mechanisms that make firms respond to uncertainty generate both cross sectional and time series variation.

error for growing firms is 2.5pp higher than for firms that are neither growing nor shrinking, while span is not significantly different. By contrast, compared to stable firms both the absolute forecast errors and span increase by about the same amount of roughly 3pp for shrinking firms. While high and low trend firms are both in unfamiliar territory—in the sense of facing larger shocks—growing firms do not adjust their planning. Second, large firms with more than 250 employees make similar absolute forecast errors as smaller firms, yet plan with spans that are up to 5pp narrower, controlling for trend and turbulence. Size by itself thus also leads firms to plan with narrower spans.

How does time variation in subjective uncertainty compare to that in conditional volatility? This question is more difficult to answer: it is no longer sufficient to compare absolute forecast errors to a measure of subjective uncertainty, as we did when examine the cross section. Indeed, computing the variance of forecast errors delivers an *unconditional* measure of volatility. The relevant counterpart we are looking for here is the predictable component of volatility. We want to establish whether conditional volatility is persistent and related to past growth in a similar way to span. We thus utilize the panel dimension of our data set to estimate dynamic panel regressions for both our subjective uncertainty measure span as well as panel GARCH models for firms' subjective forecast errors.

The short-run dynamics of firm-specific subjective uncertainty closely resemble that of the conditional volatility of shocks experienced by firms: both are mildly persistent, increase with bad past growth and increase somewhat less with good past growth. We take away that, at least in the short run, firms adjust their planning process based on the experience that high and—even more so—low growth signals larger future surprises. In applications that emphasize the short run, an approach that equates uncertainty with conditional volatility thus describes actual firm planning quite well.

Our study is motivated by a large body of work on firm behavior under uncertainty. Theory has proposed a number of mechanisms through which uncertainty impacts input choices that have to be made before cost or demand is fully known. Examples include wait-and-see effects or financial frictions that increase the cost of capital when uncertainty is high. While the relevant theoretical concept is subjective uncertainty, empirical tests have long had to rely on proxy measures.<sup>5</sup> Following the pioneering

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Empirical work with micro data on firms tends to rely on proxy measures for uncertainty such as the volatility and dispersion of stock returns (Leahy and Whited, 1996; Campbell et al., 2001; Bloom et al., 2007) or other firm-level outcomes (Bachmann and Bayer, 2013, 2014; Jurado et al., 2015; Bloom et al., 2018b), implied options volatility (Bloom, 2009; Barrero et al., 2017), perceived political uncertainty from quarterly earnings conference calls (Hassan et al., 2019), and qualitative (Bachmann et al., 2013)

work of Guiso and Parigi (1999), a small number of studies have used survey measures of uncertainty to investigate its effects on economic activity (see in particular, Bontempi et al., 2010; Dibiasi et al., 2018; Bloom et al., 2019). The goal of the present paper is not to study the effect of uncertainty on outcomes, but instead to characterize how uncertainty varies over time, and in particular how it relates to past outcomes.

In particular, our short run results provide new evidence to guide an active discussion about the relationship between uncertainty and growth. Following Bloom (2009), a growing literature has incorporated uncertainty shocks into macroeconomic models.<sup>6</sup> Such shocks are often orthogonal to first moment shocks, for example, higher uncertainty lower current growth even if it is unrelated to past growth. More recently, several papers have considered feedback effects from growth to uncertainty (Bachmann and Moscarini, 2012; Fajgelbaum et al., 2017; Ilut and Valchev, 2017; Ilut et al., 2018; Baley and Blanco, 2019; Berger and Vavra, 2019; Ludvigson et al., 2020). One of our main results is the strong association of high uncertainty with low or high past growth. It implies that feedback effects – or possibly correlated shocks – are particularly important for understanding the comovement of growth and subjective uncertainty.

Firm-level idiosyncratic uncertainty is also a key building block for models of firm dynamics that aim to explain the size distribution of firms, the (mis)allocation of factors of production and ultimately the level and growth rates of aggregate output (see surveys by Luttmer 2010 or Hopenhayn 2014; for recent examples, see contributions by Pugsley et al. 2018 and David and Venkateswaran 2019). Our direct evidence on long-term risks is consistent with the mechanisms explored in quantitative models of firm learning such as Abbring and Campbell (2003), Eaton, Eslava, Kugler and Tybout (2012) or Arkolakis et al. (2018). Moreover, our results on high frequency variation in subjective uncertainty suggest that even a short time-to-build friction could give rise to effects of uncertainty on factor choice. Indeed, with any type of adjustment cost, quarterly variation in uncertainty will work like a distortion—a wedge between the marginal product and price of a factor (see, for example, Ilut and Saijo 2020 for a model of firms facing idiosyncratic risk that clarifies this feature).

The new ifo survey module is one of a handful of data sources on expectations of leading decision makers in firms about their own economic circumstances.<sup>7</sup> Bloom

as well as quantitative (Bachmann et al., 2017, 2019; Altig et al., 2019; Bloom et al., 2019) firm-level forecast errors obtained from surveys.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> An incomplete list is: Christiano et al. (2014); Gilchrist et al. (2014); Fernández-Villaverde et al. (2015); Basu and Bundick (2017); Arellano et al. (2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> There is also an active literature that studies firm expectations about aggregate variables, such as inflation (see, for New Zealand, Kumar et al. 2015; Coibion et al. 2018b, and for Italy, Coibion et al. 2020) and GDP (see, for Japan, Tanaka et al. 2019).

et al. (2017) and Altig et al. (2019) present results from a new business survey of top managers in US businesses, administered by the Census at the annual frequency and the Federal Reserve Banks of Atlanta at the monthly frequency. They also document a V-shaped relationship between growth and uncertainty in the cross section. They do not study time variation in subjective uncertainty, which is the main focus of our paper. Another source of data is the panel of chief executives' stock return expectations assembled by John Graham and Campbell Harvey at Duke University. Ben-David et al. (2013) show that managers are strongly miscalibrated in that their subjective forecast densities are too narrow, thus questioning rational expectations as a modeling assumption. Gennaioli et al. (2016) show that managers' expectations are connected to actual firms' investment plans, thus showing that miscalibration has real effects. Our results confirm the presence of systematic forecast errors by firms that experience a lot of change. Moreover, the perception of uncertainty deviates from volatility for successful firms.

The paper is structured as follows. Section 2 explains our new survey questions and properties of the data. Section 3 introduces the raw relationship between uncertainty and change and presents a simple organizing framework. Section 4 studies uncertainty and change in the cross section, while Section 5 looks at time series variation after controlling for fixed firm characteristics. Section 6 compares the dynamic properties of subjective uncertainty and statistical measures of uncertainty.

### 1.2 Data

The ifo Business Survey, run by the Munich-based ifo Institute, is a long-running survey of German businesses. Despite the occasional attrition, the ifo Institute maintains a sample that is representative of the German manufacturing sector by replacing exiting firms with new respondents (see Sauer and Wohlrabe 2020). The responses from the survey provide input for a leading indicator of the German business cycle, the ifo Business Climate Index. The latter is part of the EU-harmonized business surveys commissioned by the Directorate General for Economic and Financial Affairs of the European Commission.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Aggregate survey results for Germany are presented at www.ifo.de/w/3fvxPxj2P, the harmonized European results, including the European Economic Sentiment Indicator, can be found here: https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/indicators-statistics/economicdatabases/business-and-consumer-surveys\_en.

In 2012, we designed an online module of quantitative questions to elicit subjective firm uncertainty that were asked to all manufacturing firms in the main survey. An initial pilot wave in December 2012 was met by strong interest. Analysis of text comments submitted by firms further showed that firms had no trouble understanding the questions. The module has now been in the field since 2013, with participation remaining stable between 300 and 400 firms per wave.<sup>9</sup>

A firm in the survey is either a stand-alone firm or a division of a large conglomerate. For simplicity, we refer to "firms" throughout this paper. The survey questions are about growth in sales. The German term used in the questionnaire, "Umsatz", is a well-defined technical term in profit and loss accounting, translated into English as "sales" or "total revenue." It is commonly used as an accounting statistic at the levels of both a division and an entire firm.

The survey is administered at the beginning of every quarter. Our current sample uses 14 survey waves spanning 2013:Q2 through 2016:Q3. In addition, in fall 2018, the roughly 400 firms from our baseline sample participated in a one-time meta survey we fielded with questions on how firms collect information and arrive at the views expressed in our uncertainty module. 191 of these firms responded. Furthermore, Sauer and Wohlrabe (2019) documents the identity of the respondents in the ifo Business Survey. Finally, there was an additional meta survey administered by ifo in the fall of 2019 and sent out to all the participants in the ifo main manufacturing survey. For our purposes, this additional meta survey provides information on the regularity of respondents in the survey.

The selection of participants in the uncertainty module is similar to that of the main manufacturing survey (which is designed to be representative of the German manufacturing sector). Indeed, Appendix 1.A shows that it is essentially impossible to predict participation in the uncertainty module using information on firm size, sector, and survey wave. In particular, our data contain a substantial number of large firms: when we measure firm size by the number of employees, the 75th percentile is at about 250 employees. The median firm employs 100 workers while the 25th percentile is at 40.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The raw data can be found under IBS-IND (2016).

### 1.2.1 Quality of Responses

In partnering with ifo, our goal was to develop a data set that reflects the assessment of uncertainty by key decision makers in firms, and the use of quantitative analysis the firm considers in their actual decision making. Our meta survey together with other meta surveys provides evidence on the quality of the data along these dimensions.

Before turning to the results from our own meta survey, we note that Sauer and Wohlrabe (2019) documents that, in the overwhelming majority of firms in the manufacturing sector, 86%, the respondent is a member of top management: 73% of firms mention the CEO, CFO or COO, whereas 13% of units surveyed refer to a "division head", the natural label for the top executive if the unit surveyed is not a stand-alone firm (see Sauer and Wohlrabe 2019, Table 2). For very large firms with more than 500 employees, the share of responses from top management is only slightly lower than in the population as a whole: a bit over 65% CEO, CFO or COO, and a bit over 15% the division head (see Sauer and Wohlrabe 2019, Figure 1). These findings are consistent with an earlier meta study conducted by ifo about the trade sector (see Abberger et al., 2011). The additional meta survey commissioned by ifo in the fall 2019 further shows that the identity of the responder within the firm changes rarely: 83% of firms indicate the responder is "always the same person", 15% say "mostly the same person", and less than 2% mention a team of people or that the responder "changes frequently".

Our meta survey from fall 2018 asks firms what type of information they use when they fill out the questionnaire of our module. The questionnaire in the original German is shown in Appendix 1.B. We first ask whether answers to our uncertainty questions are guided by numbers that the firm has already developed in house as part of a regular quantitative planning process. The results are summarized in the top panel of Table 1.1, both for all firms and broken down by size class. On average, 80% of firms respond that they use results from its quantitative planning. The share is remarkably stable across firms, only very small firms with less than 10 employees report a somewhat lower share.

We then add a follow-up question about alternative frameworks for quantitative planning under uncertainty.

# *If yes, how important were typically results from (i) a scenario analysis around a baseline forecast (ii) statistical analysis (iii) other (please name).*

For each of the options (i)-(iii), firms were asked to indicate importance on a four point scale: not important, less important, important, very important. Firms which chose option (iii) were able to fill in an alternative approach.

One goal here was to learn about the use of statistical analysis. Moreover, we were interested in the use of scenario analysis, that is, thinking about the future in terms of a few concrete—often fairly detailed—scenarios without necessarily attaching probabilities. A well-known example of scenario analysis is bank stress testing: banks are asked to forecast losses given a detailed set of contingencies, but they are not asked to assign probabilities to those contingencies. The literature suggests that scenario analysis is common in German businesses.<sup>10</sup>

The middle panel of Table 1.1 summarizes how German manufacturing firms approach quantitative planning. Both scenario analysis and statistical analysis are popular: both methods are rated as at least important by more than half of the firms. We again break down the answers by size. The share of firms that rates each method at least important is increasing in size. Interestingly, large firms rely more heavily on scenario analysis by a substantive margin of 20 percentage points. For firms that routinely compute adverse and favorable scenarios as part of their planning process, filling out the survey does not impose an additional forecasting task and is likely to generate more thought-out answers.

The bottom panel of Table 1.1 speaks to what leaders in German manufacturing firms think about the scenarios we ask them routinely in the main uncertainty module. We gave them two options (plus a verbal other option): are these plausible scenarios that may well occur, or are they scenarios that a possible but extraordinary. In technical language, are these scenarios viewed as (close to) support bounds? The clear majority of firms views scenarios as plausible scenarios rather than support bounds. At the same time, the answers from the middle panel suggest that this is how firms actually think about there uncertain future. We thus view our approach of asking firms about their subjective uncertainty through scenarios as both a flexible and adequate elicitation method.

Finally, we find that conditional on using scenario analysis as "very important" or "important", a majority of firms (56%) values statistical analysis as "less important" or "not important." Conversely, conditional on valuing scenario analysis as "less important" or "not important," 64% of firms are more keen on statistical analysis ("very important" or "important"). This suggests a certain imperfect substitutability between the two quantitative sales planning techniques. As for which firms tend to view scenarios as plausible a opposed to possible but extraordinary events, there does not seem to be a difference between those firms which employ quantitative sales planning techniques.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Mietzner (2009) provides an overview of the literature on strategic planning in German firms. In many industries, the majority of firms engage in some sort of scenario analysis.

	All obs.	Tiny & Small	Medium	Large
Firms with quantitative sales planning	$\underset{(0.03)}{0.80}$	0.73 (0.06)	$\underset{(0.05)}{0.80}$	$\underset{(0.04)}{0.80}$
Results from scenario analysis				
very important	0.15 (0.03)	0.57	0.68	0.66
important	0.49 (0.04)	(0.08)	(0.06)	(0.07)
Results from statistical analysis				
very important	0.13 (0.03)	0.52	0.57	0.47
important	0.39 (0.04)	(0.08)	(0.07)	(0.07)
Selection of scenarios				
Best and worst scenarios are plausible	$\underset{(0.03)}{0.71}$	$\underset{(0.05)}{0.77}$	$\underset{(0.06)}{0.67}$	$\underset{(0.06)}{0.70}$
Best and worst scenarios are extraordinary	$\underset{(0.03)}{0.29}$	$\underset{(0.05)}{0.23}$	$\underset{(0.06)}{0.33}$	$\underset{(0.06)}{0.30}$

#### Table 1.1: Meta Survey 2018 answers on quantitative planning

**Notes:** The numbers are from the fall 2018 meta survey on a sample of 191 firms. The top panel presents the share of firms that report that their answers to our uncertainty questions are guided by numbers that the firm has already developed in house as part of a regular quantitative planning process. Column 1 reports the overall share, while columns 2 to 4 show the share by three size groups. In line with the definition by the German Statistical Office, firms are "tiny" if the have less than 10 employees, "small" if the number of employees is between 10 and 50, "medium" if the number of employees is between 50 and 250, and "large" if the number of employees exceeds 250. The middle panel contains the results of two follow-up questions for firms that report engaging in regular scenario planning. We present the shares of firms that consider scenario and statistical analysis, respectively, as "very important" and "not important." Column 2 to 4 shows the sum of the shares answering with "very important" or "important." by size group. The bottom panel displays the results from a question where we asked firms about how they think about the best and worst case scenarios when answering them in our main survey; the options were plausible scenarios or possible but extraordinary scenarios.

niques and those that do not. We find the same approximate independence for those firms that view statistical analysis as "very important" or "important" versus those that find them "less important" or "not important." However, firms that find statistical analysis as "very important" or "important" have a very high conditional probability of viewing scenarios as plausible (80%), while those firms for which statistical analysis is "less important" or "not important" this probability shrinks to 58%. This means, the expert firms in scenario analysis are clearly not viewing them as support bounds.

#### Figure 1.1: Original survey questionnaire in German

April 2014				
Dass Wirtschaft zu Gesein Zusatznagen: Dass Wirtschaft zu 50% aus Psychologie besteht, wusste schon Ludwig Erhard. Ein wichtiges Element sind dabei Erwartungen über eine unsichere Zukunft, mit der Sie als Unternehmer tagtäglich ungehen müssen. Das haben die Wirtschaftswissenschaften zu lange vernachlässigt. Diese Erwartungen und diese Unsicherheit zu messen und zu evaluieren, ist das Ziel der folgenden Fragen. Mit Ihren Antworten helfen Sie uns sehr. Für Rückfragen steht Ihnen Frau Wieland zur Verfügung: Tel. 089-9224-1247 - E-Mail: wieland@ifo.de				
Die folgenden Fragen beziehen sich auf Änderungen gegenüber dem Vorquartal.				
1. Um wieviel Prozent hat sich der Umsatz in Ihrem Bereich im ersten Quartal 2014 verändert?				
Veränderung um: % (bitte ganze, positive oder negative Zahlen eingeben) 💿 weiß nicht				
Anmerkungen:				
2. Um wieviel Prozent wird sich der Umsatz in Ihrem Bereich im zweiten Quartal 2014 verändern?				
a) Im bestmöglichen Fall: % (bitte ganze, positive oder negative Zahlen eingeben)	weiß nicht			
Im schlechtestmöglichen Fall: % (bitte ganze, positive oder negative Zahlen eingeben)	weiß nicht			
b) Unter Berücksichtigung aller Chancen und Risiken erwarte ich				
im zweiten Quartal 2014 alles in allem eine Veränderung um: 6 (bitte ganze, positive oder negative Zahlen eingeben)	weiß nicht			
Anmerkungen:				

**Notes:** Original questionnaire from ifo's online module on subjective uncertainty in German; screenshot from April 2014.

### 1.2.2 Eliciting Subjective Uncertainty

The uncertainty module of the ifo Business Survey asks firms, at the beginning of a quarter, a two-part question. Figure 1.1 displays the sample questionnaire for April 2014 in the original German. In English, the questionnaire reads:

The following questions refer to changes against the previous quarter.

- 1. By how much in percentage terms have your sales changed in the first quarter of 2014?
- 2. By how much in percentage terms will your sales change in the second quarter of 2014?
  - a. In the best possible case: In the worst possible case:
  - b. Taking into account all contingencies and risks, I expect for the second quarter of 2014 all in all a change of:

The questionnaire form contains four boxes for respondents to provide their four numerical answers. Next to every box, there is a reminder to provide positive or negative integers. The default option is to skip the question by checking "don't know" ("weiß nicht" in German) behind the box, as shown in the empty form in the figure. Once a respondent enters a number, the "don't know"-option becomes unchecked. Finally, underneath both questions 1 and 2, firms are invited to provide free text comments ("Anmerkungen"). To clarify the timing, consider a firm responding in April 2014, that is, in the first two and a half weeks of 2014:Q2. Question 1 asks for the change in sales between 2013:Q4 and 2014:Q1. This is the most recent sales growth realization that the firm has experienced. Question 2 then asks for the firm's outlook over the current quarter 2014:Q2, as compared to the last quarter 2014:Q1. This is the next growth rate realization that the firm expects.

Our quantitative measure of subjective uncertainty is the *span* between the best and worst case scenarios for sales growth that firms provide in response to question 2.a. A firm's *forecast error* is the difference between its actual sales growth in the current quarter and its expected growth rate at the beginning of that quarter, that is, its answer to part 2.b. At the beginning of every quarter, firms cannot perfectly predict the flow of sales over the entire quarter; the forecast errors thus captures the mistakes they make.

#### Sample construction

We describe the construction of our baseline sample, including all the data cleaning steps, in detail in Appendix 1.C. Briefly, in a first step, we focus on firms that have at least five sensible firm-wave observations of the previous-quarter sales growth rate (question 1). Text comments provided by firms are useful here both to assess outliers and to drop firms unwilling or unable to provide quarterly forecasts. The five-observations threshold allows us to compute meaningful time series means and volatilities of sales growth rates for firms in this sample. We use both as important firm-level control variables in our analyses.

Our baseline sample needs to have also consistent and realistic answers to the second question in the survey about the sales growth scenarios and consists, in the end, of 400 firms and 2762 firm-wave observations from 14 quarters. We know each firm's sector at the two-digit manufacturing level and form 14 supersectors for which we have a sufficiently large number of observations. Table 1.D.1 in Appendix 1.D presents the distribution of firms across sectors.

Survey questions that ask about realized outcomes (such as production) explicitly ask firms to ignore seasonal fluctuations. Consistent with this, we observe only negligible seasonal effects in our data. Indeed, at the sectoral level, we can compare the sales growth rates measured in our survey – and thus deseasonalized by the individual firms – with a seasonally adjusted time series of manufacturing sales growth rates measured by the Federal Statistical Office, Destatis, through an unrelated survey. The time series correlation between the Destatis series and our series is 0.76. We thus treat the variables below as seasonally adjusted at the individual firm level.
#### **1.2.3** Span as a Measure of Subjective Uncertainty

The premise behind our survey module is that when firms worry more about the future, they contemplate positive and negative scenarios that are further apart, and hence exhibit higher span. Movements in span can in principle reflect changes in either beliefs or attitude towards uncertainty. On the one hand, a firm might worry more about the future because it has less information and hence perceives a lot of uncertainty. It might then modify its planning process to consider scenarios that are further away from the baseline. Alternatively, the firm may worry more in the sense that it becomes more cautious in its approach to planning under uncertainty. This might lead it to alter scenarios even if beliefs are the same.

The metasurvey results provide further evidence on how firms choose the reported scenarios. One question asks firms whether they view scenarios as "plausible" or "possible but exceptional". The third panel of Table 1.1 shows the results: an overwhelming majority of firms, 76%, respond "plausible", regardless of size class. In light of this finding, we would expect that realized growth often falls outside the interval bounded by the best and worst cases. This is indeed the case in our data. In a pooled sample of firm-quarter observations, the share of instances where growth is outside the bounds is 48% for firms that consider scenarios "plausible" and still 40% for those that consider them "possible but exceptional". We conclude that firms generally like to think about scenarios that are quite likely.<sup>11</sup>

The metasurvey also confirms that survey answers reflect both information and attitude towards uncertainty to a significant extent. Indeed, we ask firms to rate, on a four point scale, the importance of various determinants for their choice of scenarios. The results are summarized in Table 1.2. They show that the most relevant factors mentioned by firms are risk attitude, recent experience of own sales growth and news about the future unrelated to past sales growth. In contrast, the typical firm does not attribute an important role to sales growth more than two years in the past as well as the observation of competitors. Again these results vary little across size classes.

These findings clarify that span is a measure of "worry" about future uncertainty that guides firm planning, as opposed to, say, only a measure of perceived risk. Of course, there are conditions under which worry and perceived risk are the same. To illustrate, consider a firm with decision makers who think about risk and reward in terms of mean and variance, and maximize a textbook objective that is linear in both moments,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> This finding suggests that it is generally difficult to elicit support bounds and hence probability distributions in a survey when there are no prespecified bounds.

			"Very importa	ant" or "Impo	ortant"
	Very important	Important	Tiny & Small	Medium	Large
Sales changes last 1 to 2 years	0.21	0.37	0.58	0.71	0.40
Sales changes more than 2 years ago	0.02	0.09	0.09	0.16	0.06
Considerations independent of					
past sales changes	0.41	0.49	0.85	0.93	0.91
Our risk attitude	0.19	0.57	0.78	0.86	0.60
Sales change we observe with					
competitors	0.04	0.26	0.29	0.30	0.32

#### Table 1.2: Meta Survey 2018 answers on determinants of scenarios

**Notes:** The numbers are from the fall 2018 meta survey on a sample of 191 firms. Respondents are asked to assess the importance of several aspects for determining scenarios for sales growth in the best and worst case. Columns 1 and 2 report the overall share, while columns 3 to 5 show the share by three size groups. In line with the definition by the German Statistical Office, firms are "tiny" if the have less than 10 employees, "small" if the number of employees is between 10 and 50, "medium" if the number of employees is between 50 and 250, and "large" if the number of employees exceeds 250. We present the shares of firms that consider the determinants, respectively, as "very important" and "important" for the choice of scenarios. The other answer options were "less important" or "important." Column 3 to 5 show the sum of the shares answering with "very important" or "important" by size group.

with a fixed coefficient on variance capturing risk aversion. For such a firm, changes in worry about the future that are relevant for actions come only from changes in conditional variance. We would thus expect span to reflect the dispersion of the firm's subjective conditional distribution.

More generally, our focus on "worry" means that our measure reflects changes in perceived risk only to the extent that they are actually relevant to the firm's planning process. For example, an increase in risk will have a smaller effect on firm planning if the firm's objective does not strongly respond to risk. We would thus expect a smaller change in span. In fact, it is plausible to have two firms that face the same change in risk, but see span move more for one of them because it plans more cautiously. Put differently, span is best viewed as the *outcome* of a change in risk (or risk attitude): it captures how the planning process of the firm changes.

How can span be used to quantify models of the firm? In economic models, "worry" about uncertainty is usually captured by a certainty equivalent function. For example, in a standard model of firm dynamics, we can use the value function of the firm together with its conditional distribution of shocks to ask how much a firm would be willing to pay to remove the uncertainty. The answer would generally depend not only on the firm's perceived risk, but also on the curvature of the objective function. The latter might be driven by various features of the firm's environment such as technology, managerial risk aversion, or financial frictions. Since planning for scenarios

takes these features into account, we think of span as a proxy for worry that is measured using the certainty equivalent approach.

An additional advantage of our focus on "worry" as opposed to risk is that positive and negative scenarios – and hence span – are meaningful numbers for a firm whether or not it routinely reasons in terms of probabilities. As we have seen in Section 1.2.1, more than half of firms consider statistical analysis as unimportant for answering our survey. At the same time, 80% of firms routinely rely on *some* kind of quantitative analysis, in particular scenario analysis. Our question is designed to make sense to all firms and encourage them to use data from routine quantitative analysis. Firms that develop probabilistic forecasts can provide quantiles from their subjective distribution. Firms that only assess the effect of scenarios without assigning probabilities can report what those scenarios are.<sup>12</sup>

# **1.2.4** Properties of Subjective Uncertainty

In this section, we present stylized facts on span and its relationship to volatility. Detailed tables of summary statistics for answers to the uncertainty module questions are provided in Appendix 1.E.

#### Sales growth is hard to predict

Realized firm sales growth has a standard deviation close to 15 percentage points and an interquartile (IQ) range from -5% to 10%. Relative to this variation, the distribution of forecasts is compressed, with an IQ range from zero to 5%. The variance of forecasts is about half that of the realizations. Forecasts display little bias on average: the average forecast is only slightly higher than the average realization. For an average firm, the standard deviation of forecast errors is 10.2pp, similar in magnitude to volatility (standard deviation) of its sales growth of 11.4pp. Together, these moments indicate that predicting sales growth is difficult: unpredictable variation is close to total variation.

One might suspect that firms provide forecasts in a mechanical way by simply using past growth or some constant baseline growth rate. In our data, both hypotheses are false. Indeed, the difference between a firm's forecast and its last realization of growth

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The same connection to economic models applies for firms that do not think in terms of probabilities. For example, firms might maximize an objective function that exhibits a concern for robustness or aversion for Knightian uncertainty. It is still possible to compute a certainty equivalent and use data on span to calibrate the model.

has a standard deviation of 17.2 percentage points, larger than that of the forecast itself. At the same time, the difference between a firm's forecast and its firm level mean growth rate has a standard deviation of 10.8 percentage points. The results show that these simple models generate growth predictions that deviate substantially from firms' actual forecasts. We conclude that firms' forecasts are nontrivial functions of past growth.

#### Best and worst case scenarios and the magnitude of subjective uncertainty

Firms' best and worst case scenarios bracket forecasts almost symmetrically. The average worst and best case bounds are -4.8% and 7.4%, respectively. The midpoint between these bounds is 1.3% and hence less than one percentage point below the average forecast of 2.2%. Individual bounds have slightly higher standard deviations and wider IQ ranges than forecasts. A key difference between the variables is that the distribution of the lower (upper) bound is negatively (positively) skewed.

Our measure of subjective uncertainty is similar in magnitude to firm level unconditional volatility. Indeed, the mean span in the pooled sample is 12.1 percentage points, while the cross sectional mean of firms' time series standard deviation of growth rates is 11.4%. Since growth is hard to predict, the span reported by the average firm is also similar in magnitude to the typical absolute forecast error experienced by a firm, 9.4% in the pooled sample.

#### Subjective uncertainty varies in cross section

To assess the variation of subjective uncertainty in the cross section, we compute the average span for each firm. The cross sectional standard deviation of average span is 7.4%. It is similar in magnitude to the cross sectional standard deviation of the average absolute forecast error of 9.5%. Firms thus differ substantially in both the size of the typical shock they experience and in the way their planning deals with perceived uncertainty.

#### Subjective uncertainty varies in time series at firm level

Our data also show substantial time variation in subjective uncertainty at the firm level. The sample standard deviation of span for the average firm in Figure 1.E.2 is 5.9 percentage points and hence more than half of the standard deviation of span in the pooled sample. Time series variation in subjective uncertainty is also large compared to other changes in firms' beliefs. For example, the cross sectional mean of firms' time series standard deviation of forecasts is 7.2 percentage points and numbers for best and



#### Figure 1.2: Changes in subjective uncertainty

**Notes:** The figure illustrates how, on average, changes in the best and worst case scenarios generate increases and decreases of subjective uncertainty (span). The plot shows the pooled averages of span as well as the pooled averages of the best and worst case sales growth rates, which are denoted by *b* and *w*, respectively.  $b^*$  and  $w^*$  are the best and worst case scenarios after the average changes of span.

worst scenarios are only slightly higher. A firm's span usually changes together with its forecast: only 13% of changes in span are not accompanied by a forecast revision.

What do *changes* in uncertainty look like? On average, they consist of moves in both the best and worst case scenarios. In particular, for all instances where a firm increases its span from one quarter to the next, the mean change in the worst case scenario is -4.7% whereas the mean change in the best case scenario is +2.6%, see Figure 1.2. In other words, the average increase in uncertainty thus consists of an outward expansion of span that is slightly asymmetric. The average decrease in span is a symmetric downward compression: conditional on a decrease in span, the worst case increases by 3.8% and the best case decreases by 3.4%.

The variation of subjective uncertainty in both time series and cross section is overwhelmingly firm-specific. Indeed, the R-squared of a regression of span on time fixed effects is 0.006, on time and industry fixed effects 0.030, and on time-industry fixed effects it is merely 0.084.<sup>13</sup> This fact does not imply that we cannot uncover patterns in the variation of span, as we will see below. It simply means that the cross sectional

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The variation in firms' forecast errors and absolute forecast errors is also overwhelmingly firmspecific. For absolute forecast errors, a regression on time fixed effects yields a R-squared of 0.014, a regression on time and industry effects a R-squared of 0.033, and a regression on time-industry fixed effects a R-squared of 0.12.

patterns are not driven by the industry, but rather by differences in firm perceptions within industries. Similarly, the time series patterns are driven by individual firm experiences as opposed to, say, the state of the business cycle.



Figure 1.3: Uncertainty and past sales growth

**Notes:** Every dot represents a firm-time observation. The solid line is the prediction from a nonparametric kernel regression. The dashed line depicts the predicted values from a piecewise linear regression of subjective uncertainty on past sales growth, with a break at zero. The thin vertical lines mark the interdecile range that extends from -15% to 15%, see Tab. 1.E.1.

# **1.3 Uncertainty and Change**

How does firm's subjective uncertainty relate to their experience? In this section, we first present a key stylized fact on subjective uncertainty and change. We then lay out a simple organizing framework that guides our subsequent analysis.

#### **1.3.1** Uncertainty and Past Growth: An Asymmetric V

Figure 1.3 displays a scatter plot of responses, with span at the beginning of quarter t along the vertical axis and sales growth realized between quarters t - 2 and t - 1

along the horizontal axis. The vertical gray lines indicate the interdecile range which reaches from -15% to +15% as reported in Table 1.E.1.

Firms that have experienced larger changes are more uncertain. In particular, the relationship between subjective uncertainty and past sales growth looks like the letter V with a minimum at zero. This is illustrated in the figure by two lines. The solid line is a nonparametric regression line.<sup>14</sup> The dashed line is from a simple piecewise linear regression with a breakpoint at zero.<sup>15</sup> The two lines are very similar, and they virtually coincide in the relevant range where most observations are located.

Firms perceive higher uncertainty after negative change than after positive change. Indeed, the slope of the left hand branch of the letter V is about twice as large in absolute value as the slope of the right hand branch. After a one percentage point lower negative sales growth, next quarter's span is half a percentage point wider. In contrast, after one percentage point higher positive sales growth, span is wider by slightly more then one quarter of a percentage point wider. The regression coefficients are reported in column (2) of Table 1.5, discussed further below.

The V-shaped regression line relates uncertainty to change; it stands in contrast to the simple linear relationship between uncertainty and growth often emphasized in the literature. At the same time, asymmetry implies that uncertainty and growth are in fact negatively correlated. Indeed, a linear regression returns a small but significantly negative coefficient of -.06, shown below in column (1) of Table 1.5. However, ignoring the V-shape drastically lowers explanatory power of past sales growth rate from 19% for a piecewise linear regression to 1% for the simple linear regression.

## **1.3.2 Uncertainty and Change: An Organizing Framework**

Our organizing framework relates a firm's subjective uncertainty to the distribution of growth measured by an econometrician. We use it in later sections to guide our detailed discussion of uncertainty and change in both the cross section and the time series. For simplicity, we assume that firms have probabilistic beliefs. As will become

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> We use a kernel-weighted local polynomial regression with a plugin estimator of the asymptotically optimal constant bandwidth as described in Fan and Gijbels (1996). We report the results of a polynomial of degree zero and Epanechnikov kernel. However, the shape of the regression line is robust – except at the outer margins – to choosing a higher order polynomial or different kernels.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> We have compared the in-sample fit of a piecewise linear regression model with breakpoint at zero with a simple quadratic model. Both Akaike and Bayesian information criterion favor the piecewise linear model.

clear, this feature is not essential for the points we make here, but it allows us to express those points in simple familiar notation.

Let  $g_{t+1}^i$  denote firm *i*'s sales growth from quarter *t* to quarter t + 1, that is, the growth rate that firm *i* forms beliefs about when it answers our survey questions at the beginning of quarter t + 1. Firm *i*'s information set at that point in time includes  $g_t^i$ , the last observed growth rate from quarter t - 1 to *t*. It may also include other signals that represent news in quarter *t*, which we collect in a vector  $z_t^i$ . We then use the vector  $s_t^i$  to represent all information from past growth rates or other signals that is relevant for forecasting the future dynamics of growth.

We represent firm *i*'s belief about its sales growth by the state space system

$$g_{t+1}^{i} = f\left(s_{t}^{i}, x^{i}\right) + \sigma\left(s_{t}^{i}, x^{i}\right)\varepsilon_{t+1}^{i}$$

$$(1.1)$$

$$s_t^i = S\left(s_{t-1}^i, g_t^i, z_t^i; x^i\right)$$
 (1.2)

where  $x^i$  is a vector of fixed firm characteristics and  $\varepsilon_t^i$  is an error that has mean zero and variance one under the firms' subjective belief. The observation equation allows firm *i*'s forecast  $f(s_t^i, x^i)$  to depend on the state as well as its fixed characteristics. The state is updated every period to incorporate new information in  $g_t^i$  and  $z_t^i$  according to the function *S*.

When firm *i* answers our survey questions at the beginning of quarter t + 1, it provides its forecast  $f(s_t^i, x^i)$  as well as best and worst case scenarios. We also observe the subsequent realization  $g_{t+1}^i$  and hence the firm's subjective forecast error. We further identify span, the difference between firm *i*'s best and worst case scenarios, with firm *i*'s subjective conditional volatility  $\sigma(s_t^i, x^i)$ . This connection is exact if firm *i* reports quantiles as scenarios and appropriate distributional assumptions are in place. More generally, we expect firm *i*'s answer to the survey question to reflect some measure of dispersion in its forecast error, so  $\sigma$  serves as a concrete stand-in.

#### Examples

The state space system (1.1)-(1.2) nests many models used to describe firms' subjective uncertainty in economic models. As a simple example, consider the case of iid growth together with an orthogonal uncertainty shock:

$$g_{t+1}^i = f + \sigma_t^i \varepsilon_{t+1}^i \tag{1.3}$$

$$\sigma_t^i = S\left(\sigma_{t-1}^i, z_t^i\right) \tag{1.4}$$

Here the only relevant state is stochastic volatility  $\sigma_t^i$ . Rational expectations models with uncertainty shocks often assume that  $\sigma_t^i$  is correlated across firms and high in recessions, which helps generate observed dispersion in firm growth rates in bad times.

The system (1.1)-(1.2) also nests many popular learning rules. Examples include Bayesian models where firms track some latent state such as a regime, or constant gains learning where firms recursively estimate parameters of the one step ahead predictive distribution while downweighting past observations. The common denominator of all these setups is that the state vector contains statistics of the empirical distribution that are relevant for predicting the future dynamics of growth. A natural property in many settings is that high growth  $g_t^i$  increases the forecast f and that a large absolute value of the forecast error increases subjective uncertainty  $\sigma$ .

#### Comparing beliefs and the true data generating process

We would like to distinguish firms' subjective uncertainty from actual volatility, as reflected in the size of innovations measured by an econometrician. We thus consider a change of measure from the firm's belief to the "econometrician's belief", that is, the probability measure that characterizes the true data generating process. We assume that under the econometrician's belief the distribution of growth rates has the alternative representation

$$g_{t+1}^{i} = f\left(s_{t}^{i}, x^{i}\right) + b^{i}\left(s_{t}^{i}, x^{i}\right) + \hat{\sigma}\left(s_{t}, x^{i}\right)\hat{\varepsilon}_{t+1}^{i}$$
(1.5)

$$s_t^i = \hat{S}\left(s_{t-1}^i, g_t^i, z_t^i\right) \tag{1.6}$$

where again the error has mean zero and variance one, now under the econometrician's belief.

The new observation equation allows for two key differences between firms' belief and the true data generating process. First, firms might have biased forecasts, represented by the function *b*. Second, the size of the typical innovation  $\hat{\sigma}$  might be different from firms' subjective uncertainty captured by  $\sigma$ . Both differences may vary either in the cross section with firms' fixed characteristics  $x^i$  or over time with the information set captured by  $s_t^i$ . In the special case of rational expectations, there is no bias (b = 0) and subjective uncertainty mirrors actual volatility, that is,  $\sigma = \hat{\sigma}$ .

# **1.4** Uncertainty and Change in the Cross Section

In this section, we ask what type of firms perceive more subjective uncertainty *on average*. We thus compute, for each firm, its average span, that is, the time series mean of all observations of span for the firm. We then regress average span on a number of firm level characteristics. In terms of the framework of Section 1.3.2, we thus characterize the dependence of subjective uncertainty  $\sigma$  on fixed characteristics  $x^i$ , assuming that time averaging removes the effects of information  $s_t^i$ .

#### 1.4.1 Change in Firms' Environment

We define two variables that measure the medium term dynamics in a firm's environment, based on its realized sales growth rates (that is, answers to part 1). We refer to a firm's sample average sales growth as its *trend*.<sup>16</sup> Moreover, the *turbulence* experienced by a firm is measured by the sample standard deviation of its sales growth rates. We emphasize that turbulence differs from span for two reasons: First, it is purely statistical as it is based on realized growth rates. Second, it is an unconditional average over three years, whereas span measures conditional uncertainty one quarter ahead.

To tractably account for nonlinear effects of firm characteristics on average span, we code the firm characteristics as dummies. In particular, we use our turbulence dummies that indicate quartiles of the distribution of firm level standard deviations in Table 1.E.2, with the lowest quartile as the baseline. We proceed similarly for trend, However, since the middle two quartiles for trend turn out to be very similar, we introduce dummies only for a low trend (bottom 25%) as well as a high trend (top 25%), treating the middle group as the baseline.

Finally, we divide firms into four size categories, with size measured as average employment over our sample. Here we follow the German Statistical Office in their definition of tiny, small, medium sized, and large firms; lower bounds for the latter three

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> We verify with the help of the general ifo Business Survey that growing firms tended to have good business situations for several years before the start of our sample in 2013:Q2; and analogously for shrinking firms and bad business situations. Specifically, we compute the firms' average subjective state of business assessments, elicited on a scale between 0 and 100, from January 2010 to July 2016 (monthly frequency). 52% of the firms on a good sales growth trend were, on average since 2010, also in the best quartile of the state of business distribution across firms. Of the firms with a normal sales growth trend, 55% were in the second or third quartile of the state of business distribution across firms, and of the firms in the lowest quartile, 39% were also in the lowest quartile of the state of business distribution across firms.

groups are at 10, 50, and 250 employees, respectively. We work with three dummies, with tiny firms as the baseline.

Figure 1.4 provides a scatter plot of trend and turbulence, defined above as the firm level mean and standard deviation of sales growth, respectively. Every dot represents a firm, and the color of the dot indicates firm size, as measured by the number of employees. Size increases from light blue to pink according to the color bar provided on the right hand side of the figure.

The main takeaway from Figure 1.4 is that while trend and turbulence vary substantially – as Table 1.E.2 also shows –, they are not particularly correlated. Firms that grow or shrink along strong trends need not typically experience large shocks and vice versa. Moreover, the correlation of either environment variable with size is also quite weak. While the very largest firms (identified by bright pink dots) do tend to cluster at the bottom center where trend is small and turbulence is low, we observe firms of all sizes spread out over the plane.





**Notes:** Every dot represents a firm identified by its trend (firm level mean sales growth) and turbulence (standard deviation of mean sales growth). Color indicates number of employees according to color bar on right hand side.

## 1.4.2 Subjective Uncertainty, Size, Trend, and Turbulence

Table 1.3 presents regression results. The first three columns ask how much can be explained by each fixed characteristic – size, trend and turbulence – separately. All three characteristics show a statistically and economically strong association with span. Column (1) says that larger firms perceive less uncertainty. Average span in the entire population of firms is about 12 percentage points, and it falls monotonically from 18 percentage points for very small firms (the omitted category) to 10 percentage points for large firms.

Columns (2) and (3) show that cross sectional variation in trend and turbulence – each by itself – is enough to induce a V-shaped relationship between growth and uncertainty, as observed in the pooled scatter plot. On the one hand, trend and span are directly related by an asymmetric V: quickly shrinking or growing firms report higher average spans than firms with normal growth, by 2 and 6 percentage points, respectively. On the other hand, more turbulent firms also report monotonically higher spans. Since more turbulent firms' growth rate realizations fall more into the tails, this effect also generates a V pattern.

Each of the three firm characteristics has independent effects on the average subjective uncertainty of firms. This is established in column (4) where we consider all three in the same regression. The positive turbulence gradient is qualitatively and quantitatively unchanged compared to the results in column (3). For trend, the interaction with other characteristics is more subtle. In particular, once size and turbulence are controlled for, growing firms no longer perceive higher uncertainty. At the same time, the negative branch of the V remains large and statistically significant.

While trend and turbulence are correlated with size, controlling for them does not remove an independent role for size in explaining subjective uncertainty. Indeed, comparing columns (1) and (4), the negative size gradient is quantitatively reduced, but remains in place qualitatively. Column (5) further shows that our three firm characteristics are not simply reflective of industry characteristics: including industry dummies neither changes significantly the R-squared of compared to column (4) nor the coefficient estimates.

characteristics
r firm
errors by
forecast (
/ and i
uncertainty
ective
: Subj
ŝ
5
Tabl

	(1)	(6)	(3)	(4)	(2)	(9)	6
Dependent variable:	avg. span	avg. span	avg. span	avg. span	avg. span	avg. abs. FE	avg. FE
Dummy small firms	-3.267*			-1.610	-1.936	1.217	4.147
Dummy medium sized firms	(1.923) -6.402***			(1.655) -3.711**	(1.729) -4.308***	(2.255) -0.165	(2.800) 1.557
	(1.794)			(1.550)	(1.623)	(2.067)	(2.508)
Dummy large firms	-8.834*** (1 827)			-5.051***	-5.705*** (1 716)	-0.568	3.036
Dummy 'bad' sales growth trend	(770'1)	$5.940^{***}$		(1.000) 3.233***	(1./ 10) 3.209***	(2.663***	-5.322***
Dummy 'ocod' sales orowth trend		(0.936) 2 177***		(0.821) 0.444	(0.850) 0.190	(0.934) 2 489**	(1.221) 5 358***
		(0.800)		(0.730)	(0.739)	(1.126)	(1.364)
Dummy medium low turbulence		~	2.287***	$1.731^{***}$	$1.751^{***}$	$2.816^{***}$	-0.0552
			(0.623)	(0.613)	(0.664)	(0.515)	(0.733)
Dummy medium high turbulence			$6.028^{***}$	$5.052^{***}$	$4.985^{***}$	$5.259^{***}$	0.0525
			(0.725)	(0.701)	(0.723)	(0.561)	(0.891)
Dummy high turbulence			$11.28^{***}$	$9.625^{***}$	$9.216^{***}$	$13.33^{***}$	0.0624
			(0.892)	(0.865)	(0.898)	(1.393)	(1.640)
Constant	$18.16^{***}$	$10.32^{***}$	7.456***	$10.61^{***}$	$10.96^{***}$	2.734	-2.741
	(1.731)	(0.456)	(0.366)	(1.567)	(1.790)	(2.082)	(2.498)
Sector dummies					YES		
No. of observations	400	400	400	400	400	389	389
No. of firms	400	400	400	400	400	389	389
No. of parameters (excl. intercept)	Ю	2	С	8	21	8	8
R-squared	0.10	0.11	0.34	0.41	0.43	0.35	0.14
<b>Notes:</b> Results from pooled OLS regrestime-series average of the firm-level absc Size dummies are defined based on the fi	sions. avg. s olute forecast irm-level aver	pan denotes t error, and ave age number c	he time-serie er. FE denotes of employees.	s average of the time-seri Standard err	firm-level spa es average of ors in parenth	an, avg. abs. FE the firm-level fc neses, clustered b	denotes the recast error. y firm; * p <
0.10, ** p < 0.05, *** p < 0.01.							

It is also interesting to consider firm age as a cross-sectional determinant of average subjective uncertainty. While there is no age variable available in ifo's Business Tendency Survey, in September 2018 a special survey question asked firms for their founding year. 274 of the firms in our baseline sample responded to this question. For those, we can construct an age variable. To account for non-linear effects, we construct quartile dummies for firm age. We regress the average span on these age dummies and additionally include size, trend, and turbulence dummies. None of the coefficients on the age dummies in this regression is statistically significant to the 10%-level. We conclude that firm age cannot explain a firms' average subjective uncertainty.

#### 1.4.3 Subjective Uncertainty, Volatility, and Bias in the Cross Section

How does firms' perceived uncertainty relate to the size of the fluctuations they experience? Column (6) of Table 1.3 reports a regression of firms' average volatility on fixed characteristics. Since span reflects perceived uncertainty *conditional* on information at the beginning of the quarter, column (7) adds an analogous regression for the average absolute value of the firm's subjective forecast error, a measure of the size of innovations experienced by the firm. The results in the two columns are quite similar.

Along all three cross sectional dimensions we consider, subjective uncertainty is significantly different from the size of shocks experienced by the typical firm. First, for both volatility and the absolute forecast error, there is no independent effect of size once we control for trend and turbulence. It is true that unconditionally larger firms experience smaller shocks. However, this relationship is entirely explained by their trend and turbulence. We conclude that the additional effect of size on span is a subjective phenomenon: large firms' perceive lower uncertainty even if they face the same size of shocks as smaller firms.

A second special feature of subjective uncertainty is its asymmetric dependence on trend. While it is true that growing and shrinking firms also experience larger shocks, this effect is symmetric. For the same shocks, shrinking firms thus perceive higher subjective uncertainty. A final property concerns the turbulence gradient. While more turbulent firms – who experience larger shocks by construction – also perceive higher uncertainty, they are relatively much less uncertain than low turbulence firms.

As discussed in Section 1.3.2, forecast errors experienced by firms may in part reflect systematic bias in firms' forecasts. Column (7) of Table 1.3 shows a regression of the mean forecast error on characteristics. For the size and turbulence categories, the co-efficients on the dummies are not statistically significant. Consistent with this result,

group means (not reported) are zero if firms are sorted into size or turbulence categories.

At the same time, there is strong evidence that firms on trends make biased forecasts. In particular, growing firms make large positive forecast errors, defined above as realized growth less forecast. In other words, growing firms are regularly positively surprised; their forecasts are biased towards zero. Analogously, shrinking firms make large negative forecast errors: again the forecast is biased towards zero – firms do not sufficiently anticipate the trend they are on.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Dependent variable:	std. span	std. span	std. span	std. span
Dummy small firms	-3.053**			-2.084*
	(1.485)			(1.254)
Dummy medium sized firms	-4.252***			-2.655**
-	(1.470)			(1.292)
Dummy large firms	-5.094***			-2.798**
	(1.481)			(1.294)
Dummy 'bad' sales growth trend		3.603***		2.164***
		(0.802)		(0.684)
Dummy 'good' sales growth trend		1.672***		$0.771^{*}$
		(0.475)		(0.450)
Dummy medium low turbulence			$1.254^{***}$	$1.000^{**}$
			(0.384)	(0.387)
Dummy medium high turbulence			2.907***	2.369***
			(0.321)	(0.353)
Dummy high turbulence			6.364***	5.463***
			(0.797)	(0.717)
Constant	9.767***	4.543***	3.237***	5.337***
	(1.415)	(0.208)	(0.184)	(1.251)
No. of observations	397	397	397	397
No. of firms	397	397	397	397
No. of parameters (excl. intercept)	3	2	3	8
R-squared	0.052	0.086	0.22	0.27

Table 1.4: Volatility of subjective uncertainty by firm characteristics

**Notes:** Results from pooled OLS regressions. std. span denotes the time-series standard deviation of firm-level span. Standard errors in parentheses, clustered by firm; \* p < 0.10, \*\* p < 0.05, \*\*\* p < 0.01. Size dummies are defined based on the firm-level average number of employees.

#### 1.4.4 Heteroscedasticity and Firm Charateristics

In the previous section, we have shown that there is substantial heteroscedasticity in firms' subjective uncertainty along observable firm characteristics: size, trend growth,

and turbulence, the latter two being measures of the intensity of change in the firm's environment. We have also shown that heteroscedasticity in firms' subjective uncertainty is substantially different from that in conditional and unconditional volatility. In this section, we argue that subjective heteroscedasticity itself is related to firms' characteristics in very similar ways as subjective uncertainty.

For example, column (1) of Table 1.4 shows that smaller firms are more different in their subjective uncertainty. Column (2) finds that firms on a substantial positive or negative trend have higher dispersion in average subjective uncertainty; and column (3) shows a positive correlation between sample volatility and dispersion in subjective uncertainty: firms in the most volatile environments are also the most different in terms of their average perceived uncertainty. These results show that the structure of uncertainty in the cross section of firms is at least somewhat predictable but also complex, which requires a substantial amount of heterogeneity to be modeled in any nonlinear model environment.

# **1.5** Uncertainty and Change Over Time

We have seen in the previous section that the V-shaped relationship between growth and uncertainty in Figure 1.3 in part reflects fixed differences between firms. We now turn to time series variation: we ask how much of a V remains once we control for fixed characteristics. In terms of the organizing framework of Section 1.3.2, we ask whether variation of span  $\sigma$  with firms' information  $s_t^i$  also contributes to the V-shape, via the correlation of  $s_t^i$  with past growth.

Formally, let  $\Delta y_{i,t-1}$  denote firm i's sales growth rate between quarters t - 2 and t - 1. All our specifications take the form

$$span_{it} = \beta^{-} \Delta y_{i,t-1}^{-} + \beta^{+} \Delta y_{i,t-1}^{+} + \gamma' x_{i} + \epsilon_{it},$$

where  $\Delta y_{i,t-1}^- = \Delta y_{i,t-1}I(\Delta y_{i,t-1}<0)$ ,  $\Delta y_{i,t-1}^+ = \Delta y_{i,t-1}I(\Delta y_{i,t-1} \ge 0)$ ,  $I(\cdot)$  is the indicator function, and  $x_i$  is a vector of fixed firm characteristics that do not depend on time.

We include the three characteristics studied in the previous section: trend, turbulence and size. Trend and turbulence are again coded as dummies. As the unit of observation is now a firm quarter pair, we measure the size of the firm as the number of employees at the end of the previous calendar year. We then form three size dummies: small firms have 10-50 employees, medium sized firms 51-250 employees and large firms more than 250 employees. The baseline "tiny" firm has fewer than 10 employees. While size therefore does vary over time, change is so slow such that the size dummies are essentially time-invariant. We observe only 56 jumps from one size category to another in our sample.

#### 1.5.1 Time Variation in Subjective Uncertainty and Growth

Table 1.5 reports regression results. As a benchmark, we start in columns (1) and (2) with a simple linear regression and a piecewise linear regression with a break at zero, respectively. The two columns provide formal counterparts to the scatter plot Figure 1.3. The next four columns augment the piecewise linear specification with dummies for fixed characteristics, first adding size, trend and turbulence separately, and then in column (6) adding all characteristics together.

The main result from Table 1.5 is that a strongly significant asymmetric V remains even if we control for fixed characteristics. Indeed, the coefficients on both negative and positive past sales growth are statistically significant in all specifications.<sup>17</sup> Column (6) says that, holding fixed all characteristics, after one percent lower negative sales growth, next quarter's span is 30 basis points wider. Similarly, a one percent higher positive sales growth is followed by a 18 bp wider span. To put these numbers in perspective, note that the volatility of sales growth for the average firm is about 11 percentage points, whereas the volatility of span for the average firm is about 6. Responses to past growth thus account for a considerable part of time variation in subjective uncertainty.

The impact of firm characteristics is also significant. First, introducing firm characteristics dummies improves the fit of the regression: for example, the R-squared improves from 0.19 in column (2) to 0.29 in column (6). Coefficients on the dummies reproduce the cross sectional effects discussed in the previous section. For example, firms with more than 250 employees are more than 6 percentage points less uncertain on average than very small firms. Firms that experience more than median turbulence are at least 4.5 percentage points more uncertain than those with low turbulence. The impact of trend is asymmetric: firms on a bad trend are more than 2 percentage points more uncertain than those on a normal trend, whereas a good trend has no significant effect on span.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Appendix 1.G shows that this result is robust to re-estimating the regression using two alternative sample definitions.

	•		•	-	D			
Dependent variable: span between best and worst case sales growth rate for quarter $t$	(1) POLS	(2) POLS	(3) POLS	(4) POLS	(5) POLS	(9) POLS	(7) FE	(8) POLS
Sales growth rate in quarter $t - 1$	-0.0598** (0.0259)							
Negative sales growth rate in quarter $t-1$		-0.498*** (0.0612)	-0.470*** (0.0602)	-0.436*** (0.0626)	-0.351*** (0.0661)	-0.306*** (0.0675)	-0.272*** (0.0786)	-0.304*** (0.0686)
Positive sales growth rate in quarter $t-1$		0.279***	0.266***	0.280***	0.166***	0.180***	0.159***	0.173***
Dummy small firms		(6700.0)	-4.480*	(1760.0)	(0000.0)	-3.959*	(61CU.U)	-3.508*
Dummy medium sized firms			(2.560) -6.677***			(2.178) -5.452**		(1.897) -5.157***
Dummy large firms			(2.516) -7.858***			(2.141) -6.295***		(1.972) -5.970***
			(2.570)			(2.170)		(2.014)
Dummy 'bad' sales growth trend				$3.711^{***}$ (0.951)		2.248*** (0.856)		$2.300^{***}$ (0.858)
Dummy 'good' sales growth trend				0.410		-0.434		-0.618
Dummy medium low turbulence				(0.658)	1.699***	(0.645) $1.388^{**}$		(0.667) 1.340**
					(0.578)	(0.591)		(0.649)
Dummy medium high turbulence					5.157***	$4.560^{***}$		4.572***
Dummy high turbulence					(0.752)7.702***	(0.764) $6.748^{***}$		(0.772) $6.525^{***}$
5					(1.035)	(696.0)		(0.979)
Intercept	12.22 <sup>***</sup> (0.392)	8.428*** (0.435)	14.76*** (2.532)	7.695*** (0.435)	$6.206^{***}$ (0.425)	11.37*** (2.154)	$10.06^{***}$ (0.480)	$9.774^{***}$ (3.014)
Time-sector dummies								YES
No. of observations	2762	2762	2762	2762	2762	2762	2762	2762
No. of firms	400	400	400	400	400	400	400	400
No. of parameters (excl. intercept)	-	7	ŋ	4	IJ	10	401	199
R-squared	0.0079	0.19	0.22	0.21	0.26	0.29	0.57	0.34
<b>Notes:</b> Results from pooled OLS (POLS) and fibreak at zero in columns 2 to 8, controlling for $< 0.05$ , *** $p < 0.01$ .	ixed effect () fixed firm o	FE) regressio characteristi	ons. Piecew cs. Standar	ise linear re d errors in p	gressions of arentheses,	span on pa clustered b	st sales grov y firm. * p •	vth with a < 0.10, ** p

Table 1.5: Subjective uncertainty and past sales growth

# CHAPTER 1. UNCERTAINTY AND CHANGE

It is natural to conjecture that fixed characteristics other than size, trend and turbulence matter for subjective uncertainty. We thus rerun the regression in column (7) with firm fixed effects. As expected, we find a large increase in  $R^2$ . Remarkably, however, there is virtually no change in the coefficients on past growth. We can thus conclude that size, trend and turbulence dummies exhaustively control for the impact of firm characteristics on the uncertainty-growth relationship.

In column (8), we include time-sector dummies. This neither alters our coefficient estimates nor markedly improves the fit of the regression. This finding is consistent with the fact that variation in subjective uncertainty is largely firm-specific. We conclude that our results are neither driven by industry-composition effects, industry-specific or aggregate trends and cycles.

# **1.5.2** Comparing Cross Section and Time Series Variation in Subjective Uncertainty

The coefficients on positive and negative growth in column (6) in Table 1.5 effectively isolate large and asymmetric *time series* responses of firms to past growth. Perhaps interestingly, the asymmetric V-shaped response induced by time series responses is rather similar to that induced purely by cross sectional heterogeneity. To see this, consider Figure 1.5, where we show the fitted line from before and several regression lines to compare the two forces.

As a benchmark, the solid blue line is the nonparametric regression line fit to the data, and the dotted red line is the fitted line from the regression model in column (2) of Table 1.5, both already shown in Figure 1.3. The dashed yellow and the dash-dotted green lines are fit not to the data, but to clouds of predicted values from two parametric regressions.<sup>18</sup> In particular, the dashed yellow line is fit through the predicted values from the regression model in column (6) of Table 1.5. The dash-dotted green line is fit through the predicted values from a model with *only* the three classes of dummies, thus reflecting only cross sectional variation.

The main takeaway from Figure 1.5 is that all lines lie effectively on top of each other, especially within the interdecile range. In other words, time series and cross sectional variation induces the same V-shape, albeit through very different mechanisms. For the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> The collection of precise values comprise a cloud rather than, say, a line because growth is not the only regressor; there are also fixed firm characteristics. For example, for two firms that experienced the same sales growth rate in the previous quarter, the model in column (6) of Table 1.5 will predict different spans depending on the firms' size, trend, and turbulence.

time series response, the V follows directly from the difference in coefficients on positive and negative growth. For the cross section, the effect is more subtle and comes from the comovement of span and volatility documented in Table 1.3: firms with higher span also see higher absolute values of their growth rates (due to differences in size, trend or turbulence).<sup>19</sup>





**Notes:** Besides a linear fitted line with break at zero that corresponds to column (2) of Table 1.5 (dotted red line), the chart presents three non-parametric regression lines. Respectively, the nonparametric regression lines are based on the full sample (solid blue line), the cloud of predicted values of column (6) of Table 1.5 (dashed yellow line), and the cloud of predicted values from a model with size, trend, turbulence, and time-sector dummies as regressors (dash-dotted green line). The thin vertical lines mark the interdecile range that extends from -15% to 15%, see Table 1.E.1.

#### 1.5.3 Subjective Uncertainty and Volatility in the Time Series

Section 1.4.4 showed that subjective uncertainty and volatility vary differently in the cross section of firms. How do subjective and statistical uncertainty compare in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> In Appendix 1.F we also show that the V-shaped relationship between sales growth and subjective uncertainty holds separately, and in a quantitatively similar manner, for all firm-level subgroups: the four firm size groups, the four turbulence groups, and the three growth trend groups.

within-firm time series dimension? Table 1.6 compares our baseline regression of span on past growth and fixed characteristics – column (1) here reproduces column (6) of Table 1.5 – to an analogous regression for the absolute value of the firm's subjective forecast error, shown in column (2).

Table 1.6	: Relation	of subjective	uncertainty	and the	absolute	forecast	error	to pas	t
	sales gro	wth, firm chai	racteristics, a	nd addit	tional cont	trols			

$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
Negative sales growth rate in quarter $t - 1$ -0.306*** -0.307***-0.252*** -0.252***-0.347*** -0.347***-0.351*** -0.351***-0.316*** (0.0777)Positive sales growth rate in quarter $t - 1$ 0.180*** (0.0314)0.0729 (0.0529)0.0780)(0.0689)(0.0861)(0.0777) (0.0351)Dummy small firms-3.959* (2.178)-0.632 (1.545)-3.746** (1.843)0.396 (1.511)-3.043 (2.062)-0.631 (1.626)Dummy medium sized firms-5.452** (2.171)-1.672 (1.545)-5.821*** (1.843)-0.983 (1.511)-5.788*** (2.062)-1.303 (2.171)Dummy large firms-6.295*** (2.170)-1.810 (1.598)-6.619*** (1.956)-1.298 (1.558)-6.428*** (2.171)-1.505 (1.779)Dummy 'bad' sales growth trend2.248*** (0.856)1.468** (0.826)0.9421)(0.911) (0.923)Dummy medium low turbulence1.388** (0.645)1.458** (0.645)1.458** (0.663)0.4911) (0.729)(0.942)Dummy medium high turbulence4.560*** (0.591)1.6633 (0.663)(0.4911) (0.729)(0.501)Dummy high turbulence6.748*** (0.969)9.0974 (0.973)(0.994) (1.124)(1.038) (1.038)Expected sales growth rate for quarter t0.969 (0.963)(0.974) (0.974)(0.994) (1.124)(1.038) (0.0480)
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Positive sales growth rate in quarter $t - 1$ $0.180^{***}$ $0.123^{**}$ $0.171^{***}$ $0.150^{***}$ $0.229^{***}$ $0.138^{***}$ Dummy small firms $-3.959^*$ $0.0323$ $(0.0506)$ $(0.0351)$ $(0.0483)$ Dummy medium sized firms $-3.959^*$ $-0.632$ $-3.746^{**}$ $0.396$ $-3.043$ $-0.631$ Dummy medium sized firms $-5.452^{**}$ $-1.672$ $-5.821^{***}$ $-0.983$ $-5.788^{***}$ $-1.303$ Dummy large firms $-6.295^{***}$ $-1.672$ $-5.821^{***}$ $-1.298$ $-6.428^{***}$ $-1.505$ Dummy 'bad' sales growth trend $2.248^{***}$ $1.340^*$ $1.688^{**}$ $0.589$ $0.891$ $0.731$ Dummy 'good' sales growth trend $-0.434$ $1.417^*$ $-0.440$ $1.722^*$ $-1.284$ $1.329$ Dummy medium low turbulence $1.388^{**}$ $1.802^{***}$ $1.458^{**}$ $1.837^{***}$ $0.427$ $1.811^{***}$ Dummy high turbulence $6.748^{***}$ $9.161^{***}$ $4.490^{***}$ $4.069^{***}$ $3.722^{***}$ $3.694^{***}$ Dummy high turbulence $6.748^{***}$ $9.161^{***}$ $5.835^{***}$ $8.236^{***}$ $4.098^{***}$ $7.429^{***}$ Dummy high turbulence $6.748^{***}$ $9.161^{***}$ $5.835^{***}$ $8.236^{***}$ $4.098^{***}$ $7.429^{***}$ Dummy high turbulence $6.748^{***}$ $9.161^{***}$ $5.835^{***}$ $8.26^{***}$ $7.429^{***}$ Dummy high turbulence $6.748^{***}$ $9.161^{***}$ $5.835^{***}$ $8.236$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Dummy small firms $-3.959^{*}$ $-0.632$ $-3.746^{**}$ $0.396$ $-3.043$ $-0.631$ Dummy medium sized firms $(2.178)$ $(1.545)$ $(1.843)$ $(1.511)$ $(2.062)$ $(1.626)$ Dummy medium sized firms $-5.452^{**}$ $-1.672$ $-5.821^{***}$ $-0.983$ $-5.788^{***}$ $-1.303$ Dummy large firms $(2.141)$ $(1.460)$ $(1.942)$ $(1.403)$ $(2.171)$ $(1.513)$ Dummy large firms $-6.295^{***}$ $-1.810$ $-6.619^{***}$ $-1.298$ $-6.428^{***}$ $-1.505$ $(2.170)$ $(1.598)$ $(1.956)$ $(1.558)$ $(2.171)$ $(1.779)$ Dummy 'bad' sales growth trend $2.248^{***}$ $1.340^{*}$ $1.688^{**}$ $0.589$ $0.891$ $0.731$ Dummy 'good' sales growth trend $-0.434$ $1.417^{*}$ $-0.440$ $1.722^{*}$ $-1.284$ $1.329$ Dummy medium low turbulence $1.388^{**}$ $1.802^{***}$ $1.458^{**}$ $1.837^{***}$ $0.427$ $1.811^{***}$ Dummy medium high turbulence $4.560^{***}$ $4.160^{***}$ $4.490^{***}$ $4.069^{***}$ $3.722^{***}$ $3.694^{***}$ Dummy high turbulence $6.748^{***}$ $9.161^{***}$ $5.835^{***}$ $8.236^{***}$ $4.098^{***}$ $7.429^{***}$ Dummy high turbulence $6.748^{***}$ $9.161^{***}$ $5.835^{***}$ $8.236^{***}$ $4.098^{***}$ $7.429^{***}$ Dummy high turbulence $6.748^{***}$ $9.161^{***}$ $5.835^{***}$ $8.236^{***}$ $4.098^{***}$ $7.429^{***}$ <
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Dummy medium sized firms $-5.452^{**}$ $-1.6/2$ $-5.821^{***}$ $-0.983$ $-5.788^{***}$ $-1.303$ $(2.141)$ $(1.460)$ $(1.942)$ $(1.403)$ $(2.171)$ $(1.513)$ Dummy large firms $-6.295^{***}$ $-1.810$ $-6.619^{***}$ $-1.298$ $-6.428^{***}$ $-1.505$ $(2.170)$ $(1.598)$ $(1.956)$ $(1.558)$ $(2.171)$ $(1.779)$ Dummy 'bad' sales growth trend $2.248^{***}$ $1.340^{*}$ $1.688^{**}$ $0.589$ $0.891$ $0.731$ Dummy 'good' sales growth trend $-0.434$ $1.417^{*}$ $-0.440$ $1.722^{*}$ $-1.284$ $1.329$ Dummy medium low turbulence $1.388^{**}$ $1.802^{***}$ $1.458^{**}$ $1.837^{***}$ $0.427$ $1.811^{***}$ Dummy medium high turbulence $4.560^{***}$ $4.160^{***}$ $4.490^{***}$ $4.069^{***}$ $3.722^{***}$ $3.694^{***}$ Dummy high turbulence $6.748^{***}$ $9.161^{***}$ $5.835^{***}$ $8.236^{***}$ $4.098^{***}$ $7.429^{***}$ Expected sales growth rate for quarter t $0.969$ $(0.973)$ $(0.974)$ $(0.994)$ $(1.124)$ $(1.038)$ Expected sales growth rate for quarter t $0.0769^{**}$ $0.0125$ $0.0849^{**}$ $0.0276$ $(0.0323)$ $(0.0517)$ $(0.0480)$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Dummy large firms-6.295***-1.810-6.619***-1.298-6.428***-1.505 $(2.170)$ $(1.598)$ $(1.956)$ $(1.558)$ $(2.171)$ $(1.779)$ Dummy 'bad' sales growth trend $2.248^{***}$ $1.340^{*}$ $1.688^{**}$ $0.589$ $0.891$ $0.731$ $(0.856)$ $(0.811)$ $(0.854)$ $(0.942)$ $(0.911)$ $(0.923)$ Dummy 'good' sales growth trend $-0.434$ $1.417^{*}$ $-0.440$ $1.722^{*}$ $-1.284$ $1.329$ Dummy medium low turbulence $1.388^{**}$ $1.802^{***}$ $1.458^{**}$ $1.837^{***}$ $0.427$ $1.811^{***}$ Dummy medium high turbulence $4.560^{***}$ $4.160^{***}$ $4.490^{***}$ $4.069^{***}$ $3.722^{***}$ $3.694^{***}$ Dummy high turbulence $6.748^{***}$ $9.161^{***}$ $5.835^{***}$ $8.236^{***}$ $4.098^{***}$ $7.429^{***}$ Expected sales growth rate for quarter t $0.969$ $(0.973)$ $(0.974)$ $(0.994)$ $(1.124)$ $(1.038)$ Expected sales growth rate for quarter t $0.0769^{**}$ $0.0125$ $0.0849^{**}$ $0.0276$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Dummy 'bad' sales growth trend $2.248^{***}$ $1.340^{*}$ $1.688^{**}$ $0.589$ $0.891$ $0.731$ $(0.856)$ $(0.811)$ $(0.854)$ $(0.942)$ $(0.911)$ $(0.923)$ Dummy 'good' sales growth trend $-0.434$ $1.417^{*}$ $-0.440$ $1.722^{*}$ $-1.284$ $1.329$ $(0.645)$ $(0.826)$ $(0.680)$ $(0.957)$ $(0.817)$ $(0.942)$ Dummy medium low turbulence $1.388^{**}$ $1.802^{***}$ $1.458^{**}$ $1.837^{***}$ $0.427$ $1.811^{***}$ Dummy medium high turbulence $4.560^{***}$ $4.160^{***}$ $4.490^{***}$ $4.069^{***}$ $3.722^{***}$ $3.694^{***}$ Dummy high turbulence $6.748^{***}$ $9.161^{***}$ $5.835^{***}$ $8.236^{***}$ $4.098^{***}$ $7.429^{***}$ Dummy high turbulence $6.748^{***}$ $9.161^{***}$ $5.835^{***}$ $8.236^{***}$ $4.098^{***}$ $7.429^{***}$ Correct sales growth rate for quarter t $0.969$ $(0.953)$ $(0.974)$ $(0.994)$ $(1.124)$ $(1.038)$ Expected sales growth rate for quarter t $0.0769^{**}$ $0.0125$ $0.0849^{**}$ $0.0276$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Dummy 'good' sales growth trend $-0.434$ $1.417^*$ $-0.440$ $1.722^*$ $-1.284$ $1.329$ $(0.645)$ $(0.645)$ $(0.680)$ $(0.957)$ $(0.817)$ $(0.942)$ Dummy medium low turbulence $1.388^{**}$ $1.802^{***}$ $1.458^{**}$ $1.837^{***}$ $0.427$ $1.811^{***}$ Dummy medium high turbulence $4.560^{***}$ $4.160^{***}$ $4.490^{***}$ $4.069^{***}$ $3.722^{***}$ $3.694^{***}$ Dummy high turbulence $6.748^{***}$ $9.161^{***}$ $5.835^{***}$ $8.236^{***}$ $4.098^{***}$ $7.429^{***}$ Dummy high turbulence $6.748^{***}$ $9.161^{***}$ $5.835^{***}$ $8.236^{***}$ $4.098^{***}$ $7.429^{***}$ Expected sales growth rate for quarter t $0.969$ $(0.953)$ $(0.974)$ $(0.994)$ $(1.124)$ $(1.038)$ Expected sales growth rate for quarter t $0.0769^{**}$ $0.0125$ $0.0849^{**}$ $0.0276$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Dummy medium low turbulence $1.388^{**}$ $1.802^{***}$ $1.458^{**}$ $1.837^{***}$ $0.427$ $1.811^{***}$ $(0.591)$ $(0.356)$ $(0.663)$ $(0.491)$ $(0.729)$ $(0.501)$ Dummy medium high turbulence $4.560^{***}$ $4.160^{***}$ $4.490^{***}$ $4.069^{***}$ $3.722^{***}$ $3.694^{***}$ Dummy high turbulence $6.748^{***}$ $9.161^{***}$ $5.835^{***}$ $8.236^{***}$ $4.098^{***}$ $7.429^{***}$ Expected sales growth rate for quarter t $0.969$ $(0.953)$ $(0.974)$ $(0.994)$ $(1.124)$ $(1.038)$ $0.0769^{**}$ $0.0125$ $0.0849^{**}$ $0.0276$ $(0.0323)$ $(0.0517)$ $(0.0480)$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Dummy medium high turbulence $4.560^{***}$ $4.160^{***}$ $4.490^{***}$ $4.069^{***}$ $3.722^{***}$ $3.694^{***}$ 0.764) $(0.764)$ $(0.472)$ $(0.765)$ $(0.505)$ $(0.917)$ $(0.616)$ Dummy high turbulence $6.748^{***}$ $9.161^{***}$ $5.835^{***}$ $8.236^{***}$ $4.098^{***}$ $7.429^{***}$ Expected sales growth rate for quarter t $(0.969)$ $(0.953)$ $(0.974)$ $(0.994)$ $(1.124)$ $(1.038)$ $0.0769^{**}$ $0.0125$ $0.0849^{**}$ $0.0276$ $(0.0323)$ $(0.0517)$ $(0.0387)$ $(0.0480)$
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Dummy high turbulence $6.748^{***}$ $9.161^{***}$ $5.835^{***}$ $8.236^{***}$ $4.098^{***}$ $7.429^{***}$ Expected sales growth rate for quarter t       (0.969)       (0.953)       (0.974)       (0.994)       (1.124)       (1.038)         0.0769^{**}       0.0125       0.0849^{**}       0.0276         (0.0323)       (0.0517)       (0.0387)       (0.0480)
Expected sales growth rate for quarter $t$ $(0.969)$ $(0.953)$ $(0.974)$ $(0.994)$ $(1.124)$ $(1.038)$ $0.0769^{**}$ $0.0125$ $0.0849^{**}$ $0.0276$ $(0.0323)$ $(0.0517)$ $(0.0387)$ $(0.0480)$
Expected sales growth rate for quarter $t$ $0.0769^{-6}$ $0.0125$ $0.0849^{-6}$ $0.0276$ $(0.0323)$ $(0.0517)$ $(0.0387)$ $(0.0480)$
(0.0323) $(0.0517)$ $(0.0387)$ $(0.0480)$
State of business (VAS) at the time of the survey $-0.0591^{***}$ $0.00362 -0.0428^{**}$ $0.00865$
(0.0185) $(0.0254)$ $(0.0215)$ $(0.0266)$
Capacity utilization rate 0.00/16 0.0122 -0.0190 0.0189
(0.0265) $(0.0257)$ $(0.0256)$
Absolute forecast error in quarter t 0.05/4
(0.0556)
Span for quarter t 0.0/64
(0.0/26) 
Constant $11.3/1000 \times 3.822 \times 8.832 \times 2.444 \times 9.5/21 \times 5.006^{\circ}$
(2.154)  (1.484)  (7.002)  (5.952)  (4.097)  (2.917)
Other tim controls YES YES YES YES YES
Ime-sector dummies YES YES YES YES YES
No. of observations 2762 1664 2561 1570 1533 1533
No. of firms 400 389 378 368 360 360
No. of parameters (excl. intercept) 10 10 218 203 205 204
R-squared 0.29 0.25 0.37 0.37 0.44 0.37

**Notes:** Results from pooled OLS regressions. span is our measure of subjective uncertainty and firms' abs(FE) denotes firms' absolute forecast error. The expected sales growth rate for quarter t is the answer to question 2.b of the survey (see Section 1.2.2). Other firm controls include the capacity utilization rate and dummies for the state of business, orders, stock of inventory, production changes, demand changes, order changes, price changes, credit appraisal, capacity utilization, and constraints to production. See Appendix 1.H for a detailed description. Standard errors in parentheses, clustered by firm; \* p < 0.10, \*\* p < 0.05, \*\*\* p < 0.01.

Controlling for fixed characteristics, a firm that observes one percent worse negative growth in the previous quarter not only increases its span by 31 basis points, but also experiences, on average, a subjective forecast error that is 34 basis points higher in

absolute value. In contrast, one percent higher positive growth increases span by 18 bp and the absolute value of the forecast error by 12 bp. The asymmetric V that emerges in the time series of firms' uncertainty is thus also present in firms' experience of shocks.

The differences between subjective uncertainty and volatility observed in the cross section appear to be largely orthogonal to the time series dynamics of span and growth. Indeed, the regression coefficients in columns (1) and (2) of Table 1.6 display the same patterns as columns (4) and (6) of Table 1.3: large firms and very turbulent firms are less uncertain than one might expect given the size of the shocks they face, and the asymmetric relationship between trend growth and uncertainty is a subjective phenomenon.

## 1.5.4 Controlling for Firm Actions and Expectations

What mechanism is behind the within-firm time series relationship between uncertainty and growth? One possible explanation is that uncertainty shocks are reflected in firm actions and hence growth. In particular, it may be that we can simply extend recent models of uncertainty-driven recessions to firm dynamics. The key feature of such models is that the stochastic process driving uncertainty is orthogonal to innovations to growth conditional on uncertainty, as in example (1.3)-(1.4) above.

An alternative interpretation of the data invokes learning or signal extraction on the part of firms, another special case of our general model (1.1)-(1.2). Suppose firms view growth itself as a signal of future business conditions. Many models of belief updating imply that a more unusual realization should increase uncertainty. For a concrete example, consider a regime switching model: the state of business follows a finite state Markov chain, and growth is given by a regime-dependent mean plus iid noise. A more unusual growth rate observation will typically lead the firm to perceive more uncertainty about its current estimate of the regime.

The key difference between the two candidate mechanism is the role of firm actions for growth. Under the uncertainty shock story, growth responds to persistent changes in uncertainty. Comovement between current uncertainty and past growth is thus induced by firms' past responses to uncertainty. In (1.3)-(1.4), there is no additional signal value to growth conditional on volatility last period. Under a learning story, in contrast, there may be *no* effect of current uncertainty on past firm actions.

The different role of firm actions for the two stories suggests a simple check: if the relationship between growth and uncertainty is induced by firms' actions, then controlling for firm actions in our regressions should alter the coefficients we find on past

growth. We perform the check in column (3) of Table 1.6: here we augment the baseline regression in column with (1) with both time sector dummies as well as an additional set of controls that vary *over time at the firm level*.

The new controls are firms' expectations about their future sales growth, their assessment of the state of their business and their capacity utilization, as well as categorical variables that report orders, the stock of inventory, demand, production, prices, and credit conditions. The difference between these additional controls and the firm characteristics already included above is that the former vary at high frequency at the firm level. In particular, they capture actions the firm could have taken at the beginning or during the course of the quarter such as scale down production or increasing prices.<sup>20</sup>

The main result from column (3) is that the coefficients on growth are virtually unchanged, as predicted by a learning model. This is not because the new variables are uncorrelated with subjective uncertainty: on the contrary, the R-squared improves by 8 percentage points between columns (1) and (3). About half of this improvement comes from the inclusion of time varying firm level controls – this follows from a comparison with column (8) of Table 1.5. Nevertheless, the impact of the new controls appears to be orthogonal to the role of past growth in predicting subjective uncertainty. We conclude that the timing of growth, uncertainty and firm actions favors a learning interpretation of our time series facts, and provides little support for an uncertainty shock mechanism.

# **1.6** The Dynamics of Subjective Uncertainty

In this section, we further explore the dynamics of subjective uncertainty. Our approach is motivated by two properties of many common learning rules: we would expect higher forecast errors to increase uncertainty, and changes in uncertainty to propagate over time. In principle, these properties alone could induce a V-shaped relationship between uncertainty and growth. In Section 1.6.1 we therefore ask whether controlling for lagged forecast errors as well as lagged uncertainty affects the relationship between growth and uncertainty. The answer will help guide the choice among alternative models of belief updating. In Section 1.6.2 we check whether replacing forecast errors with an alternative measure of sales growth surprise changes our conclusions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Appendix 1.H provides a detailed list of the additional firm-level controls and their timing relative to quarter *t*, when span was uttered.

## **1.6.1 What Moves Subjective Uncertainty?**

Table 1.7 digs more deeply into firms' time series response to growth. For the subsample of responses for which we observe a forecast for the previous quarter, we can decompose growth into forecast plus forecast error. We can therefore distinguish firms' responses to unanticipated change – as captured by their forecast error – and anticipated change already captured by their forecast. Formally, we proceed by including the forecast error of the previous quarter as an additional regressor.

Column (1) replicates column (6) of Table 1.5, our baseline result, now on the somewhat smaller sample for which we observe firm forecast errors: the V-shape of subjective uncertainty in previous-quarter sales growth is again present. Then, in column (2), we replace sales growth with previous-quarter forecast errors in sales growth: we find again a V-shape with somewhat smaller coefficients. We note that the R-squared of this regression declines slightly compared to column (1). Column (3) presents the results from a regression specification where both sales growth and the forecast error, in both cases allowing for asymmetry, are included. It is now the asymmetric V in sales growth that wins the horse race between change and unanticipated change, the latter losing asymmetry and statistical significance. Notice again that the R-squared in column (3) hardly improves compared to column (1).

Columns (4) to (6) repeat the same steps, but this time with lagged span included in the regression. We first note that subjective uncertainty displays a mild persistence because it depends on its own lag in all three specifications. With respect to the relevance of sales growth versus forecast error, the result is the same, even starker: in a horse race between these two regressors to determine subjective uncertainty, it is sales growth that enters with an asymmetric V, whereas the data do not ask for the forecast error over and above sales growth.

To understand why past growth "drives out" the past forecast error in these regressions, we compare group averages of span in a two-by-two table of high versus low absolute growth rates and high versus low absolute forecast errors. We compute these group averages as follows. To control for firm characteristics we first partial out the size, trend and turbulence dummies from span, absolute growth and absolute forecast errors leaving the conditional linear relationship between the latter three variables unchanged.<sup>21</sup> Since our partial-out regressions include an intercept, the resulting adjusted variables have mean zero.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Technically, we invoke the Frisch-Waugh theorem which says that there are two equivalent ways to control for some variables z (here: the dummies) in an OLS regression of y (here: span) on x (here: past sales growth and past forecast error). Either regress y on x and z and take the coefficient of x.

Dependent variable:	(1) span	(2) span	(3) span	(4) span	(5) span	(6) span
Subjective uncertainty in quarter $t - 1$				0.273***	0.271*** (0.0748)	0.276*** (0.0695)
Negative sales growth rate in quarter $t - 1$	-0.358*** (0.0755)		-0.314*** (0.0825)	-0.322*** (0.0754)	()	-0.333*** (0.0910)
Positive sales growth rate in quarter $t - 1$	0.148*** (0.0394)		0.0990** (0.0450)	0.138*** (0.0381)		0.0936* (0.0478)
Negative forecast error in quarter $t - 1$	· · ·	-0.232*** (0.0573)	-0.0599 (0.0567)		-0.166*** (0.0586)	0.0167 (0.0607)
Positive forecast error in quarter $t - 1$		0.130*** (0.0392)	0.0747 (0.0488)		0.116*** (0.0363)	0.0641 (0.0498)
Size, trend, and turbulence dummies	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES
Constant	11.70***	11.61***	11.48***	8.587***	8.719***	8.465***
	(2.562)	(2.610)	(2.544)	(2.055)	(2.039)	(2.008)
No. of observations	1520	1520	1520	1489	1489	1489
No. of firms	373	373	373	367	367	367
No. of parameters (excl. intercept)	10	10	12	11	11	13
R-squared	0.35	0.32	0.35	0.40	0.38	0.41

#### Table 1.7: Relation of span to its own lag, past sales growth, and past forecast error

**Notes:** Results from pooled OLS regressions. They are based on the sample of firms with at least five answers to question 1. In addition, we require an answer to question 2.b to compute the firms' forecast error for two adjacent observations of a firm. This results in the already familiar sample of 1,664 observations. We further need the lag of the forecast error, and hence, three consecutive observations in a firms' time series. Requiring span to be available as well, we are left with 1,520 observations. In columns (4) to (6) we additionally require the lag of span and we arrive at 1,489 observations. Standard errors in parentheses, clustered by firm. \* p < 0.10, \*\* p < 0.05, \*\*\* p < 0.01.

Subsequently, we split adjusted absolute growth and adjusted absolute forecast errors into observations above and below their means, thereby defining the four quadrants shown in the left panel of Table 1.8, respectively, and compute average span for each quadrant. For example, the upper left value of -1.82 means that a firm which, after controlling for firm characteristics, experience in period t - 1 a below-average absolute growth rate and a below-average absolute forecast error, reports a 1.82 percentage points smaller span than the average firm in period t. In addition, we count the number of observations that fall in each quadrant (in square brackets below average span).

The first takeaway from the upper left panel of Table 1.8 is that uncertainty as measured by span is relatively low (high) if both absolute growth and absolute forecast errors are relatively low (high). Hence, a firm is relatively certain if it experiences a small absolute growth rate near its expectations and it is relatively uncertain if it experiences a large absolute growth rate far away from what it expected. Most observations (665+410=1075 of 1520 and thus 71%) fall in these two cells reflecting that sales growth is difficult to predict, so that low (high) absolute forecast errors and low (high) absolute growth go hand in hand.

Alternatively, first regress y on z and x on z and then regress the residuals of these two regressions on each other.

But what happens in the upper right and lower left cells? Concerning the upper right cell, a small absolute growth rate that comes as a big surprise almost does not alter span. This suggests that firms which incorrectly expected something "big" to happen do not experience heightened uncertainty even though the size of their forecast error is large because the signal they receive tells them that they are in calm territory. By contrast, the lower left cell tells us that a large absolute growth rate increases uncertainty to a noticeable, while not statistically significant, amount even if it comes largely expectedly. Again, it thus appears to be the signal conveyed by the absolute growth rate which shapes uncertainty and not the expectational error.<sup>22</sup>

	Full s	sample	Only neg. grow	wth and neg. FE
	low abs. FE	high abs. FE	low abs. FE	high abs. FE
After partialling ou	t size, trend, and t	urbulence dummies		
low abs. growth	-1.82*** [obs: 665]	-0.19 [obs: 188])	$-2.04^{***}$ [obs: 127]	-0.02 [obs: 68]
high abs. growth	0.64 [obs: 257]	2.63*** [obs: 410]	2.01* [obs: 62]	3.29*** [obs: 170]
After partialling ou	t size, trend, and t	urbulence dummies, a	nd lagged span	
low abs. growth	-1.38*** [obs: 637]	-0.82 [obs: 188])	-1.71*** [obs: 125]	-0.20 [obs: 68]
high abs. growth	0.52 [obs: 242]	2.14*** [obs: 422]	1.51 [obs: 61]	3.01*** [obs: 166]

#### Table 1.8: Two-by-two tables of span

**Notes:** The cells show group-specific average span and, in brackets below, the number of observations per cell. The upper panel of the table is based on the residuals from a regression of span on size, trend, and turbulence dummies (1,520 observations). The lower panel is based on the residuals from regressing span on size, trend, and turbulence dummies, and additionally on its own lag (1,489 observations). These two parts refer to the samples used in columns (1) to (3) and (4) to (6) of table 1.7, respectively. The table is split in two parts: the left part concerns the full sample, and the right part the subset of firm-time observations, for which both sales growth and forecast error are negative. In each part, the numbers in each panel refer to four quadrants. To define these quadrants, we first regress absolute sales growth and absolute forecast error on size, trend, and turbulence dummies for the statistics in the upper panel of the table, and on the same dummies and lagged span in the lower panel. The quadrants are then defined by the mean values of the residuals of the absolute sales growth and the absolute forecast error regressions.\* p < 0.10, \*\* p < 0.05, \*\*\* p < 0.01.

To better understand this finding, we next distinguish between positive and negative growth. The upper right panel of Table 1.8 reports average span using only those

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> This interpretation is supported by comparing the fit of two simple models, after partialling out size, trend and turbulence dummies from span, absolute growth and absolute forecast errors. Model 1 fits two group means to span with groups being defined by low and high absolute forecast errors, while model 2 fits two group means to span with groups being defined by low and high absolute growth. Hence model 1 reflects the column dimension of the upper left quadrant of Table 1.8 while model 2 mirrors the row dimension. It turns out that the fit of model 1 is worse than the fit of model 2 in all four quadrants, particularly so in the lower left cell. Overall, model 1 has an R-squared of 2.8% whereas model 2 has an R-squared of 3.9%.

observations falling into the respective quadrants that exhibit negative growth and negative forecast error. By comparing the panels we can thus assess the asymmetry of the relationships between span and its drivers. It turns out that the differences are moderate in all cells but the lower left one where average span is much larger than in the full sample: a large negative growth rate that is slightly larger than expected entails a strong increase in span by 2 percentage points. Hence, it is firms in a gloom situation–expecting an unusually bad outcome and experiencing and even slightly worse realization–which drive the lower left cell.<sup>23</sup>

The lower panel of Table 1.8 shows that the preceding results are robust to including lagged span in the set of controls. To summarize, we find that subjective forecast errors are driven by past sales growth rather than past forecast errors. While these two regressors are similar as sales forecasts appear difficult, there is a notable number of observations exhibiting small (large) absolute sales growth and large (small) absolute forecast error. In these cases, sales growth is a better predictor of span particularly for firms in a gloomy situation.

What is the economic mechanism that makes firms more uncertain especially after a negative previous-quarter sales growth rather than a negative sales growth surprise? A possible interpretation is that negative sales growth indicates a loss of customers in an environment where building up customer relationships is costly and not necessarily successful. Hence, affected firms do not know whether and which new customers can be found in the months going forward, making them more uncertain with respect to future sales growth.

## 1.6.2 Another Surprise Measure

As a robustness check we ask whether the results remain unchanged if we replace previous-quarter forecast error by an alternative measure of sales growth surprise. To this end, we construct a variable that measures the distance of the previous-quarter growth rate to the forecast interval stated one quarter before as follows: it takes the value of zero if the growth rate falls into the interval, the distance of the growth rate to the upper interval limit (the best case) if the growth rate falls above the interval, and the distance to the lower interval limit (the worst case) if the growth rate falls below the interval. Thereby, we measure the surprise intensity for those firms that see their previous-quarter growth rate outside their forecast interval stated one quarter before.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> In fact, the average span in the lower left cell of the complementary group of firms that do not exhibit both negative growth and negative forecast error is 0.2 and thus almost indistinguishable to the average of zero.

Table 1.9 reports the results of regressions of span on the previous-quarter growth rate and the previous-quarter surprise measure just defined. To account for asymmetry we split both regressors into their positive and negative parts. Note that a positive (negative) surprise is the distance of the growth rate to the upper (lower) interval limit if the growth rate falls above (below) the interval. A regression of span on the surprise measure without any controls shows there is again a highly significant, asymmetric V-type relationship (column 1). Including size, trend, and turbulence dummies flattens the V but leaves the negative arm significant (column 2). However, adding the sales growth rate yields the same "driving out" result reported in Section 1.6.1: both parameters of the surprise measure become quantitatively small and statistically insignificant while the parameters of the sales growth rate exhibit the asymmetric V. Columns (4) to (6) replicate this outcome when lagged span is included as an additional regressor.

**Table 1.9:** Relation of span to its own lag, past sales growth, and past outside deviationfrom worst or best case

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Dependent variable:	span	span	span	span	span	span
Subjective uncertainty in quarter $t - 1$				0.460***	0.388***	0.283***
				(0.0744)	(0.0786)	(0.0743)
Negative sales growth rate in quarter $t - 1$		-0.574***	-0.348***		-0.367***	-0.269***
		(0.0789)	(0.0687)		(0.0778)	(0.0741)
Positive sales growth rate in quarter $t - 1$		0.283***	0.176***		0.148***	0.118**
		(0.0461)	(0.0460)		(0.0527)	(0.0500)
Deviation from worst case forecast in quarter $t - 1$	-0.529***	-0.0600	-0.0659	-0.425***	-0.137*	-0.122
-	(0.107)	(0.103)	(0.107)	(0.0817)	(0.0778)	(0.0839)
Deviation from best case forecast in quarter $t - 1$	0.191***	-0.0305	-0.0355	0.188***	0.0777	0.0425
-	(0.0542)	(0.0709)	(0.0605)	(0.0467)	(0.0681)	(0.0603)
Size, trend, and turbulence dummies	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES	YES
Constant	10.70***	8.213***	11.89***	5.341***	4.721***	8.536***
	(0.476)	(0.491)	(2.627)	(0.815)	(0.669)	(2.043)
No. of observations	1513	1513	1513	1513	1513	1513
No. of firms	372	372	372	372	372	372
No. of parameters (excl. intercept)	2	4	12	3	5	13
R-squared	0.098	0.22	0.35	0.31	0.35	0.41

**Notes:** Results from pooled OLS regressions. They are based on the sample of firms with at least five answers to question 1. In addition, we require an answer to question 2.a to compute the distance of a firms' realization from below the worst case or from above the best case forecast for two adjacent observations of a firm. We further need the lag of this distance variable, and hence, three consecutive observations in a firms' time series. Requiring span to be available as well, we are left with 1,513 observations. The variable "Deviation from worst (best) case forecast in quarter t - 1" has value zero if the past realized sales growth rate was inside the forecast interval. Standard errors in parentheses, clustered by firm. \* p < 0.10, \*\* p < 0.05, \*\*\* p < 0.01.

# 1.7 Volatility

The goal of this section is to compare the dynamics of "statistical" uncertainty experienced by firms to that of subjective uncertainty perceived by firms. We have already seen in Section 1.5.3 that the projection of the absolute size of forecast errors on past growth – controlling for fixed characteristics – yields coefficients that are quite similar to the coefficients of our baseline span regression. We now ask to what extent firms' updating of subjective uncertainty studied in the previous section resembles the dynamic behavior of the conditional volatility of shocks. In terms of the framework of Section 1.3.2, how similar are the dynamics of the subjective and statistical uncertainty measures  $\sigma$  and  $\hat{\sigma}$ ?

The section proceeds as follows. As a preliminary step, we distinguish between the two sources of firm forecast errors discussed in Section 1.3.2: bias and conditional volatility. In Section 1.7.1, we thus "clean" subjective forecast errors by removing firm fixed effects of forecast bias already documented in Section 1.4.4. We also provide an alternative benchmark set of forecast errors from a statistical model. That model is by construction unbiased, although it may also be based on less information than what is available to firms. Its purpose is to analyze whether firm's subjective forecasts are special, or whether they just reflect generic properties of the data.

We then estimate dynamic models of conditional volatility to provide a statistical counterpart to the regressions of span on lagged span, past growth, past forecast errors as well as fixed firm characteristics reported in Section 1.6.1. To this end, in Section 1.7.2 we estimate models of conditional volatility for both the cleaned subjective errors and for the statistical errors. Section 1.7.3 finally compares the dynamics of all three measures of firm uncertainty. To preview the results, we show that the dynamics of subjective uncertainty and "objective" conditional volatility are similar in some dimensions but differ in others. Similarities exist mainly in the time series dimension. They include mild but statistically significant persistence, irrelevance of lagged forecast errors, and importance of lagged absolute sales growth, especially if it is negative. Differences are pronounced in the cross section dimension. Indeed, volatile and large firms are not uncertain enough—seem to underestimate the volatility they face—, while firms on a bad sales growth trend are more uncertain than conditional volatility suggests.

The sample used throughout this Section is composed such that we can estimate dynamic models of the conditional volatility of firms' forecast errors. We start from the forecast sample defined in Table 1.C.1 in Appendix 1.C which includes all quarterfirm observations for which a forecast is available but not necessarily a span. Using this sample we construct forecast errors. To model dynamics, we further require a lagged forecast error and thus three adjacent observations. This reduces the sample to 949 observations plus 380 pre-sample observations on which we condition in the dynamic models. Hence, we use 1,329 observations altogether.

#### **1.7.1** Cleaned Subjective and Statistical Forecast Errors

In order to clean observed forecast errors of firm-specific bias, we estimate regressions of survey-provided forecast errors on fixed characteristics and use the resulting residuals as our cleaned errors. In terms of the representation (1.5), this removes the part of the bias  $b(s_t^i, x^i)$  that depends on the fixed characteristics  $x^i$ . We do this in order to focus on belief dynamics. In particular, we are interested in the response of span to temporary surprises experienced by firms, not surprises they routinely experience because they make biased forecasts.<sup>24</sup>

Dep. variable: sales growth $t$ to $t + 1$	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
Negative sales growth in quarter $t - 1$	-0.269*	-0.141	-0.130			
5 5 I	(0.141)	(0.145)	(0.128)			
Positive sales growth in quarter $t - 1$	-0.0357	0.0392	0.0495			
с <u>г</u>	(0.0907)	(0.0978)	(0.0856)			
Dummy small firms	5.314***	7.798***		5.298***	7.776***	
-	(1.815)	(2.255)		(1.747)	(2.192)	
Dummy medium sized firms	4.996***	7.408***		5.082***	7.432***	
-	(1.669)	(2.136)		(1.607)	(2.073)	
Dummy large firms	5.000***	7.228***		5.013***	7.159***	
, ,	(1.689)	(2.127)		(1.632)	(2.057)	
Dummy 'bad' sales growth trend	-7.143***			-6.726***		
	(0.967)			(0.936)		
Dummy 'good' sales growth trend	8.005***			8.253***		
, 6 6	(1.095)			(1.112)		
Dummy medium low turbulence	-1.717***	-2.068**		-1.434***	-1.827*	
-	(0.572)	(0.959)		(0.500)	(0.929)	
Dummy medium high turbulence	0.427	-0.882		0.973	-0.411	
	(0.833)	(1.117)		(0.642)	(0.968)	
Dummy high turbulence	-0.143	-0.274		1.343	0.954	
	(1.561)	(1.691)		(1.149)	(1.384)	
Sales growth in quarter $t - 1$				-0.132***	-0.0365	-0.0247
				(0.0414)	(0.0455)	(0.0462)
Intercept	-3.243**	-5.059**	1.164	-2.881*	-4.663**	2.015***
	(1.610)	(2.092)	(0.811)	(1.534)	(2.011)	(0.439)
No. of observations	1329	1329	1329	1329	1329	1329
No. of firms	292	292	292	292	292	292
R-squared	0.12	0.021	0.0047	0.12	0.018	0.001
AIC	10696.7	10837.8	10848.1	10702.2	10839.9	10851.5
BIC	10753.8	10884.5	10863.7	10754.1	10881.5	10861.9

Table 1.10: Relation of sales growth to past sales growth and firm characteristics

**Notes:** Results from pooled OLS regressions. They are based on the sample of firms with at least five answers to question 1. In addition, we require an answer to question 2.b to compute the firms' forecast error for two adjacent observations of a firm. For comparability with the results of the power GARCH models, we further need the lag of the forecast error, and hence, three consecutive observations in a firms' time series. This leaves us with 1329 observations. Standard errors in parentheses, clustered by firm. \* p < 0.10, \*\* p < 0.05, \*\*\* p < 0.01.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> The regressions are based on the sample of firms with at least five observations of sales growth. In addition, to compute a forecast error we need two adjacent observations of a firm (a sales growth forecast in quarter t - 1 followed by a sales growth rate in quarter t). For comparability with the results of the GARCH models below, we further need the lag of the forecast error, and hence, three consecutive observations in a firm's time series. This leaves us with 1329 observations.

Specifically, we regress the survey-provided forecast error on our previously defined size, trend, and turbulence dummies as well as their pairwise interactions. To prevent overfitting, we apply the LASSO estimator (Tibshirani, 1996) to select a subset of relevant regressors.<sup>25</sup> We choose the LASSO tuning parameter  $\tau$  by minimizing Mallows's  $C_p$  statistic as suggested by Efron et al. (2004). The LASSO then selects 11 predictors. In particular, denote the high and low growth dummies by  $gd_1$  and  $gd_3$ , the medium low, medium high and high volatility dummies by  $vd_1$ ,  $vd_2$ , and  $vd_3$ , and the small, medium and large size dummies by  $sd_1$ ,  $sd_2$ , and  $sd_3$ , respectively. The selected predictors are then  $gd_1$ ,  $gd_3$ , as well as the interactions  $sd_1 \cdot gd_1$ ,  $sd_2 \cdot gd_1$ ,  $sd_2 \cdot gd_3$ ,  $sd_1 \cdot vd_2$ ,  $sd_1 \cdot vd_3$ ,  $sd_2 \cdot vd_4$ ,  $sd_3 \cdot vd_4$ ,  $gd_3 \cdot vd_4$ .

To obtain a bias-adjusted forecast error we construct the OLS residuals of a regression of the forecast error on these predictors. In doing so, we follow Belloni and Chernozhukov (2013) who show that it is advantageous in terms of bias to let the LASSO select the relevant regressors and subsequently apply OLS to estimate the regression coefficients, see Lehrer and Xie (2017) for a related application. We find that the Rsquared of the OLS regression is 0.04 which indicates that biased forecasting is not pervasive but rather an issue for small groups of firms.

To provide an alternative benchmark for firm-level forecast errors, we construct a set of statistical forecast errors by using our own statistical forecasting models. In particular, we regress sales growth on its own lag as well as size, growth, and turbulence dummies. We allow for an asymmetric response to past growth, as in our span regressions. We also note that since trend and turbulence are defined using sample moments, they are, strictly speaking, not part of the information set of a firm. At the same time, firms have longer samples than we have that speak to their trend growth and volatility. Our assumption here is that trend and turbulence reflect medium term prospects known to firms.

The regression coefficients are reported in column (1) of Table 1.10. For robustness, we try a number of specifications. In column (2), we leave out the growth trend dummies from the set of regressors as they might be very dominant. In column (3) and we also estimate a simple asymmetric AR(1) model. In columns (4)-(6), we replicate the first three specifications but restrict the effect of past sales growth to be symmetric. Forecast errors from all six specifications are highly correlated, with correlation coefficients at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> The LASSO is a standard shrinkage estimator popular in "big data" analysis (Varian, 2014) as it recovers the correct (sparse) model with high probability (Hastie et al., 2017). By requiring that the  $L_1$ norm of the coefficient vector does not exceed a certain threshold, say,  $\tau$ , the LASSO restricts many coefficients to zero and thereby helps to balance the bias-variance tradeoff seen in forecasting. This is why the LASSO and related estimators are widely applied for economic forecasting in data-rich environments (Bai and Ng, 2008; Manzan, 2015; Elliott and Timmermann, 2016).

0.93 or above. Moreover, both AIC and BIC favor specification (1). In what follows, we report only results based on that specification.

#### 1.7.2 Measuring Conditional Volatility

How does subjective uncertainty compare to conditional volatility, or more generally, uncertainty measured by an econometrician? We have identified subjective uncertainty with span, the difference between best and worst case scenarios. A natural "objective" counterpart is the length of a forecast interval constructed by the econometrician, for example the difference between an upper and lower quantile of the conditional distribution of forecast errors. In the broad class of distributions of the location-scale family, that length is a multiple of the standard deviation which we thus choose as our measure of volatility.

We study the conditional volatility of both types of forecast errors defined in Section 1.7.1. In both cases, we select and estimate a volatility model that optimally describes the data as indicated by information criteria.

Let  $\tilde{e}_{it}$  be the bias-adjusted forecast error of firm *i* in quarter *t*, and denote its conditional standard deviation by  $\sigma_{it}$ . Our choice of functional form mirrors our analysis of subjective uncertainty in Section 1.6.1: we write  $\sigma_{it}$  as a function of past growth, past forecast errors and fixed firm characteristics. We thus use a restricted version of the power GARCH model (Ding et al., 1993; Ding and Granger, 1996; Karanasos and Kim, 2006). While the unrestricted power GARCH model conditions  $\sigma_{it}^p$  on past information,  $I_{i,t-1}$ , where *p* is a power coefficient to be estimated, we impose the restriction p = 1 and thus model the conditional standard deviation.

Our conditional volatility model then has the general form

$$\tilde{e}_{it} = \mu + \varepsilon_{it}, \qquad \varepsilon_{it} | I_{i,t-1} \sim N(0, \sigma_{it}^2)$$
(1.7)

with a conditional standard deviation equation

$$\sigma_{it} = \exp(\beta_0 + \beta'_1 x_{it}) + \alpha_1(|\varepsilon_{i,t-1}| + \gamma \varepsilon_{i,t-1}) + \alpha_2 \sigma_{i,t-1}.$$
(1.8)

The mean equation (1.7) includes an intercept to account for a nonzero sample mean that arises because we apply the bias adjustment of the forecast error to all 1,329 observations but estimate the volatility model on an effective sample of those 949 observations for which a lag is available. The conditional volatility equation (1.8) allows for an asymmetric effect of the past absolute forecast error measured by the coefficient  $\gamma$ ,

as asymmetry was found to be relevant in explaining subjective uncertainty. However, we do not expect a strong effect here because the empirical unconditional distribution of the bias-adjusted forecast errors is essentially symmetric with a sample skewness of 0.1.<sup>26</sup>

We add two types of explanatory variables contained in vector  $x_{it}$  to the conditional volatility equation. They enter the model through an exponential link function to ensure effects are always positive. The first type consists of size, trend, and turbulence dummies which are essentially time-invariant and thus control for different levels of conditional volatility for subgroups of firms. Our analysis above indicated that these dummies are sufficient to capture the bulk of time-invariant heterogeneity in subjective uncertainty. The second type includes positive and negative sales growth in the previous quarter which we found to be highly relevant to explain subjective uncertainty.

To find a reliable parsimonious specification, we estimate several restricted versions of (1.7)-(1.8) by maximum likelihood. Specification (1) adds no additional control variables ( $\beta_1 = 0$ ), specifications (2)-(4) allow only for size, trend and turbulence dummies, respectively, specification (5) allows for only positive and negative sales growth rate in the previous quarter, and (6) adds all variables together. All specifications are estimated either assuming symmetric effects of past forecast errors ( $\gamma = 0$ ) or allowing for asymmetry ( $\gamma$  unrestricted).

To select among these specifications, we use two information criteria, AIC and BIC, which are commonly used in applied papers (Nelson, 1991; Zivot, 2009). In finite samples the BIC typically favors overly sparse models, while the AIC picks models with a more generous number of parameters, see Efron et al. (2004, pp. 230-235) for a general discussion and Lütkepohl (2005) for asymptotic and simulation evidence in a time series context. Hence, the models chosen by AIC and BIC may be thought of giving upper and lower bounds in terms of richness of parametrization.

The results reported in Table 1.11 suggest that the inclusion of turbulence dummies, whether by themselves in specification (4) or jointly with the other control variables in specification (6), is essential for model fit: all other specifications generate much larger information criteria. Deciding between specifications (4) and (6) is more tricky. In both the symmetric and the asymmetric case, the AIC favors the inclusion of all controls while the BIC picks the turbulence dummies alone. However, the differences in terms of AIC are large (29.81 and 32.42) while the differences in terms of BIC are small (4.19 and 1.57). Given that the BIC tends to select overly parsimonious models

 $<sup>^{26}</sup>$  A test of the null hypothesis that the population skewness is zero cannot be rejected (*p*-value of 0.2).

		Symmetric	$\gamma = 0$	A	Asymmetric	$r \gamma \neq 0$
Specification	k	AIC	BIC	k	AIC	BIC
(1) no controls	4	7,256.39	7,275.81	5	7,253.13	7,277.41
(2) only size dummies	7	7 <i>,</i> 249.95	7,283.94	8	7,248.10	7 <i>,</i> 286.94
(3) only growth trend dummies	6	7,173.30	7,202.43	7	7,174.46	7,208.45
(4) only turbulence dummies	7	6,901.40	6,935.38	8	6,903.38	6,942.22
(5) only sales growth rate	6	7,106.90	7,136.03	7	7,104.63	7,138.62
(6) all controls	14	6,871.59	6,939.57	15	6,870.96	6,943.79

Table 1.11: Model	selection	criteria	for	different	specifications	of	the	conditional
volatili	ty model				-			

**Notes:** *k* denotes the number of parameters. Equations 1.7 and 1.8 describe the model of conditional volatility. All specifications are estimated by maximum likelihood using 949 observations.

and based on the classification of Kass and Raftery (1995) that only BIC differences of more than 6 are "strong", on balance specification (6) is preferred.

Whether to allow for symmetric or asymmetric effects of past forecast errors is also difficult to decide as the differences in AIC and BIC are small. We therefore report the coefficient estimates of both specifications in columns (1) and (2) of Table 1.12. It turns out that the asymmetry parameter  $\gamma$  is not statistically different from zero while the estimates of the other coefficients are largely unaffected by restricting it to zero. This is not unexpected as the unconditional skewness is small. We thus conclude that the symmetric specification (6) is a sufficient description of the conditional volatility process that drives the data.

We refer to the OLS residuals from our preferred forecasting regression as "statistical" forecast errors and fit the same symmetric and asymmetric volatility models as for the firms' forecast errors, see columns (3) and (4) of Table 1.12. Again, the asymmetry parameter is not significantly different from zero, and restricting it to zero leaves the other parameter estimates fairly unchanged. Therefore, we take the symmetric specification—which is unanimously favored by the information criteria—as a sufficient description of the conditional volatility process that characterizes the statistical forecast errors.

# 1.7.3 Comparison of Subjective Uncertainty and Conditional Volatility

We are now ready to compare subjective uncertainty as measured by the span between the best case and worst case scenarios with our two statistical measures of conditional volatility. For the latter, we use the predicted conditional standard deviation of our

Dependent variable:	Firms' for	ecast errors	Statistical forecast errors			
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)		
Mean equation						
Intercept (µ)	0.298 (0.252)	0.291 (0.251)	0.171 (0.270)	0.122 (0.281)		
Volatility equation: baseline parameters						
Lagged absolute FE ( $\alpha_1$ )	$0.0852^{*}$	0.102*	0.00830	0.00918		
Lagged volatility ( $\alpha_2$ )	(0.0011) $(0.235^{***})$ (0.0874)	0.215***	0.236**	$(0.029^{***})$ (0.0824)		
Asymmetry $(\gamma)$	0 (.)	0.478 (0.317)	0 (.)	3.359 (21.85)		
Volatility equation: parameters of exogenou	s regressors					
Negative sales growth in $t - 1$	-0.0286***	-0.0309*** (0.00879)	-0.0259*** (0.00792)	-0.0278*** (0.00801)		
Positive sales growth in $t - 1$	0.0131**	0.0107*	(0.00792) 0.00710 (0.00522)	0.00468		
Dummy small firms	-0.139	-0.138	-0.142	-0.127		
Dummy medium sized firms	-0.223**	-0.230**	$-0.182^{**}$	-0.170** (0.0766)		
Dummy large firms	-0.248** (0.111)	-0.269** (0.111)	-0.170**	-0.156*		
Dummy 'bad' sales growth trend	0.194**	0.167*	-0.0281	(0.0871) -0.0456 (0.0673)		
Dummy 'good' sales growth trend	0.199**	0.209**	0.0648	0.0818		
Dummy medium low volatility	0.504***	0.506***	0.518***	0.517***		
Dummy medium high volatility	(0.0807) 0.794***	(0.0880) 0.797*** (0.0874)	0.873***	(0.0708) 0.879***		
Dummy high volatility	1.336***	(0.0874) 1.322***	(0.0684)	(0.0674) 1.520***		
Intercept ( $\beta_0$ )	(0.110) $1.101^{***}$ (0.180)	(0.111) $1.125^{***}$ (0.167)	(0.101) $1.204^{***}$ (0.151)	(0.0964) 1.199*** (0.146)		
No. of observations	949 292	949 292	949 292	949 292		

#### Table 1.12: Conditional volatility specification (1.8) estimated by maximum likelihood

**Notes:** Results from panel power GARCH models from equations 1.7 and 1.8 that describe the conditional standard deviation of firms' forecast errors in columns 1 and 2, and of statistical forecast errors in columns 3 and 4. In contrast to the symmetric models in columns 1 and 3, columns 2 and 4 allow for asymmetric effects. All specifications are estimated by maximum likelihood using 949 observations and 380 pre-sample observations on which we condition as explained below Table 1.10. Standard errors in parentheses, clustered by firm. \* p < 0.10, \*\* p < 0.05, \*\*\* p < 0.01.

preferred symmetric specification (6). Descriptive statistics for all three measures are displayed in Table 1.13. A first notable result is that the distributions of the predicted conditional standard deviations of the firms' and the statistical forecast errors are remarkably similar. In fact, the correlation of the two volatility predictions is 0.97. Furthermore, we find that the average subjective uncertainty as measured by span is only 25 percent larger than the average of the predicted conditional standard deviations.

Table 1.13: Summary	statistics for measures	of subjective	uncertainty	and	conditional
volatility					

Variable	Ν	Mean	Std. Dev.	P10	P25	P50	P75	P90
Span between worst and best case forecast	932	12.1	9.8	4	5	10	15	25
Predicted conditional volatility of firms' forecast errors	932	9.7	7.2	3.5	4.8	7.5	12.3	18.3
Predicted conditional volatility of statistical forecast errors	932	9.7	7.3	3.4	4.2	7.2	12.2	19.8

**Notes:** The predicted conditional volatility of firms' forecast errors and of statistical forecast errors stem from the symmetric power GARCH specifications in columns 1 and 3 of table 1.12, respectively. The number of usable observations shrinks from 949 as reported in Table 1.12 to 932 here because 17 quarter-firm observations we used to construct forecast errors have either a missing upper or lower interval bound, or both, in the data, and thus we cannot compute a span for these observations.

In a final step, we compare the dynamics of subjective uncertainty to the dynamics of conditional volatility. Since the volatility models link the conditional standard deviation to past sales growth and the dummies via an exponential function that ensures nonnegativity, we base our comparison on average partial effects. Formally, we compute, for each right-hand-side variable  $x_{j,it}$  of the volatility equation (1.8), the average partial effect

$$APE_j = \sum_i \sum_t \frac{\partial \sigma_{it}}{\partial x_{j,it}}$$

and report them in columns (2) and (3) of Table 1.14 while column (1) replicates the coefficient estimates of the dynamic linear model for span reported in column (6) of Table 1.7 with the only difference that we replace the two insignificant regressors "positive past forecast error" and "negative past forecast error" by the single regressor "absolute forecast error" to conform with the specification of the volatility models.

The results indicate that the dynamics of subjective uncertainty and "objective" conditional volatility are remarkably similar. There is mild but statistically significant persistence; lagged forecast errors are largely irrelevant; and lagged absolute sales growth has an asymmetric effect with large negative realizations being roughly twice as important than large positive realizations. Hence, when forming uncertainty beliefs
	(1)	(2)	(3)
	Subjective uncertainty	Conditional volatility of	Conditional volatility of
	(span)	firms' forecast errors	statistical forecast errors
Uncertainty/volatility in $t - 1$	0.270***	0.235***	0.236***
	(0.0699)	(0.0874)	(0.0921)
Absolute forecast error in $t - 1$	0.0373	0.085*	0.008
	(0.0383)	(0.051)	(0.068)
Negative sales growth in $t - 1$	-0.285***	-0.223***	-0.220***
0 0	(0.0768)	(0.073)	(0.064)
Positive sales growth in $t - 1$	0.112***	0.102**	0.060
U	(0.0422)	(0.043)	(0.044)
Dummy small firms	-3.507*	-1.227	-1.316
,	(2.066)	(1.068)	(0.811)
Dummy medium sized firms	-3.920*	-1.891	-1.656**
,	(2.056)	(0.947)	(0.709)
Dummy large firms	-4.562**	-2.073**	-1.550*
, 0	(2.022)	(1.006)	(0.790)
Dummy 'bad' sales growth trend	2.219***	1.498**	-0.234
, 0	(0.780)	(0.706)	(0.540)
Dummy 'good' sales growth trend	-0.432	1.542**	0.565
, 0	(0.530)	(0.756)	(0.727)
Dummy medium low turbulence	0.660	2.216***	2.294***
, ,	(0.523)	(0.459)	(0.361)
Dummy medium high turbulence	3.714***	4.094***	4.714***
, 0	(0.773)	(0.634)	(0.525)
Dummy high turbulence	4.528***	9.462***	12.057***
, ,	(0.883)	(1.314)	(1.552)
No. of observations	1489	949	949

#### Table 1.14: Comparison of subjective uncertainty and conditional volatility

**Notes:** The first column displays pooled OLS regression coefficients, with clustered standard errors listed below the coefficients. This regression is comparable to column (6) of Table 1.7. The predicted conditional volatility of firms' forecast errors and of statistical forecast errors stem from the symmetric power GARCH specifications in columns 1 and 3 of table 1.12, respectively. The second and third columns show average partial effects from equation 1.8, with standard errors listed below the coefficients. \* p < 0.10, \*\* p < 0.05, \*\*\* p < 0.01.

firms appear to have a pretty realistic impression of the dynamics that characterize the underlying data.

In contrast, subjective uncertainty and conditional volatility differ markedly in some cross sectional dimensions. Most importantly, firms operating in a highly turbulent environment report, relative to firms operating in a calm environment, a subjective uncertainty that is on average 4.5 percentage points higher while the difference in terms of the conditional volatility of their forecast errors and the statistical forecast errors amounts to 9.5 and 12.1 percentage points, respectively. Hence, volatile firms are more uncertain than others but not quite enough—they seem to underestimate the volatility they face. We also observe an opposite overestimation effect: firms on a bad sales growth trend are more uncertain than conditional volatility suggests, while larger firms feel more certain than justified by conditional volatility.

To summarize, an average firm's updating of subjective uncertainty over time closely resembles the dynamics of conditional volatility, while its level of uncertainty appears to be fairly small on average being of roughly the same order of magnitude as the

conditional standard deviation of their forecast error and in several cases fails to adequately reflect the environment the firm is operating in.

## 1.8 Conclusion

This paper provides survey evidence on firms' subjective uncertainty about future sales growth from a new panel data set of the German manufacturing sector. In particular, we measure managers' perceived uncertainty as the difference between their best and worst case forecast of one-quarter-ahead sales growth. After documenting that firms' subjective uncertainty varies both over time and in the cross section, our main result is that uncertainty reflects change. Firms perceive higher uncertainty after larger negative and larger positive sales growth, with a stronger effect for negative realizations. Moreover, firms that consistently grow or shrink and those with more volatile sales growth are more uncertain.

Using firms' forecast errors and predictions from a panel GARCH model, we compare subjective uncertainty to realized and conditional volatility. In the cross section of firms, subjective uncertainty differs from experienced volatility: fast-growing and large firms perceive lower uncertainty than fast-shrinking and small firms, respectively, even if they face shocks of similar size. However, conditional volatility is similar to subjective uncertainty in the time series: both are mildly persistent and increase more after very low compared to very high sales growth realizations.

These findings highlight the importance of idiosyncratic variation in firms' uncertainty during normal times. They also contribute to a discussion in the time series literature of uncertainty shocks by providing micro evidence for feedback effects between uncertainty and growth. The comparison of managers' subjective uncertainty with realized volatility and model-based conditional uncertainty helps to better understand firm behavior. Our results inform common assumptions in existing work and can be incorporated into new models of firm dynamics.

## Appendix

### **1.A** Representativeness of the Sample

In this Appendix, we check whether participation in the uncertainty module is selective conditional on participation in the main manufacturing survey. We base our analysis on all 34,684 complete firm-quarter responses available in the main survey for the months the uncertainty module was executed. We then ask whether firm size, wave dummies, sector dummies, and interacted wave-sector dummies are able to predict participation in the uncertainty module. To this end, we run a probit regression of a participation dummy that is 1 for the 5,564 observations of the uncertainty module and zero otherwise, on these predictors and report the estimated coefficients in column (1) of Table 1.A.1. We find that there is no statistically significant selectivity with respect to wave and sector suggesting that the uncertainty sample does not misrepresent specific quarters or sectors. While firm size turns out to be significantly negative indicating that large firms are slightly underrepresented in the uncertainty module compared to the main manufacturing survey, the pseudo R-squared of 0.016 shows that this selectivity is quantitatively barely relevant. This is also reflected by a ROC curve which differs only slightly from the diagonal that indicates no discriminatory power, see Figure 1.A.1.<sup>27</sup>

We repeat the analysis starting from the subset of 23,486 complete firm-quarter responses available in the online part of the main survey. We thus account for the fact that some firms reply by fax and thus cannot participate in the uncertainty module which is solely implemented online. The results of an analogous probit regression are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> The receiver operating characteristic (ROC) visualizes the discriminatory power of a binary classifier as follows: By varying the classification threshold—here: the probability above which an observation is predicted to participate in the uncertainty module—the classifier can produce any true positive rate (type II error). The ROC curve plots the true positive rate so obtained against its corresponding false positive rate (type I error). In the case of no discriminatory power, true and false positive rates are always the same, the ROC curve equals the diagonal, and the area under the ROC curve (AUC) is 0.5. A good classifier has a ROC curve well above the diagonal and an AUC that is near the maximum of 1.0.

	(1) ifo all	(2) ifo online
Log of number of employees	-0.0753***	-0.134***
	(0.0127)	(0.0139)
Dummy survey wave 1	-0.0441	0.0707
	(0.221)	(0.242)
Dummy survey wave 2	0.0647	0.235
	(0.260)	(0.289)
Dummy survey wave 3	0.248	$0.452^{*}$
	(0.232)	(0.258)
Dummy survey wave 4	0.276	0.439*
	(0.217)	(0.240)
Dummy survey wave 5	0.126	0.253
	(0.204)	(0.225)
Dummy survey wave 6	0.317	0.490**
	(0.195)	(0.211)
Dummy survey wave 7	0.224	$0.387^{*}$
	(0.206)	(0.225)
Dummy survey wave 8	-0.244	-0.150
	(0.247)	(0.268)
Dummy survey wave 9	0.110	0.228
	(0.235)	(0.255)
Dummy survey wave 10	0.224	0.361*
	(0.186)	(0.201)
Dummy survey wave 11	-0.0333	0.0732
	(0.179)	(0.196)
Dummy survey wave 12	0.154	0.275
D 10	(0.182)	(0.202)
Dummy survey wave 13	0.321	0.334
<b>D</b>	(0.218)	(0.232)
Dummy supersector 1	0.130	0.415
Dummer and the 2	(0.245)	(0.262)
Dummy supersector 2	-0.301	-0.155
Dummy supersector 2	0.0686	(0.269)
Dunning supersector 5	-0.0000	(0.134)
Dummy supersector 4	(0.229)	(0.242)
Dunning supersector 4	(0.250)	(0.264)
Dummy supersector 5	(0.250)	(0.204)
Dunning supersector 5	(0.130)	(0.355)
Dummy supersector 6	-0.129	0.000307
Dunnity supersector o	(0.240)	(0.253)
Dummy supersector 7	-0.0828	0.185
Dunnity supersector 7	(0.250)	(0.267)
Dummy supersector 8	0.109	0.379
	(0.257)	(0.275)
Dummy supersector 9	-0.360	-0.184
<i>J</i> - <b>I</b>	(0.232)	(0.245)
Dummy supersector 10	0.120	0.282
	(0.259)	(0.276)
Dummy supersector 11	-0.0901	0.0704
<b>J 1</b>	(0.240)	(0.254)
Dummy supersector 12	-0.0935	0.0302
, <u>,</u>	(0.222)	(0.232)
Dummy supersector 13	-0.240	-0.0867
	(0.283)	(0.301)
Constant	-0.605***	-0.256
	(0.214)	(0.224)
Additional wave-supersector dummies	YES	YES
No. of observations	21601	22106
No. of firms	24004	20400 2/14
No of parameters (eval intercept)	3420 196	2 <del>4</del> 10 106
Pseudo R-squared	0.016	0.030
i seudo ir squarea	0.010	0.000

#### **Table 1.A.1:** Representativeness of special survey sample

**Notes:** Results from probit regressions. The dependent variable in column 1 and 2 is a dummy indicating special survey participation. In column 1 the dummy is of value zero for all other participants of the ifo survey, in column 2 the dummy of value zero for all other *online* participants. Standard errors in parentheses, clustered by firm; \* p < 0.10, \*\* p < 0.05, \*\*\* p < 0.01.

reported in column (2) of Table 1.A.1. Again, the very low pseudo R-squared suggests that selectivity is not a relevant issue for the uncertainty module. This conclusion is supported by a largely unaltered ROC curve near the non-discriminatory diagonal, see Figure 1.A.1.



Figure 1.A.1: ROC curves for probit estimations

**Note:** The two plots depict ROC curves that correspond to the probit estimations in columns 1 and 2 of Table 1.A.1, respectively.

## 1.B Questionnaire for the One-Time Meta-Survey From Fall 2018

Meta-Umfrage	zur Zusatzumfra	age "Unsicherh	eit"		ifo	INSTIT	UT
Kenn-Nr.: Bereich (XY):	kkk-2365-2342 123456 Textilien, Autos	und Lebensmittel			Der gesetzlic Fragebogs	the <u>Datenschutz</u> is en als PDF zum	it voll gewährleistet. Drucken
Zur Erinnerung: Fragebogen Zusatzumfrage Unsicherheit	Erwartungen Umsatzveränderunger	Zusatzfrage 2	z	usatzfrage 3	Allgemeine Fragen	Umfr	age abschließen
1. In den Quarta	Zusatzfragen 2 und 3 wurde I gefragt.	n Sie nach Ihren Erwartung	en hinsichtlich der	Umsatzveränderung I	hres Bereichs im jeweils b	egonnenen	
a. Wie	bedeutend waren die folgen	iden <u>externen</u> Faktoren typ	oischerweise für Ihr	e Antwort?			
		sehr bedeutend	bedeutend	weniger bedeute	nd unbedeutend		
Entwick	lung der Wettbewerber	0	$\bigcirc$	•	•		
Branche	enentwicklung	$\odot$			•		
Konjunk	turelle Entwicklung	0	•	•	•		
Außenw	virtschaftliches Umfeld	0	0	•	•		
Wirtsch	aftspolitisches Umfeld	0					
Sonstiges	, und zwar:						
<b>b.</b> Wie be	deutend waren die folgende	en <u>internen</u> Faktoren typisc	herweise für Ihre A	intwort?			
			sehr bedeu	tend bedeutend	weniger unb bedeutend	edeutend	-
Auftrags	bestand am Quartalsbeginn		0		•	$\bigcirc$	
Für das la von Proje	aufende Quartal erwartete F ekten, die vor Quartalsbegin	ertigstellungen/Auslieferu n gestartet wurden	ngen 🛛	0	0		
Erwartet	e Neuaufträge/-bestellunger	n im laufenden Quartal	0	0			
Sonstiges,	und zwar:						
c. Wie bed	eutend waren die Informati	onen und Einschätzungen a	aus den folgenden	Funktionsbereichen t	ypischerweise für Ihre Ant	wort?	
	seh	nr bedeutend be	edeutend	weniger bedeutend	unbedeutend		
Vertrieb			0	$\bigcirc$			
Produkti	on	0	0	•	0		
Finanzen	/ Controlling		$\bigcirc$				
Marketin	g / Marktforschung	•	•	0	0		
Sonstiges,	und zwar:						

#### Figure 1.B.1: Original meta survey questionnaire in German, part 1

**Note:** Original questionnaire from ifo's one-time online meta survey on its "uncertainty module" in German, from fall 2018.

Zur Erinnerung: Fragebogen Zusatzumfrage Unsicherheit	Erwartungen Umsatzveränderungen	Zusatzfrage 2	Zusatzfrag	e 3	Allgemeine Fragen	Umfrage abschließen
2. Um wir a) Im best Im schle b) Unter B vierten	viel Prozent wird sich der Umsatz in Il nöglichen Fall: chtestmöglichen Fall: erücksichtigung aller Chancen und Risii Quartal 2018 alles in allem eine Veränd	nrem Bereich im vierten Quartal 2018	verändern? % (bitte ganze, % (bitte ganze, % (bitte ganze,	positive oder negative positive oder negative positive oder negative	weiß nicht : Zahlen eingeben) O : Zahlen eingeben) O : Zahlen eingeben) O	
2. In den Z schlecht Ergebnis ja nei	<u>usatzfragen 2 a) und b</u> ) wurden estmöglichen Fall bzw. alles in i sse aus einer quantitativen Ums n	Sie gefragt, welche Umsatzver allem für Ihren Bereich erwarte iatzplanung verwendet, die oh	änderung Sie im jev en. Haben Sie bei de nehin regelmäßig in	veils begonnenen i r Beantwortung de Ihrem Bereich sta	Quartal im bestmögliche er Frage typischerweise ttfindet?	2n und
wenn ja, w	rie bedeutend waren typischerv	weise Ergebnisse aus				
einer Sze Basisproj einer sta	narioanalyse um eine gnose herum tistischen Analyse	sehr bedeutend	bedeutend O	weniger bedeu O	tend unbedeute	end
3. In Zusat Aussage Diese be Pla	und zwar: zfrage 2 a) wurden Sie nach der n beschreiben am ehesten Ihre estmöglichen und schlechtestm usible Szenarien, mit deren Eint	Umsatzveränderung im <u>bestm</u> Antwort? öglichen Fälle sind typischerwe treten wir durchaus rechnen m en wir aber nur in Ausnahmefä	iöglichen und schled eise üssen. llen erwarten.	:htestmöglichen Fr	<u>all</u> gefragt. Welche der fo	blgenden
Sonstiges,	und zwar:					
4. Wenn S typische	ie für Zusatzfrage 2 a) die Umsa erweise die nachfolgenden Gesi	tzveränderung im <u>bestmöglich</u> chtspunkte für Sie?	en und schlechtestn sehr bedeuter	nöglichen Fall ermi	itteln, wie bedeutend sir	nd dabei
Umsatzv	eränderungen in den letzten eir	n bis zwei Jahren	O	0	0 0	
Umsatzv	eränderungen, die weiter als zw	vei Jahre zurückliegen	0		•	
Überlegu	ingen, die wir aktuell anstellen,	unabhängig von der Vergange	nheit 🔍	0	0 0	
Unsere R Umsatzv	isikoeinstellung ("Vorsichtsprin eränderungen, die wir bei unse	zip") ren Wettbewerbern beobachte	n O	0	0 0	
Sonstiges,	und zwar:					

#### Figure 1.B.2: Original meta survey questionnaire in German, part 2

**Note:** Original questionnaire from ifo's one-time online meta survey on its "uncertainty module" in German, from fall 2018.

Zur Erinnerung: Fragebogen Zusatzum Unsicherheit	rage Erwartungen Umsatzveränderungen	Zusatzfrage 2	Zusatzfrage 3	Allgemeine Frage	en Umfrage abschließen
3. Be a) V O V O V	i den nächsten drei Teilfragen können Sie er Vie hoch schätzen Sie die Wahrscheinlichkei Vahrscheinlichkeit liegt bei Vahrscheinlichkeit liegt zwischen weiß nicht	tweder eine Wahrscheinlichkeit oder o t ein, dass der Umsatz in Ihrem Bereich % (bitte ganze Zahlen einge % und	sin Wahrscheinlichkeitsintervall Im vierten Quartal 2018 steigt? aben) (bitte ganze Zahlen eingeb	angeben. en)	
5. In sid be W	der <u>Zusatzfrage 3a</u> wurden Sie gebe h der Umsatz in Ihrem Bereich im je i Ihrer Entscheidung, eine Wahrsche ir entscheiden uns typischerweise, e	ten, entweder eine Wahrscheinl weils begonnenen Quartal erhö inlichkeit oder ein Wahrscheinli in <u>Wahrscheinlichkeitsintervall</u> a	ichkeit oder ein Wahrschei ht. Bitte bewerten Sie die E chkeitsintervall anzugeben anzugeben, wenn	inlichkeitsintervall dafür anz Bedeutung der folgenden Ge :	ugeben, dass ssichtspunkte
			trifft	trifft eher trifft eher nich	t trifft nicht zu
sich	unser Geschäftsumfeld in den Jahr	en zuvor stark verändert het	zu	zu zu	0
wir	für das jeweils begonnene Quartal	eine ungewöhnliche Umsatzentv	vicklung	0 0	
erv	varten,	nach aine wichtige Information :	fablt 🔘		
wir	bei der Planung für das jeweils beg	onnene Quartal besonders vorsi	chtig sind.	0 0	0
	[	Zurück Weiter S	Speichern (ohne Abschicken)		
Zur Erinnerung:	frage Erwartungen	7usatzfrage 2	7usatzfrage 3	Allgemeine Frage	n Umfrage abschließen
Unsicherheit	Umsatzveränderungen				
6. Zu a. W	ım Schluss noch drei allgemeine Frag ie viele Wettbewerber hat Ihr Bereic	gen zu Ihrem Bereich: h (bitte geben Sie eine Zahl ein)	?		
b. W	ie viele dieser Wettbewerber beoba	chten Sie regelmäßig (bitte gebe	n Sie eine Zahl ein)?		
 c. Di	e Kunden unseres Bereichs, gemesse	n am Umsatz, sind hauptsächlic	h		
	<ul> <li>aus der eigenen Unternehmensge</li> <li>andere Unternehmen des produz</li> <li>Handelsunternehmen (inklusive C</li> <li>andere Dienstleistungsunternehn</li> <li>die öffentliche Hand</li> <li>private Endverbraucher</li> <li>Sonstige, und zwar:</li> </ul>	ruppe ierenden Gewerbes Dnlinehandel) nen			

#### Figure 1.B.3: Original meta survey questionnaire in German, part 3

**Note:** Original questionnaire from ifo's one-time online meta survey on its "uncertainty module" in German, from fall 2018.

## **1.C** Sample Creation

In this Section, we describe the construction of our baseline sample and also explain the number of observations from specific regressions in this paper. The numbers of observations that remain after each step are listed in Table 1.C.1. Our starting sample from 14 survey waves consists of 5,564 firm-wave observations.

	firm-wave obs. in sample	firm-wave obs. excluded	firms in sample	firms excluded
Original sample	5,564		1,426	
Require response to Q1				
Response to Q1 exists	5,194	370	1,378	48
Text comment				
Wrong reference time excluded	5,095	99	1,368	10
Uncertain data quality excluded	5,067	28	1,367	1
Outliers to Q1				
Outliers in Q1 responses excluded	5,045	22	1,365	2
Number of observations by firm				
At least 5 clean responses to Q1	3,094	1,951	401	964
Outliers and inconsistencies to Q2				
Inconsistent & outlier responses to Q2 excluded	2,945	149	401	0
Require responses to Q2a				
Baseline sample span: Responses to Q2a both exist	2,762	183	400	1
Lag of forecast error exists	1,520	1,242	373	27
Lag of forecast error and lag of span exist	1,489	31	367	6
Lag of span exists	1,513	1,249	372	28
Require response to Q2b				
Baseline sample forecast: Response to Q2b exists	2,778	167	400	1
Forecast error exists	1,664	1,114	389	11
Lag of forecast error exists	949	715	292	97
Lag of forecast error, and span exist	932	17	289	3

#### Table 1.C.1: Sample creation

We start by excluding 370 firm-wave observations that were lacking an answer to Q1, realized sales growth. Then we carefully read the free text comments respondents can give below each of the questions, see Figure 1.1 in the main text for the questionnaire. We exclude 99 observations for which a comment indicates that the respondent was not able to calculate sales growth rates on a quarterly basis. For example, some firms stated that they use annual growth rates instead. Moreover, we drop 28 observations for which the comment raises doubts about the validity and quality of the answer. For example, some firms were not able to state realized past growth rates and used estimates instead. Overall, we exclude 497 firm-wave observations based on missing or low-quality answers to Q1, leaving us with 5,067 firm-wave observations.

Next, we exclude 22 firm-wave observations, when the growth rate in the previous quarter elicited in Q1 lies outside the interval [-100, 100]. We set the upper bounds quite high because large (two-digit) growth rates typically appear to be deliberate responses as many text comments reveal. Firms give explanations such as "Many projects were moved into this quarter" and "Invoice of a major project." This leaves

us with 5,045 firm-wave observations. After these cleaning steps we require for the firm-wave observations of a firm to remain in the sample that it have at least five clean firm-wave observations on Q1, leaving us with 3,094 firm-wave of 401 firm observations. It is this sample that we base the calculation of the trend and turbulence dummies on.

Subsequently, we exclude, respectively, outliers and inconsistencies related to Q2. Q2outliers were excluded according to the following two criteria:

- 1. The best case and worst case sales growth rates elicited in Q2.a lie outside the intervals [-100; 300] and [-100; 100], respectively.
- 2. The expected growth rate elicited in Q2.b lies outside the interval [-100; 100].

Then we check whether respondents order the numbers in Q2 consistently, that is, as worst case < forecast < best case. We exclude firm-wave observations with the orderings worst case  $\geq$  forecast  $\leq$  best case or worst case  $\leq$  forecast  $\geq$  best case because it is unclear what the respondents had in mind with these answers. However, we kept those firm-wave observations with the inverse ordering worst case  $\geq$  forecast  $\geq$  best case and simply swap the worst case and best case numbers; we do this for 76 firm-wave observations. Most likely inverse orderings were not intended by the respondent and rather a simple clerical error. Altogether, we eliminate 149 firm-wave observations in this step.

In a final step, we eliminate those 183 firm-wave observations which do not have answers to Q2a, the best or worst case scenarios for sales growth, leaving us with our baseline sample of 2,762 of firm-wave observations for 400 firms ("baseline sample span"). For some other exercises, for which we do not need span observations but the answer to Q2.b, that is, the expected growth rate, we use a slightly bigger sample of 2,778 firm-wave observations ("baseline sample forecast").

Starting from the baseline sample span, for some further exercises we additionally need a lag of the forecast error, which leaves us with 1,520 firm-time observations. For the subsample of 1,489 observations, we also have the lag of span. For another exercise, we again start from the baseline sample span and require a lag of span. This subsample contains 1,513 firm-time observations.

Finally, we use the slightly larger baseline sample forecast to analyze forecast errors, which is possible for 1,664 firm-time observations. For some exercises, we use consecutive forecast errors. This reduces the sample to 1,329 firm-wave observations of which 380 are used as lagged "pre-sample" observations so that an effective sample

size of 949 firm-wave observations remains. For 932 of these observations we also have span.

## **1.D** Definition of Supersectors

Table 1.D.1 presents our definition of 14 supersectors. They are based on the 24 twodigit manufacturing sectors, which are defined by the WZ08 code of the German Statistical Office. This code is closely related to the European industry classification system NACE Rev. 2. The column with the number of observations by supersector refers to our baseline sample of 2,762 observations.

Supersector	Sector WZ08	Sector WZ08 name	No. of obs.
1	10, 11, 12	Food products; Beverages; Tobacco products	184
2	13, 14, 15	Textiles; Wearing apparel;	66
		Leather and related products	
3	16, 17, 31	Wood, products of wood and cork except fur-	286
		niture, articles of straw and plaiting materials;	
		Paper and paper products; Furniture	
4	18	Printing and reproduction of recorded media	191
5	19, 20, 21	Coke and refined petroleum products;	262
		Chemicals and chemical support;	
		Basic pharmaceutical products and pharma-	
		ceutical preparations	
6	22	Rubber and plastic products	228
7	23	Other non-metallic mineral products	133
8	24	Basic metals	120
9	25	Fabricated metal products, except machinery	324
		and equipment	
10	26	Computer, electronic and optical products	102
11	27	Electrical equipment	201
12	28	Machinery and equipment n.e.c.	445
13	29, 30	Motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers;	116
		Other transport equipment	
14	32, 33	Other manufacturing; Repair and installation	104
		of machinery and equipment	
All			2,762

#### Table 1.D.1: Definition of supersectors

## **1.E Detailed Summary Statistics**

In this Appendix we report summary statistics for the answers to the questions in our survey module. Table 1.E.1 pools all firm-quarter observations and reports mean, standard deviation, and key quantiles for this pooled sample. The numbers here reflect variation both in the time series and in the cross section of firms. For Table 1.E.2, we compute, for each individual firm, the time series mean and standard deviations. The panel reports mean, standard deviation and quantiles of the cross sectional distributions of firm-level statistics. The number of observations for (functions of) forecast errors naturally drops because, in order to compute firm-level forecast errors, we need to observe the expected sales growth rate and the realized sales growth rate of a firm in two consecutive quarters.

ladie 1.5.1: Jummary statistics of su	rvey an	swers a	ua derived	Variau	es, poc	nati		
Variable	Z	Mean	Std. Dev.	P10	P25	P50	P75	D90
Pooled data								
Sales growth rate in the previous quarter	2762	1.71	14.69	-15	ц	Ч	10	15
Expected sales growth rate for the current quarter	2710	2.22	10.63	-10	0	Ч	Ŋ	10
Worst case sales growth rate for the current quarter	2762	-4.75	11.82	-20	-10	42	0	ß
Best case sales growth rate for the current quarter	2762	7.36	12	0	Ч	Ŋ	10	20
Span between worst and best case forecast	2762	12.11	9.89	Ю	Ŋ	10	15	25
Forecast error	1664	22	13.98	-15	ц	0	Ŋ	13
Forecast error from random walk model	1664	.43	17.17	-14	ц	0	Ŋ	15
Forecast error from iid process	1664	.51	10.82	-9.11	-3.21	.22	4.05	10.67
Absolute forecast error	1664	8.69	10.95	0	7	Ŋ	10	20
Notes: The cleaned sample comprises 400 firms for which we l	nave at le	ast five a	nswers to que	stion 1.	Of those	, we onl	ly use th	e firm-
time observations that contain a complete answer to question	2.a, i.e. f	or which	we can const	ruct the	span bet	ween th	ne best a	ind the
worst case sales growth rate for the current quarter. This is our	baseline	sample o	f 2762 firm-qu	uarter ob	servatio	r əəs) su	Append	ix 1.C).
We do not have the answer to question 2.b for all of these firm	-quarter	observati	ons. We are le	eft with 2	2710 firm	n-quarte	er obser	vations
with an expected sales growth rate for the current quarter. F	urther nc	ote, the su	ummary statis	stics for	all varia	bles list	ed in th	e table
above are based on the baseline sample of 2762 firm-quarter ol	oservatio	ns, excep	t for the forec	ast error	variable	s. They	r are also	based
on the sample of firms with at least five answers to question	1, but we	e do not 1	require a com	plete an	swer to	question	n 2.a in	the set
of firm-time observations. Instead, to compute the firms' (abso	olute) for	ecast erro	r, we need tw	o adjace	nt obser	vations	of a firı	n. This
explains the drop in the number of observations for the (abso	lute) fore	scast erro	r. To obtain c	omparat	oility, we	e compu	ute the f	orecast
error from a random walk model and from an <i>iid</i> process, resp	ectively, l	pased on	the same sam	ple as fo	r the firr	ns' fore	cast erro	ors.

polod wariablee Janived τ 5 ć ų U ctatictic 114 Table 1 F 1. Sum

Variable	Z	Mean	Std. Dev.	P10	P25	P50	P75	P90
Data by firm								
Mean by Firm: Sales growth rate in the previous quarter	400	1.74	7.87	-6.67	-1.92	1.69	5.3	10.29
Mean by Firm: Expected sales growth rate for the current quarter	399	2.61	6.57	-3.75	6	2.25	Ŋ	6
Mean by Firm: Worst case sales growth rate for the current quarter	400	-4.48	7.4	-13	-8.31	-3.35	15	2.72
Mean by Firm: Best case sales growth rate for the current quarter	400	7.87	8.02	.81	3.41	6.67	10.61	16.67
Mean by Firm: Span between worst and best case forecast	400	12.34	7.35	5.09	7.15	10.57	15.55	22.33
Mean by Firm: Forecast error	389	23	10.48	-10	-3.57	0	3.5	8
Mean by Firm: Forecast error from random walk model	389	9.	9.74	-8.33	-3.22	0	3.8	9.67
Mean by Firm: Forecast error from iid process	389	.55	7.67	-6.8	-2.35	2	2.63	8.67
Mean by Firm: Absolute forecast error	389	9.44	9.55	2.25	4	~	11.67	17.57
Std. Dev. by Firm: Sales growth rate in the previous quarter	397	11.42	9.22	3.44	5.48	8.59	13.7	23.49
Std. Dev. by Firm: Expected sales growth rate for the current quarter	396	7.36	7.1	1.6	2.89	5.24	9.72	14.92
Std. Dev. by Firm: Worst case sales growth rate for the current quarter	397	8.09	7.13	2.12	3.18	6.28	10.8	16.33
Std. Dev. by Firm: Best case sales growth rate for the current quarter	397	8.13	7.78	2.16	3.43	5.87	10.31	15.52
Std. Dev. by Firm: Span between worst and best case forecast	397	5.85	5.05	2.04	2.87	4.67	7.5	10.61
Std. Dev. by Firm: Forecast error	338	10.17	9.79	2.29	4.04	7.46	12.73	20.21
Std. Dev. by Firm: Forecast error from random walk model	338	12.37	13.38	2.07	4.04	8.09	14.57	29.69
Std. Dev. by Firm: Forecast error from iid process	338	~	7.19	.71	2.3	4.51	9.6	16.42
Std. Dev. by Firm: Absolute forecast error	338	6.44	6.28	1.41	2.51	4.33	8.08	13.63
Notes: The cleaned sample comprises 400 firms for which we have at least	: five a	nswers 1	o question 1	. Of th	ose, we	only us	se the fii	m-time
observations that contain a complete answer to question 2.a, i.e. for which w	e can e	construct	the span be	tween th	ne best a	and the	worst ca	se sales
growth rate for the current quarter. This is our baseline sample of 2762 firm-q	uarter	observat	ions (see App	pendix 1	.C). We	do not l	nave the	answer
to question 2.b for all of these firm-quarter observations. We are left with 2710	firm-qı	uarter ob	servations w	ith an ey	spected s	sales grc	wth rate	for the
current quarter. Moreover, some firms have trequently answered question 1, 1	out not	question	n 2.a. As a re	sult, the	time se	ries mea	an and si	candard
deviations are based on fewer than five observations for some firms. For thre	se turm	s, we do	not compute	the sta	ndard d	eviation	, since fo	or these
firms we have only one complete answer to question 2.a. This is the reason for t	he diff	erence be	tween the 40	U tirms 1	or which	h we cor	npute th	e mean,
and 39/ firms for which we compute the standard deviation. Further note, the standard deviation.	summa	ry statisi	TCS FOT ALL VAL	lables II	sted in ti	ne table	above ar	e pased
on the baseline sample of 2/62 firm-quarter observations, except for the foreca	st erroi	variable	s. They are a	Iso base	d on the	sample	of firms	with at
least nve answers to question 1, but we do not require a complete answer to que firms' (cheolitica) forecast arms we mod two adjacent cheory.	stion 2 lava sid	.a in the	dron in the n	ne obser	vations.	instead	, to comp	oure rne
fitties (absolute) totecast ettot, we tiecu two aujacetit ouset vations of a minit, at forecast error. To facilitate comparability we compute the forecast error from a	rando rando	יוווי פוווש. m walk ו	model and fro	v iouiuu m an iii	v ipeuu li	autoune	ur une (ur Hivelv. h	ased on
the smaller sample of the firms' forecast errors.	זמוימי	·	ידי איזיא דיא	1110 11TC	, L1	~~~~~~ (o	~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~	מטרע יוו

Table 1.E.2: Summary statistics of survey answers and derived variables, by firm

## 1.F Uncertainty and Change by Firm Characteristics

In this Section we show that the V-shaped relationship between sales growth and subjective uncertainty holds separately, and in a quantitatively similar manner, for all firm-level subgroups: the four firm size groups, the four turbulence groups, and the three growth trend groups.



Figure 1.F.1: Subjective uncertainty and past sales growth by firm size

**Notes:** Relationship between subjective uncertainty (span) and sales growth in the previous quarter for four different firm size groups based on their number of employees: tiny, small, medium, and large firms. Scatter points and non-parametric kernel regression line of degree zero for the full sample of firm-time observations in blue, and for the subsample of the size group in red.



**Figure 1.F.2:** Subjective uncertainty and past sales growth by growth trend

**Notes:** Relationship between subjective uncertainty (span) and sales growth in the previous quarter for three different groups of firms that are defined based on their growth trend (mean of a firms' sales growth). Scatter points and non-parametric kernel regression line of degree zero for the full sample of firm-time observations in blue, and for the subsample of the trend group in red.



Figure 1.F.3: Subjective uncertainty and past sales growth by turbulence

**Notes:** Relationship between subjective uncertainty (span) and sales growth in the previous quarter for four different groups of firms that are defined based on their turbulence of sales growth (standard deviation of a firms' sales growth). Scatter points and non-parametric kernel regression line of degree zero for the full sample of firm-time observations in blue, and for the subsample of the turbulence group in red.

## **1.G Robustness of Uncertainty and Change in the Time** Series

In order to test the robustness of our results, we replicate the regressions in Table 1.5 with the relationship between subjective uncertainty and past sales growth for two different samples.

In Table 1.G.1 we use a smaller sample, for which sales growth rates are not in the interval (-100,100), but in the interval (-15,15). This is the interdecile range of sales growth as depicted in table 1.E.1. The number of observations reduces from 2,762 to 2,316. Table 1.G.2 presents estimation results for a larger sample: unlike in the baseline sample, we do not require firms to have five observations with a sales growth rates, but we include all firms with at least two of such observations. This increases the sample from 2,762 to 4,120 observations. Our results are robust to these alternative sample definitions.

					•	1	)	
	(1) POLS	(2) POLS	(3) POLS	(4) POLS	(5) POLS	(9)	(7) FE	(8) POLS
Sales growth rate in the previous quarter	-0.0801*** (0.0269)							
Negative sales growth rate in the previous quarter		-0.582*** (0.0593)	-0.556*** (0.0577)	-0.456*** (0.0586)	-0.391*** (0.0588)	-0.308*** (0.0570)	-0.284*** (0.0424)	-0.284*** (0.0608)
Positive sales growth rate in the previous quarter		0.383***	0.367***	0.375***	0.248***	0.265***	0.202***	0.259***
Dummy small firms		(0.0539)	(0.0535) -2.838	(0.0538)	(0.0502)	(0.0474) -2.254	(0.0392)	(0.0478) -2.524*
Dummy medium eized firms			(1.959) _3 999**			(1.496) -2 497*		(1.468) _2 739*
Dummy large firms			(1.927) 5 421***			(1.480) (1.480) -3.663**		(1.481) (1.481) -3 001 ***
Currently range marine			(1.963)			(1.507)		(1.537)
Dummy 'bad' sales growth trend			~	$3.947^{***}$		2.666***		$2.670^{***}$
Dummy 'good' sales growth trend				(0.884) 0.657		(0.839) -0.216		(0.839) -0.650
				(0.640)		(0.641)		(0.664)
Dummy medium low turbulence					$1.467^{***}$	$1.262^{**}$		$1.200^{**}$
Dummy medium high turbulence					$(0.558)$ $4.876^{***}$	(0.567) $4.380^{***}$		$(0.608)$ 4 $287^{***}$
					(0.689)	(0.693)		(0.687)
Dummy high turbulence					7.233***	6.512***		$6.104^{***}$
Constant	10 58***	***675 7	11 63***	6 888**	(0.952) 5 841***	(0.934) 8 388***	8 984***	(0.940) 7 7 7 1 ***
	(0.315)	(0.423)	(1.961)	(0.392)	(0.489)	(1.514)	(0.228)	(1.481)
Time-sector dummies								YES
No. of observations	2316	2316	2316	2316	2316	2316	2316	2316
No. of firms	394	394	394	394	394	394	394	394
No. of parameters (excl. intercept)	1	7	Ŋ	4	IJ	10	1	199
R-squared	0.0060	0.078	0.10	0.11	0.18	0.21	0.63	0.28
<b>Notes:</b> Results from pooled ordinary least squares (1) growth with a break at zero in columns 2 to 8, contre- errors in parentheses. clustered by firm. * $p < 0.10$ . **	POLS) and f olling for fix p < 0.05, ***	ixed effect ( ed firm chai p < 0.01.	(FE) regress racteristics.	ions. Piece Sales grow	vise linear th rates are	regressions in the inter	of span on val (-15,15).	past sales Standard
	1 J	<b>.</b>						

Table 1.G.1: Robustness sales growth in interval (-15,15): subjective uncertainty and past sales growth

	)	Ì		5	4	)		
	(1) POLS	(2) POLS	(3) POLS	(4) POLS	(5) POLS	STOd (9)	(7) FE	(8) POLS
Sales growth rate in the previous quarter	-0.0312 (0.0223)							
Negative sales growth rate in the previous quarter		-0.506*** (0.0450)	-0.480*** (0.0440)	-0.466*** (0.0475)	-0.400*** (0.0484)	-0.363*** (0.0504)	-0.290*** (0.0601)	$-0.361^{***}$
Positive sales growth rate in the previous quarter		0.292***	0.278***	0.294***	$0.215^{***}$	$0.216^{***}$	$0.157^{***}$	$0.215^{***}$
Dummy small firms		(0.0253)	(0.0245) -3.443*	(0.0259)	(0.0268)	(0.0258) -2.806	(0.0255)	(0.0261) -2.427
			(2.091)			(1.895)		(1.671)
Dummy medium sized firms			-5.922*** (2.062)			$-5.018^{***}$ (1.867)		$-4.626^{***}$ (1.689)
Dummy large firms			-6.898***			-5.821***		-5.527***
Dummy 'bad' sales growth trend			(2.101)	2.320***		(1.890) $1.469^{**}$		(1.735) $1.345^{*}$
				(0.740)		(0.670)		(0.695)
Dummy 'good' sales growth trend				0.452		0.00528		-0.166
Dummy medium low turbulence				(#00.0)	0.344	0.282		0.455
					(0.472)	(0.463)		(0.473)
Dummy meanum nigh turbulence					3.320 (0 E01)	3.048 (0 =72)		3.206 C
Dummy high turbulence					(0.302) 5.395***	(5720) 4.826***		(coc.n) 4.745***
		***077		*** 0 1	(0.768)	(0.715)	***************************************	(0.724)
Constant	12.37 (0.292)	8.410 (0.325)	13.93 (2.077)	7.948 (0.325)	7.097 (0.378)	(1.869)	(0.375)	11.40 (2.595)
Time-sector dummies					·			YES
No. of observations	4120	4120	4120	4120	4120	4120	4120	4120
No. of firms	940	940	940	940	940	940	940	940
No. of parameters (excl. intercept)	1	7	Ŋ	4	Ŋ	10	1	205
R-squared	0.0023	0.20	0.23	0.21	0.24	0.26	0.61	0.31
<b>Notes:</b> Results from pooled ordinary least squares (a growth with a break at zero in columns 2 to 8, control sales growth rates. Sales growth rates are in the inter $p < 0.01$ .	POLS) and lling for fixe rval (-100,1	fixed effect ed firm char 00). Standaı	(FE) regres acteristics. ] cd errors in	sions. Piece Larger samp parentheses	wise linear ble of firms t , clustered [	regressions that reported by firm. * p	of span on 1 at least tw < 0.10, ** p	past sales o realized < 0.05, ***

Table 1.G.2: Robustness larger sample: subjective uncertainty and past sales growth

## **1.H** List of Firm-Level Controls

The "**additional firm controls**" include the following variables from the ifo Business Survey:

- **Capacity utilization**: capacity utilization at the time of the survey, between 30% and 100% in pre-determined bins provided in the questionnaire; for a capacity utilization of more than 100% a free text answer is possible (in the sample, the maximum reported capacity utilization is 120%).
- **State of business**: state of business at the time of survey, coded between 0 and 100.
- State of business dummies: state of business at the time of survey, reported on a three-point scale. The options are "good", "satisfactory", or "bad". We define two dummies, for a good and a bad state of business.
- Orders dummies: order book level at the time of the survey, reported on a threepoint scale. The options are "relatively high", "sufficient (for the season)", or "too low". We define two dummies, for a relatively high and a too low order book level.
- **Stock of inventory dummies**: Stock of inventories at the time of the survey, reported on a four-point scale. The options are "too big", "sufficient (for the season)", "too small", or "no stock-keeping". We define three dummies, for a too big and a too small stock of inventory, and for the case of no stock-keeping.
- **Production change dummies**: Change in production in the previous month, reported on a four-point scale. The options are "increased", "roughly unchanged", "decreased", or "no production". We define three dummies, for an increased and a decreased production, and for the case of no production.
- **Demand change dummies**: Change of the demand for a certain product of the firm in the previous month, reported on a three-point scale. The options are "improved", "unchanged", or "deteriorated". We define two dummies, for improved and deteriorated demand.
- Orders change dummies: Change of the order book level in the previous month, reported on a three-point scale. The options are "increased", "roughly unchanged", or "decreased". We define two dummies, for the cases of increased and decreased order book levels.

- **Price change dummies**: Change of the price for a certain product of the firm in the previous month, reported on a three-point scale. The options are "increased", "unchanged", or "decreased". We define two dummies, for the cases of increased and decreased prices.
- **Credit appraisal dummies**: Willingness of banks to give credits to firms at the time of the survey, reported on a three-point scale. The options are "accommodating", "normal", or "restrictive". We define two dummies, for the cases of accommodating and restrictive prices.
- Capacity utilization change dummies: evaluation of the remaining technical capacity at the time of the survey, given the current order book level and expected new orders in the next 12 months, reported on a three-point scale. The options are "more than sufficient", "sufficient", or "not sufficient". We define two dummies, for the cases of a more than sufficient and an insufficient remaining technical capacity.
- **Constraints to production dummies**: firms report if their domestic production activity is constraint at the time of the survey. The answer options are "yes" or "no". We define one dummy for the case that domestic production constraints are prevalent.

## Chapter 2

# Uncertainty is More Than Risk – Survey Evidence on Knightian and Bayesian Firms<sup>\*</sup>

<sup>\*</sup> This chapter is based on joint work with Kai Carstensen, Rüdiger Bachmann, and Martin Schneider.

### 2.1 Introduction

There has been a lot of recent progress in measuring subjective beliefs of decision makers in firms. A number of surveys now elicit *quantitative* information about firms' perception of the future. Such information includes not only forecasts of firm outcomes such as sales or profits, but also measures of firm-level subjective uncertainty. However, quantitative questions about uncertainty in firm surveys usually ask for probabilities, much like those in household surveys. As a result, uncertainty is identified with risk: firms are assumed to express their views of the future in terms of probabilities, as would be natural for a textbook Bayesian decision maker.

This paper takes a new approach to eliciting firms' perception of uncertainty. We ask a simple question: what is the likelihood of a sales increase? However, rather than forcing firms to submit a single probability, we give them the option of answering with a probability *interval*. While Bayesian decision makers are thus free to report their subjective probability, others who may not feel confident to commit to a single probability can express that lack of confidence by responding with an interval – we refer to such responses as *Knightian*. Our data come from a new module in an established survey of German manufacturing firms that is known for high quality answers from top level management; we work with a five-year panel from 2013-2017.

Our main result is that Knightian perception of the future is prevalent among firms: in our five-year sample, 76% of firms choose a probability interval at least once. We further establish three sets of stylized facts about Knightian responses. First, firms report that Knightian responses are motivated by a lack of clarity about the future, and this motivation is consistent with other forecasts they make. Second, we document frequent switching between Knightian and Bayesian responses that reflects both idiosyncratic and aggregate shocks. In particular, the share of Knightian responses spikes up sharply during the Greek crisis in 2015, along with credit spreads. Finally, we show that Knightian responses do not reflect a lack of sophistication: they are also prevalent among large firms, as well as firms that use statistical analysis as a routine component of their planning process. Moreover, while we confirm existing evidence on miscalibration of firms' beliefs, we find that there is little difference between Bayesian and Knightian response on that score.

We work with data from the ifo Institute, a leading German research institute that is heavily involved in business cycle forecasting. The ifo Business Survey was introduced in 1949 and now serves as a key input to the EU-harmonized business survey. In 2012, we proposed a new quarterly survey module on uncertainty. After initial testing in 2012, the module has been in the field since early 2013, with participation stable at 300-400 firms per wave. In addition, ifo has occasionally performed metasurveys to assess data quality and query firms for their motivation and methods when answering survey questions. We thus know that the responder within a firm changes infrequently and typically uses the results from routine quantitative planning procedures when filling out the questionnaire. We also draw on a 2018 meta-survey on uncertainty that deals specifically with Knightian responses.

We characterize responses both at the extensive margin – Bayesian or Knightian – and at the intensive margin, the actual probability forecasts. At the extensive margin, Knightian responses are a tool used by managers to express uncertainty in particular quarters; they do not reflect a constant trait of a firm. Indeed, the share of Knightian responses in a given quarter fluctuates between 20% and 35% over our sample, with a mean of 28%. It is much smaller than the 76% share of *ever-Knightian* firms: those that give a Knightian response at least once in our sample. The panel dimension of our data is thus key to assessing the propensity to respond in a Knightian fashion. Switching between responses is such that firms occasionally enter persistent Knightian spells: the typical firm switches to a Knightian response roughly once every 5 quarters, and it remains Knightian for 1.8 quarters on average; the probability of remaining Knightian is a little less than one half.

The distribution of both probabilities in Bayesian responses and probability intervals in Knightian responses shows large heterogeneity over time and across firms. Bayesian responses are close to uniformly distributed across the interval zero one – as one might expect when managers respond to high frequency information about their environment. The average probability interval in a Knightian response has a maximum probability that is also uniform, and an average width of 20pp. Average width varies little with the location of the interval, which we measure by the midpoint probability. This result shows that Knightian behavior is prevalent even among managers who are optimistic about sales growth. At the same time, the average Knightian interval has a midpoint about 10pp below the average Bayesian point probability. In this sense, Knightian responses are unconditionally correlated with pessimism about the future.

Why do managers give Knightian responses? We answer this question in two steps. We first explore firms' self-assessment: the fall 2018 meta-survey asks firms to indicate the importance of different candidate reasons for Knightian responses. The most important reason firms report is that business is expected to be, or has recently been "unusual". Remarkably, these reasons are cited equally frequently by *always-Bayesian* firms that have never chosen a probability in our sample. The propensity to engage in Knightian reasoning is thus likely to be positive even among this group. Two other

candidate reasons are a lack of information and cautious planning. Both are considered less important by the average firm – they are cited by only 40% – but are emphasized especially by *often-Knightian* firms – those with a particularly high in-sample share of Knightian responses.

If Knightian responses are part of a thought-out planning process, as firms' self-assessment suggests, they should be systematically related to other numbers used in planning. Our second step in exploring managers' motivation thus draws on another part of the survey that asks firms for a forecast of one-quarter-ahead sales growth, along with best and worst case scenarios. We show that Knightian responses are more frequent when their forecast is close to zero and when the best and worst case scenarios bracket zero – that is, when one would expect a lack of clarity about the event "sales increase". At the same time, the share of Knightian responses is higher when the manager's outlook on the future is more pessimistic, as measured for example by its forecast. This is also plausible if managers become more cautious in bad times. We conclude that firms' self-assessment in the 2018 meta-survey fits well with their actual forecasting practice observed in earlier years.

Are Knightian responses given by unsophisticated decision-makers who do not understand probabilities? Or do they come from managers who are good with numbers, but simply choose to express uncertainty differently? We again provide a two-step answer: we begin with self-assessment and then study forecasting performance. The meta-survey asks firms a number of questions about their planning process. The main takeaway is that there is no relationship between the frequency of Knightian responses and firms' planning tools. In particular, roughly equal shares of ever-Knightian and always-Bayesian firms engage in (i) routine quantitative planning (about 80%), (ii) statistical analysis (57%) and (iii) scenario analysis (67%). The latter is a popular business planning approach that explores scenarios around a baseline forecast, without necessarily attaching probabilities; a key example is stress testing in banks.

What about actual forecasting performance? We show that Knightian responses are about as bad as Bayesian responses in predicting the event of a sales increase. A standard performance measure for Bayesian forecasters is the difference between the probability forecast of an event and its conditional empirical frequency. Our Bayesian responses reflect the familiar property of "miscalibration due to overprecision": managers who submit small (large) probabilities underpredict (overpredict) the occurrence of the event. Knightian responses share this property: Knightian midpoint probabilities are miscalibrated to essentially the same extent as Bayesian responses. Since Knightian responses consist of intervals, we also consider a second measure of miscalibration: a Knightian forecasters is well-calibrated if the conditional empirical frequency of the event falls inside the interval. According to this weaker criterion, only a moderate share of Knightian responses that provide fairly high intervals are in fact well calibrated.

How does Knightian reasoning vary over time? We show there is both a sizeable aggregate component and a large idiosyncratic component. We define the aggregate component as the quarterly Knightian response share. Its movement can be divided into three phases. The Knightian share declines during the recovery from the European crisis in 2013 and late 2014, then spikes up sharply during the Greek crisis in the first half of 2015, and finally declines again as the recovery continues. In fact, the Knightian share closely tracks movements in the spread between Greek and German government bonds, a proxy for macroeconomic risk in the Eurozone during this time period. This finding lines up well with macro-finance models of Knightian uncertainty that predict joint movements in perceived Knightian uncertainty and measured risk premia, such as those present in credit spreads.<sup>1</sup>

Idiosyncratic variation in Knightian uncertainty depends on firm characteristics in a limited way. We show that it is quite difficult to predict when firms switch from Bayesian to Knightian responses using fixed characteristics. Regardless of whether firms are large or small and what sector they are in, they enter a Knightian spell about once every five quarters. This result underscores that Knightian responses do not reflect a fixed trait of a firm, but are instead a tool used by its managers at certain times when they lack clarity about the future. At the same time, we do see systematic differences across firms in the duration of Knightian spells. We show in particular that small firms, firms who do not export and firms that grow more slowly experience more persistent Knightian spells, and hence give Knightian responses overall more frequently. This finding squares well with our finding on motivation above: often-Knightian firms cite "caution" as a particularly important reason for Knightian responses.

The global nature of the macro event in our sample – the Greek crisis – creates an interesting connection between idiosyncratic and aggregate dynamics. Indeed, we would expect that small firms and in particular those who do not export should be less affected by news about Greece than large exporting firms. We find that this is indeed the case: we show in an accounting exercise that the increase of the Knightian response share in 2015 is driven mostly by firms *entering* Knightian spells. Moreover, the Knightian share spikes much more strongly in 2015 among large firms as well as exporters, two groups that unconditionally exhibit below average Knightian shares.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Knightian uncertainty has been found to help account for asset pricing (Epstein and Wang, 1994), banking crises (Caballero and Simsek, 2013), business cycles (Ilut and Schneider, 2014) and the joint determination of output, firm financing and risk premia (Bianchi et al., 2017).

By contrast, the Knightian share for small firms rises with a delay and peaks only in 2016. In fact, it comoves much more strongly with the spread on investment grade debt – a measure of funding cost for firms – than with the spread between Greek and German bonds. In line with our general theme, Knightian responses are a tool to express uncertainty and hence respond to what source of uncertainty firms care about most.

Our paper is related to several strands of literature. First, we contribute to the growing body of work on quantitative (as opposed to categorical) survey measures of uncertainty. Following the early contribution of Juster (1966), most of the literature has focused on households. There are now many household surveys that measure uncertainty, see for example papers based on the Health and Retirement Study (Juster and Suzman, 1995; Hurd and McGarry, 2002), the Bank of Italy's Survey of Household Income and Wealth (Guiso et al., 1992, 2002), the Survey of Economic Expectations (Dominitz and Manski, 1997), the Michigan Survey of Consumers (Dominitz and Manski, 2004) and the New York Fed's Survey of Consumer Expectations (Armantier et al., 2015). However, most uncertainty-related questions attempt to elicit probabilistic beliefs.

A smaller literature studies survey measures of uncertainty in firms. Guiso and Parigi (1999) pioneered this line of research using data from the Bank of Italy (see also Bontempi et al., 2010); their focus was on the effect of sales growth uncertainty on investment. Ben-David et al. (2013) and Gennaioli et al. (2016) investigate executives' stock return expectations while Coibion et al. (2018b) are interested in uncertainty perceived about aggregate outcomes. Bloom et al. (2017) designed a new survey of US firms that measures sales growth uncertainty (see also Altig et al., 2019). All of these studies identify uncertainty with risk: they construct measures of uncertainty from elicited probabilities. Our earlier paper Bachmann et al. (2018) proposed an alternative measure based on best and worst case scenario forecasts that makes sense for both Bayesian and Knightian respondents. What is new in the present paper is that we use probability forecasts and explicitly distinguish Bayesian from Knightian responses.

Frank Knight introduced the distinction between risk and what is now called Knightian uncertainty (or "ambiguity") in his 1921 book, "Risk, Uncertainty, and Profit". A decision-theoretic literature on ambiguity began with Ellsberg (1961), who showed that the distinction between risk and ambiguity is behaviorally meaningful. Gilboa and Schmeidler (1989) proposed a popular axiomatic model of decision making that represents utility using a convex set of probabilities. There have been some attempts to measure attitude towards Knightian uncertainty in the lab or in surveys using a revealed preference approach closely tied to theory – typically subjects are asked how they rank bets on uncertain events (for example, Asparouhova et al. 2015, Dimmock et al. 2016). In this paper, we instead directly ask survey respondents to provide probability intervals or single probabilities. We therefore do not take a stand on a particular model of decision making – what we are interested in is only in whether people think in terms of probabilities or not.

Our approach is thus closer to a small literature that elicits imprecise probabilities in household surveys, pioneered by Manski and Molinari (2010). The typical survey design uses a multi-part question: after first asking for the probability of an event, a follow up question allows respondents who are not sure about their answer to specify a probability interval. This approach has been used to measure uncertainty about schooling (Giustinelli and Pavoni, 2017), health outcomes (Giustinelli et al., 2019) or households' financial situation (Delavande et al., 2019). Our survey design is different since we ask every respondent directly about a probability or probability interval. Moreover, our data set is unique in that it comes from a business survey and consists of a multi-year panel of probability interval responses that we can use to study the dynamics of Knightian responses and their relationship to macroeconomic events.

The rest of the paper is structured as follows. Section 2.2 introduces our data and provides a first set of summary statistics about Knightian responses. Section 2.3 reports results from firms' self-assessment that speak to both motivation and sophistication and compares them to their forecast and forecasting performance. Finally, Section 2.4 studies the aggregate and idiosyncratic movements in Knightian responses.

## 2.2 Data

Our data come from an "uncertainty module" for manufacturing firms in the ifo Business Survey, designed in 2012 and first described in Bachmann et al. (2018).<sup>2</sup> The main ifo survey has been run in Germany since 1949; it provides input for a leading indicator of the German business cycle, the ifo Business Climate Index. Moreover, the ifo Business Survey elicits data that feed into the European Economic Sentiment Indicator published by the European Commission. The uncertainty module is administered at the beginning of every quarter. In addition, in fall 2018, a one-time meta-survey asked firms how they collect information and arrive at the views expressed in our uncertainty module.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The raw data can be found under IBS-IND (2017).

The uncertainty module has been in the field every quarter since 2013, the current sample consists of 19 survey waves spanning 2013:Q2 through 2017:Q4. Participation has been stable at 300-400 firms per wave; more than 500 firms participated in the meta-survey. Throughout this paper, "firm" refers to either a stand-alone business or a division of a large conglomerate. Survey questions ask about uncertainty in sales growth. The German term used in the questionnaire, "Umsatz", is a well-defined technical term in profit and loss accounting, translated into English as "sales" or "total revenue." It is commonly used as an accounting statistic at the levels of both a division and an entire firm.

Our earlier paper (Bachmann et al., 2018) contains more detailed information about survey design, representativeness and quality of the responses. We emphasize in particular that (i) the identity of the responder within a given firm changes infrequently, (ii) the typical responder holds a leading position in their firm, and (iii) responses typically incorporate results from routine quantitative planning. These findings are robust to firm size – they hold, in particular, also for large firms (or divisions).<sup>3</sup> Finally, questions in the main survey that ask about realized outcomes (such as production) explicitly ask firms to ignore seasonal fluctuations. Consistent with this, we observe only negligible seasonal effects in our data.

### 2.2.1 The Subjective Likelihood of a Sales Increase

Figure 2.1 displays an excerpt from the questionnaire for April 2014 in the original German. In English, the question reads:

3. You can either answer with a probability or a probability interval:

(a) how do you assess the probability (in percentage terms) that your sales will increase in the second quarter of 2014?

- Probability is \_\_\_\_% (please insert integers)
- *Probability lies between* \_\_\_\_% *and* \_\_\_\_% *(please insert integers)*
- don't know

Parts (b) and (c) of the question are structured and phrased identically, except that the word "increase" is replaced by "stay the same" and "decrease", respectively. The questionnaire form contains boxes for respondents to provide their numerical answers. It also features a third option "don't know" ("weiss nicht" in German); it is checked in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The median firm in our sample has 100 employees, while the 75th percentile is at 250.

the screenshot. A final box underneath part (c) allows firms to provide free-form text comments ("Anmerkungen").

Figure 2.1: Original survey questionnaire in German



**Notes:** Original questionnaire from ifo's online module on subjective uncertainty in German; screenshot from April 2014.

To clarify the timing, consider a firm responding in early April 2014, that is, at the beginning of 2014:Q2. The probability, or probability interval, we ask for is then about the percentage change in sales between 2014:Q1 and 2014:Q2. In other words, we elicit subjective beliefs about the current quarter at the beginning of that quarter, at a point in time when sales of the previous quarter are already known.

Our baseline sample consists of 569 firms and 4646 firm-quarter observations from 19 quarters. It is derived from the raw data in two steps. First, we check for consistency of answers, such as whether the upper bound of the probability interval is above its lower bound and percentages are between 0 and 100. We also use text comments to drop firms unwilling or unable to provide sensible numerical answers. Second, some of our analysis requires that an individual firm shows up in the panel sufficiently often. We thus restrict attention to firms that respond at least five times.

#### 2.2.2 Summary Statistics: The Prevalence of Knightian Responses

We divide responses about the likelihood of a sales increases into three groups: Bayesian, Knightian and Certain. Our survey asks about a particular event, a sales increase. Discussing differences in attitudes towards uncertainty makes sense only for those firms that actually perceive uncertainty about the event. We thus separately consider *certain* responses that are equal to zero or one. The remaining *uncertain* responses are then divided into *Bayesian* responses that consist of a single probability and *Knightian* responses that consist of a probability interval. The *Knightian share* is the ratio of Knightian to uncertain responses.

In our pooled sample of over 4500 firm-quarter observations, the Knightian share among uncertain firms is 28%. Indeed, the 82% uncertain responses consist of 59% Bayesian and 23% Knightian responses. The Knightian share varies over time, but quarterly shares remain between 20% and 35% – we return to this variation in Section

2.4.2 below. The share of certain responses in the pooled sample is 18%. Certainty is more prevalent when the outlook for sales is bad: in about 13% of firm quarters, management believed that there is no chance of a sales increase, whereas in 5% of firm quarters they were sure an increase would occur.

Is a Knightian response a trait of a small share of firms, or is it instead a choice sometimes made in most firms? The panel dimension of our data allows us to measure how many firms have *ever* made use of the probability interval option in our sample. We define an *ever-Knightian* firm as one that provides a Knightian response at least once. An *always-Bayesian* firm never gives a Knightian response. For some of the results below we further split ever-Knightians into two subsets by the frequency of Knightian responses: *sometimes-Knightians* are ever-Knightians with a frequency less than or equal to the median – which is equal to one third –, whereas *often-Knightians* are those with a frequency above the median.

For the 422 firms in our sample that provided at least five responses, the share of ever-Knightian firms is 76%. In other words, the overwhelming majority of firms makes use of the probability interval option at least once. The large difference between the share of ever-Knightian firms and the quarterly Knightian response share underscores the importance of the panel dimension to assess the incidence of Knightian attitudes: any single snapshot quarter would severely underestimate the propensity to give Knightian responses. Since the identity of the decision maker who fills out the questionnaire changes infrequently, we can conclude that most decision makers in firms rely on Knightian responses to express uncertainty.

The discrepancy between shares of ever-Knightian firms and Knightian responses also implies that there must be substantial switching between responses – firms switch back and forth between the two modes of expressing uncertainty. Table 2.1 describes churn with a simple empirical transition matrix. Here we restrict attention to the subsample of firm-quarters such that we observe the firm to be uncertain also in the subsequent quarter. Unconditional moments from this subsample are essentially the same as for the main sample, and the transition to certainty is close to independent.

The key property of the transition matrix is that firms occasionally enter persistent *Knightian spells*. Indeed, the probability of switching from a Bayesian to a Knightian response is .19; it is below the unconditional probability of a Knightian response under the stationary distribution of .26. At the same time, the probability of remaining Knightian for one more period is .45. Under the stationary distribution, firms spend on average one out of every four quarters as Knightians, the typical firm enters a Knightian spell about once every five quarters, and the duration of the typical spell is 1.8 quarters.

	Knightian in t	Bayesian in t
Knightian in t-1	$\underset{(0.03)}{0.45}$	0.55 (0.03)
Bayesian in t-1	$\underset{(0.01)}{0.19}$	$\underset{(0.01)}{0.81}$

Table 2.1: Tr	ansition matrix	t for Knigł	ntian and Bay	vesian responses
---------------	-----------------	-------------	---------------	------------------

**Notes:** Transition matrix for Knightian and Bayesian responses between two subsequent quarters, based on 1790 firm-time observations.

Table 2.2 provides summary statistics of probabilities submitted by firms. The distribution of probabilities in Bayesian responses is basically uniform, with a mean of .5. For Knightian responses, we use the midpoint of the probability interval as a measure of location. The average interval is centered around .39. The distribution of midpoints is still fairly close to uniform, although it is shifted to the left: the typical Knightian interval reflects more pessimism than the typical (degenerate) Bayesian interval.

Table 2.2: Summary statistics for Bayesian and Knightian probabilities

		Mean	SE(Mean)	P10	P25	P50	P75	P90
Bayesian	probability	0.50	0.01	0.10	0.25	0.50	0.75	0.90
Knightian	midpoint probability	0.39	0.01	0.05	0.13	0.35	0.60	0.80
-	minimum probability	0.30	0.01	0.00	0.05	0.25	0.50	0.70
	maximum probability	0.47	0.01	0.10	0.20	0.50	0.70	0.90

**Notes:** We define the Knightian midpoint probability as the midpoint between the upper and lower bound of the probability interval of a Knightian response. We label these bounds minimum and maximum probability.

The distribution of the maximum probability in Knightian responses, that is, the upper bound of the probability interval, is very similar to that of the Bayesian probabilities. By contrast, the density of the minimum probabilities is shifted to the left by roughly 20pp; the mean width of a probability interval is 17pp. At the intensive margin, that is, interval width, uncertainty expressed via Knightian responses is therefore on average similar regardless of the location of the interval, as captured for example by the midpoint.

### 2.3 Why Knightian Responses?

In this section, we characterize the circumstances under which firms choose Knightian responses. We begin with firms' self-assessment of their planning process as well as

their choice of response when uncertain. We then check how Knightian responses relate to other statistics relevant for planning elicited by the survey, including forecasts and best and worst case scenarios. Finally, we compare the calibration of Knightian and Bayesian responses.

The main takeaway is that there is no relationship between the frequency of Knightian responses and firms' planning tools: Knightian responses occur also in firms that have a sophisticated sales planning procedure in place. Knightian responses are, however, prevalent in firms where business is expected to be, or has recently been "unusual". Knightian responses also correspond in meaningful ways to other relevant planning statistics: they are more frequent when firms' sales forecast is close to zero, and when their best and worst case sales growth scenarios bracket zero growth. Finally, we find that Bayesian and Knightian responses reflect similarly miscalibrated beliefs.

#### 2.3.1 How Firms View Their Survey Responses

Results in this section rely on the one-time meta-survey conducted in the fall of 2018. We can match 221 of these firms to respondents of earlier waves; due to item nonresponse the usable number of observations varies slightly across questions. The questionnaire in the original German is shown in Appendix 2.A. We describe the relevant questions in the text below.

**Quantitative Planning Tools and Knightian Responses.** We first check whether the frequency of Knightian responses is explained by the nature of firms' planning process. For example, do some firms provide Knightian responses because they take a less sophisticated or more informal approach to planning? We use a meta-survey question that elicits what type of information firms use when they fill out our survey questions about forecasting in the quarterly questionnaire. On average, 81% of firms state that they are guided by numbers the firm has already developed in house as part of a "regular quantitative planning process". Moreover, that share is remarkably stable across firms with different Knightian response shares: it is 78% for always-Bayesians, 82% for sometimes-Knightians, and 82% for often-Knightians.

We further explore whether the similarity between firms with different Knightian response shares extends to the use of specific planning tools. The meta-survey asks those firms that report the use of quantitative planning tools follow-up questions about the importance of prominent approaches. In particular, the question elicits the importance of statistical analysis. It also asks about the use of scenario analysis, that is, thinking about the future in terms of a few concrete, and possibly fairly detailed scenarios without necessarily attaching probabilities. A well-known example of scenario analysis is bank stress testing: banks are asked to forecast losses given a detailed set of contingencies, but they are not asked to assign probabilities to those contingencies.

Concretely, the follow-up question is:

For the typical survey answer, how important were results from

- (i) a scenario analysis around a baseline forecast
- (ii) statistical analysis
- (iii) other (please name).

For each of the options (i)-(iii), firms were asked to rate importance on a four point scale: not important, less important, important or very important. Firms who chose case (iii) were further given the option to list an alternative approach as a free text comment. Results are presented in Fig. 2.1.

Scenario analysis is very important or important for almost a two thirds majority of all firms, as shown in the left panel of the figure. This is in line with previous findings that scenario analysis is common in German businesses.<sup>4</sup> Again, distinguishing between different subgroups of firms reveals remarkable similarity: scenario analysis is at least important for 61% of always-Bayesians, 62% of sometimes-Knightians, and 67% of often-Knightians.

The results for statistical analysis are shown in the right panel of Fig. 2.1. On average 57% of all firms indicate that statistical analysis is important or very important for their planning process. Again, heterogeneity between always-Bayesian and ever-Knightian firms is small. Statistical analysis is considered to be at least important by 59% of always-Bayesians, 49% of sometimes-Knightians and 64% of often-Knightians. We conclude that differences in planning technology do not push firms towards either a probability value or a probability interval. In particular, we do not find evidence for the view that the choice of a probability interval simply reflects lack of sophistication in firms' quantitative planning.

**Motivation for Knightian Responses.** Why would a firm prefer a probability interval over a single probability value when expressing uncertainty about a sales increase? The meta-survey includes the following direct question:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Mietzner (2009) provides an overview of the literature on strategic planning in German firms. In many industries, the majority of firms engage in some sort of scenario analysis.



#### **Figure 2.1:** Importance of scenario analysis and statistical analysis

**Notes:** Data from fall 2018 meta-survey. Multiple choice questions elicit importance of scenario analysis (result in left panel) and statistical analysis (right panel); candidate answers are shown along horizontal axis. Height of colored bars measures share of firms that chose each importance level, out of total of all firms of the same type. Colors indicate firm types: *Always-Bayesian* = never gave a Knightian response (used a nondegenerate probability interval) in the 2013-17 sample; *Ever-Knightian* = gave a Knightian response at least once; *Sometimes-Knightian* = ever-Knightian that gave a Knightian response less or equally often as the median ever-Knightian; *often-Knightian* = ever-Knightian that gave a Knightian response more often than the median firm ever-Knightian. Gray whiskers indicate  $\pm 1.96$  standard error bands.

We choose a probability interval when...

...our business environment has changed a lot in recent years. ...we expect an unusual sales development in the current quarter. ...we are missing an important piece of information.

...we are particularly cautious for the current quarter.

For each candidate answer firms may state "applies", "applies somewhat", "does not really apply", and "does not apply at all". Firms can thus provide multiple reasons for choosing Knightian responses.

Fig. 2.2 reports shares of firms that state "applies" or "applies somewhat", again by type of firm. For each candidate answer, we present three bars, one for each of the subgroups that reflect frequency of Knightian responses. One interesting takeaway here is that even firms in our always-Bayesian group engage with the question and provide motivation for a Knightian response, even though at the time of the meta-survey they had never actually provided one. This result suggests that the share of firms that contemplates Knightian responses, and hence views them as a useful tool to express uncertainty is even larger than the 76% of ever-Knightian firms.

What specifically motivates firms to give Knightian responses? To create the figure, we have ordered answers by importance. Nearly two thirds of all firms choose a prob-




**Notes:** Data from fall 2018 meta-survey. Question elicits importance of candidate motivations for Knightian responses shown along the horizontal axis. Height of colored bars measures share of firms that labeled the candidate motivation "very important" or "important", out of total number firms of the same type. Colors indicate firm types defined as in Figure 2.1. Gray whiskers indicate ±1.96 standard error bands.

ability interval when they expect an unusual sales development in the future and there is essentially no difference across groups. The second most important reason for responding in a Knightian fashion is large changes in the business environment, cited by 51% of always-Bayesians, 49% of often-Knightians and 60% of sometimes-Knightians. The latter may assign greater importance to this motive because large changes happen infrequently. Firms that use a Knightian response mostly as a reaction to exceptional changes naturally end up in the sometimes-Knightian group.

Caution is cited as a reason for a Knightian response by about 40% of all firms. This is an important result since it indicates that Knightian responses can reflect the firm's objective function, and not only its views of the variable "sales increase" that is being predicted. Interestingly, this reason is mentioned more frequently by the often-Knightian group of firms than by the other groups. The least important motive is lack of an important piece of information. However, it is cited by 44% of often-Knightian firms, again much more so than by other firms. We conclude that there is some evidence of heterogeneous motives: firms who give Knightian responses more often tend to do so more out of caution or a lack of information.

#### 2.3.2 Relationship With Other Planning Output

Firms' self-assessment in the previous section suggested that Knightian responses represent an expression of uncertainty that reflects mainly an unusual business environment and, to a lesser extent, caution. We now investigate whether these motives are corroborated by the relationship between answers to our main question and other information we have about firms' beliefs. In particular, if beliefs about the environment matter, then we would expect that there are more Knightian responses when firms' forecasts suggest that the event "sales increase" is more uncertain. Moreover, if we postulate that firms become more cautious when business is weak, then we would expect more Knightian responses when the outlook on the future is worse.

The results of this section make use of another part of the uncertainty module, dedicated to quantitative forecasting performance, also described in detail in Bachmann et al. (2018). In particular, the module elicits sales growth realized over the last quarter and the firm's forecast for sales growth for the current quarter. Moreover, it asks firms to provide best case and worst case scenarios for sales growth for the current quarter. The idea behind this design was to exploit the widespread use of scenario analysis in German firms to measure subjective uncertainty. Bachmann et al. (2018) propose to use the difference, or *span*, between best and worst case scenarios as a measure of subjective uncertainty. Meta-survey answers show that firms indeed report plausible, as opposed to extreme, scenarios when filling out the questionnaire.





**Notes:** Data: pooled responses for all firm quarters 2013-17. Solid lines are fitted values from kernelweighted local polynomial regressions, shaded areas are 95% confidence intervals. All regressions use polynomials of degree zero and Epanechnikov kernels with bandwidths given by the rule-of-thumb bandwidth estimator. Independent variable on horizontal axis is always one quarter-ahead sales growth forecast at beginning of quarter. Dependent variables are: in left panel, share of certain responses in all responses (blue) and share of Knightian responses in all responses (red), bandwidths are h = .92 and h = 2.67, respectively; in right panel: Knightian responses as a share of uncertain responses, bandwidth is h = 1.52.

We show first that firms tend to give more Knightian responses when their forecast is closer to zero. This is exactly when we would expect the event "sales increase" to be more uncertain: firms with very high or low forecasts are presumably more confident about whether the event will occur or not. The left panel of Figure 2.3 measures the sales forecast along the horizontal axis and displays shares of certain and Knightian responses as a share of all responses. Here we report fitted values from a kernel-

weighted local polynomial regression together with shaded 95% confidence intervals.<sup>5</sup> The key result is the inverse U-shape in the share of Knightian responses, with a peak close to zero. In contrast, firms that predict very high or low growth, tend to be sure about the path of future sales, especially when that path is going down.

Figure 2.3 further shows that uncertain firms tend to give more Knightian responses when their predicted sales growth is lower. Indeed, the right panel shows the Knightian share out of uncertain firms: it is a downward sloping function of the forecast. While the Knightian share at a forecast of zero is about the average share of 28%, it increases to close to 40% for forecasts below negative 5%; it is fairly flat for positive forecasts except that it drops below 20% for very high forecasts. The shape suggests some correlation between news that leads firms to pessimistic forecasts and those that change the nature of uncertainty perceived by firms.

Figure 2.4 relates the Knightian share to best and worst case scenarios contemplated by the firms. This relationship reinforces the two themes seen already: Knightian responses increase with uncertainty and in bad times. The horizontal axis in the figure measures the location of a firm's probability interval, defined as the midpoint for Knightian responses and the single probability in the Bayesian case. For all regressions in this figure, we use an Epanechnikov kernel with a bandwidth of 0.078. This choice is motivated by the empirical distribution of midpoint probabilities: although they are continuous choice variables, firms tend to cluster their answers on multiples of 5% and 10%. The choice of bandwidth is thus effectively a choice of how many such "gridpoints" we include in the neighbourhood of each point. In particular, the smallest bandwidth that includes three (four) neighbour gridpoints to each side is 0.067 (0.089). Our choice of 0.078 sits in the middle between these options.<sup>6</sup>

The top left panel clarifies that the midpoint probability as a measure of location is highly correlated with the sales forecast, for both Bayesian and Knightian responses. The top right panel plots the Knightian share: we again have a downward sloping relationship with a flat middle section. We note also the kink at zero – the share of Knightian responses rises sharply once forecasts turn negative. The panels together

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> We use a polynomial of degree zero and an Epanechnikov kernel with bandwidth h that is chosen for each regression separately by the rule-of-thumb bandwidth estimator.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> To see how our choice weights neighboring gridpoints, consider the following example. Suppose a target point  $x_0$  has exactly three neighbours to the left at gridpoints  $x_0 - 0.15$ ,  $x_0 - 0.1$ , and  $x_0 - 0.05$  and three neighbours to the right at gridpoints  $x_0 + 0.05$ ,  $x_0 + 0.10$ , and  $x_0 + 0.15$ . The Epanechnikov kernel is defined as  $K_h(z_i) = \frac{3}{4\sqrt{5}h}(1 - 0.2(z_i/h)^2)$  if  $|z_i| \le \sqrt{5}h$  and zero otherwise, where  $z_i$  denotes the distance of a grid point to  $x_0$ . By choosing h = 0.078, the smoothing window thus extends from  $x_0 - 0.175$  to  $x_0 + 0.175$ . The smoothed value at  $x_0$  is the weighted average  $\sum_i w_i x_i$ , where  $x_i = x_0 - 0.15$ ,  $x_0 - 0.10$ , ...,  $x_0 + 0.15$ . The weights  $w_i = K_h(z_i) / \sum_i K_h(z_i)$  generated by the Epanechnikov kernel are then 0.056, 0.143, 0.195, 0.212, 0.195, 0.143 and 0.056.



Figure 2.4: Predicted probabilities of a sales increase, forecasts, and scenarios

**Notes:** Data: pooled responses for all firm quarters 2013-17. Solid lines in all panels show fitted values of kernel-weighted local polynomial regressions; shaded areas are 95% confidence intervals. All regressions use polynomial of degree zero & Epanechnikov kernel with bandwidth h = 0.078. Independent variable along horizontal axis in all panels is midpoint of probability interval for sales increase over current quarter from survey wave at beginning of quarter, with Bayesian responses coded as degenerate intervals (that is, single probabilities). Dependent variables, all from same survey wave as probability intervals are: in top left panel, sales growth forecast for current quarter; in top right panel, share of Knightian responses in uncertain responses in current quarter; in bottom left panel: best and worst case scenarios for current quarter; in bottom right: share of responses s.t. the worst case scenario < 0 < best case scenario.

clarify in what sense the average Knightian response is more pessimistic than the average Bayesian response. Indeed, we can decompose the average (midpoint) forecast of Bayesians and Knightians into two components: the distribution of midpoint beliefs reported in Table 2.2 and implicit in the right panel, and the forecast conditional on that midpoint belief shown in the left panel. The results show that average pessimism is driven exclusively by the former.

Figure 2.4 also points out that, *in good times*, firms give more Knightian responses when their best and worst case scenarios contain zero. Whether the scenarios bracket zero is another natural sense in which firms perceive the event "sales increase" as uncertain. We show the fact in two ways. First, the left hand panel displays the average best and worst case scenarios together with the forecast. The worst case scenario crosses zero

at a probability of 67%, right when the Knightian share in the top right panel shows a sharp downward turn. Second, the right hand panel of the figure displays the share of responses such that zero is in between the best and worst cases. Again the dropoff on the right aligns clearly with the dropoff in the Knightian share.

The results of this section are interesting for an ongoing debate on how to interpret survey forecast data. One view holds that respondents who perceive greater uncertainty tend to "shade" their forecasts towards outcomes that are worse for them. For example, risk averse agents might report forecasts derived from a "risk neutral" probability that places more mass on bad events. Similarly, one might suspect that agents who give Knightian responses align their forecasts than Bayesians. Our findings instead show that firms with the same *midpoint* probability - whether Bayesian or Knightian – make similar forecasts.

### 2.3.3 Calibration

Our results on firms' self assessment in Section 2.3.1 do not suggest that Knightian responses are due to lack of sophistication. However, firms' subjective view of their planning might not be backed up by their forecasting performance. In this section, we assess that performance by asking how well calibrated firms are as predictors of their own sales growth, and whether there are important differences between Bayesian and Knightian responses. We emphasize that the analysis again takes places at the level of responses, so the question is whether firms forecast systematically worse in quarters when they express their uncertainty in a Knightian fashion.

Our tool to measure calibration is a standard calibration plot, shown in Figure 2.5. For the Bayesian case, the horizontal axis measures the predicted probability whereas the vertical axis measures the frequency with which the predicted event occurred in the data. Well-calibrated forecasters should locate along the 45 degree line: while forecasts are not perfect (away from the endpoints), the realizations of the random variable being forecasted exactly reflect the predicted distribution. A forecaster above (below) the diagonal systematically underpredicts (overpredicts) the event. This graphical analysis has a long history in measuring forecaster performance.

We produce the graph with our pooled sample of forecasts: formally, we run a kernel regression of a dummy indicating a sales increase on the predicted probability. We thus assess the average degree of calibration for groups of firm decision makers that provide the same probability. To extend the analysis to Knightian responses, we use

again the midpoint probability as a measure of location of the probability interval. In the top left panel of Figure 2.5, the blue line represents Bayesian responses and the red line represents Knightian responses. The endpoints, that is, the certain responses of zero or one, are plotted separately, that is, they do not inform the kernel regression.



#### Figure 2.5: Calibration plot

**Notes:** Data: pooled responses for all firm quarters 2013-17. Solid lines in all panels show fitted values of kernel-weighted local polynomial regressions; shaded areas are 95% confidence intervals. All regressions use polynomial of degree zero and Epanechnikov kernel with bandwidth h = 0.078. Top left panel shows separate regressions for Bayesian and Knightian responses in blue and red, respectively. Independent variable on horizontal axis is midpoint of probability interval for sales increase, with Bayesian responses coded as degenerate intervals (= point probabilities). Dependent variable is dummy for occurrence of a sales increase in quarter for which probability forecast is made. Top right panel shows Knightian responses only: red line is same as in top left panel. Green and purple lines are fitted values from regressions of maximum and minimum probabilities on midpoint probability, respectively. Bottom panels show Knightian responses only: dependent variable is dummy for occurrence of a sales increase in quarter for which probabilities on midpoint probability, respectively. Bottom panels show Knightian responses only: dependent variable is dummy for occurrence of a sales increase in quarter for which probability forecast is made, independent variables along horizontal axis are minimum and maximum probability forecast is made; independent variables along horizontal axis are minimum and maximum probabilities in left and right panels, respectively.

The main result is that both Bayesian and Knightian responses are miscalibrated in a very similar fashion: both strongly underestimate the likelihood of a sales increase when their outlook on the future is bad (that is, when their probability of a sales increase is low), and both overestimate it when the outlook is good (that is, when their probability of a sales increase is high). Indeed, both kernel regression lines are much flatter than the 45-degree-line, with an intercept above .4 and an average slope of about .35. According to the fitted values, Knightians' midpoints imply a larger forecast error when they are between .5 and .7, as well as when they are larger than .8. However, gaps are typically below 10pp and not significantly different from zero. For Bayesians, the pattern is familiar from earlier studies. It is consisted with a simple model of Bayesian updating when agents receive unbiased signals but overestimate their precision: agents then "overreact" to both positive and negative signals.

The other panels of Figure 2.5 focus on Knightian responses only and show that our conclusion is robust to alternative ways of measuring miscalibration. Since Knightian responses consist of an entire probability interval, focusing on the midpoint is only one way to assess calibration, albeit a convenient one that allows familiar graphical analysis. More generally, we would like to know whether the empirical frequency of the forecasted event is contained in the Knightian forecaster's interval. If we had long panel data on each forecaster, this question could be answered directly. Here we draw on the pooled sample to obtain two partial answers.

The top right panel of Figure 2.5 assesses whether the empirical frequency of a sales increases for Knightians with a given midpoint probability is located within the average probability interval predicted by those firms. Formally, we compare fitted values from three kernel regressions on the midpoint probability: a red line for the dummy for a sales increases as in the top left panel, and purple and green lines for the lower and upper of the interval, respectively. If all Knightians were well calibrated, we would see the frequency lie in between the upper and lower bound. We find that Knightian responses are well calibrated in this sense for a range of relatively high midpoint probabilities between 60 and 80 percent. However, for low midpoints the empirical frequency is well above the maximum probability. We can conclude that the typical firm with a bad outlook is also miscalibrated according to this less stringent criterion. There is also some evidence of miscalibration at the very top: here the empirical frequency is below the average minimum probability, that is, the average interval lies entirely above the frequency.

The bottom panels of Figure 2.5 assess miscalibration by directly comparing the empirical frequency to minimum and maximum probabilities: we plot fitted values of kernel regressions of a sales increase dummy on the minimum and maximum probabilities. The panels thus differ from those in the top row in that the horizontal axis no longer measures location but instead interval bounds. This approach avoids averaging the interval bounds across responses with the same midpoint. At the same time, each plot only checks miscalibration in one direction: if Knightian responses are well-calibrated then the empirical frequency lies above the diagonal in the left panel *and* below the diagonal in the right panel. The bottom left panel zeros in on miscalibration due to overestimation: a frequency of sales increases below the 45-degree line means that the average interval of a firm with this minimum probability is strictly above the empirical frequency. We see this only for the highest minimum probabilities. In contrast, the right panel is set up to uncover miscalibration due to underestimation: a frequency of sales increase above the 45-degree line means that the average interval of a firm with this maximum probability is strictly below the frequency. There is again strong evidence of underestimation.

#### 2.4 Dynamics of Knightian Responses

In this section, we study the evolution of Knightian responses over time. Figure 2.1 displays the evolution of the Knightian share over our sample period, together with shaded 95% confidence bounds. There are two key takeaways. First, the share of *ever-Knightian* firms that give a Knightian response in any given quarter lies between 20 and 35 percent, far below the 76% of firms that give a Knightian response at least once. It follows that firms must frequently switch between Bayesian and Knightian responses. Section 2.4.1 explores whether firm characteristics can predict the frequency of such switches.



Figure 2.1: Time-variation of Knightian share

**Notes:** Time series of the fraction of Knightian responses by survey wave from 2013Q2 through 2017Q4. Rectangular markers indicate survey periods during the first month of each quarter. The shaded area represents 95% confidence intervals. The vertical lines indicate three important dates of the Greek sovereign debt crisis in 2015.

The second takeaway from Figure 2.1 is that time series movement in the Knightian share appears to reflect macroeconomic risk. In the beginning of the sample, the Knightian share declines as the European debt crisis becomes more distant. It then spikes sharply in early 2015 when the Greek crisis worsens, only to again resume its downward trend later that year. Greek elections on January 25, 2015 saw the victory of the Syriza party that had promised substantial debt write-offs during the campaign. In subsequent months, tensions with Greek's creditors, the so-called Troika, amplified and peaked when Greece, after announcing bank holidays and imposing capital controls, did not repay an IMF loan on June 30. In July, the German minister of finance advocated a temporary exit of Greece from the euro area. On August 14, after more than a month of negotiations, the Greek parliament approved the final of three new bailout programs that gradually allayed financial market fears. Section 2.4.2 compares movement in the Knightian share to other measures of macroeconomic risk and also computes the contribution of firms with a plausibly different exposure to aggregate conditions, e.g., exporting versus non-exporting firms.

#### 2.4.1 The Persistence of Knightian Spells in the Cross Section

Table 2.1 provides an overview of Knightian shares and the dynamics of responses for different classes of firms. The first column lists the Knightian share, that is, Knightian responses as a share of all uncertain responses. The second and third columns measure the frequency of switching to and away from a Knightian response, respectively: we compute empirical conditional probabilities of responses for firms that we observe to be uncertain in two consecutive quarters. These numbers can also be interpreted in terms of duration: assuming a Markovian evolution of the response type, the inverse of the numbers in the second and third column represent the average duration of Bayesian and Knightian spells, respectively. Finally, the fourth column shows the share of ever-Knightian firms that provide a Knightian response at least once in the sample.

We measure firm size by the number of employees, and report results for *large* firms with more than 250 workers as well as *small* firms with 50 or less workers. The ifo survey also indicates whether the firm exports. When asked for their expectations about export business in the next three months, respondents can either choose from the three categories "increase", "unchanged", or "decrease", or tick the option "we do not export". We define firms to be exporters if they always respond with one of the three directional answer options in our sample. The average share of exporting firms is 82%. Finally, we distinguish firms by their average growth rate over the en-

	K share responses	Prob(K   B) responses	Prob(B   K) responses	ever-K share firms
average	0.27 (0.01)	0.19 (0.01)	$\underset{(0.03)}{0.55}$	0.76 (0.02)
small	0.32 (0.02)	0.20 (0.02)	$\underset{(0.05)}{0.43}$	0.85 (0.03)
large	0.26 (0.02)	0.21 (0.03)	0.63 (0.06)	$\underset{(0.04)}{0.74}$
non-exporter	0.35 (0.03)	0.21 (0.03)	$\underset{(0.06)}{0.43}$	$0.85 \\ (0.04)$
exporter	0.26 (0.01)	0.19 (0.01)	0.58 (0.03)	0.73 (0.02)
low growth	0.31 (0.02)	0.20 (0.03)	0.50 (0.06)	$\underset{(0.04)}{0.79}$
high growth	0.24 (0.02)	0.16 (0.02)	0.55 (0.06)	0.70 (0.05)

**Table 2.1:** Knightian (K) and Bayesian (B) responses for different groups of firms

**Notes:** Column 1 shows share of Knightian responses in pooled sample of 4646 firm quarters. Columns 2 & 3 show empirical transition probabilities in subsample of 1790 firm-quarters such that each firm is represented in quarters t and t + 1. Column 2 (3) shows firm date pairs such that Bayesian (Knightian) response at t is followed by a Knightian (Bayesian) response at t + 1, as a share of firm date pairs with Bayesian (Knightian) responses at t. Column 4 shows share of ever-Knightian firms that respond at least once as Knightian, based on 422 firms with at least five uncertain responses. Rows refer to full sample as well as subsample averages. Small firms have 50 or less employees, large firms have more than 250 employees, exporter firms report they export in every quarter they appear in the sample, while non-exporter do not, low and high trend growth firms are defined as bottom and top quartile of the firm-average sales growth distribution.

tire five year sample. The idea here is that beliefs about sales growth may not only depend on size but also on the firm's trajectory. We form four quartiles of firms by average growth rate and report here the top and bottom quartiles, labeled high and low growth, respectively. Average growth rates over the sample within these groups are -4.8% and 9.6%, respectively.

The first result from the table is that there are statistically significant, if economically moderate, differences in the Knightian shares across firms. In particular, Knightian responses are more prevalent among small firms, firms that do not export as well as firms with low growth trends. While there is correlation between these characteristics – in particular large firms tend to be exporters – separate regressions (not reported) show that each characteristic has an independent impact on the frequency of Knightian responses.

The second result is that firms in groups with large fractions of Knightian responses experience longer Knightian spells, but do not necessarily start more of those spells. This is apparent from the second column: for size and export share, the probabilities of switching to Knightian are all very close to 20%. At the same time, probabilities in the third column reveal large differences in the duration of Knightian spells: while it is only 1.52 quarters for large as well as for exporting firms, it rises to 1.72 quarters for non-exporting firms and to 2.32 quarters for small firms. For both of those groups the larger share of ever-Knightian firms in the fourth column is thus explained largely by longer Knightian spells.

The groups of high and low trend firms behave differently. Here we do see a significantly lower probability of switching to a Knightian response for firms that grow faster on average. Moreover, while Knightian spells are longer for low growth firms, the cross group difference in probabilities in the third column is much smaller than for the other pairs of groups. We can conclude that growth trend also helps predict the frequency of Knightian responses. In contrast to the other characteristics, however, this is not only because the duration of Knightian spells is predictable. In addition, it is actually possible to predict the frequency of switches to Knightian responses.

#### 2.4.2 Knightian Responses and Macroeconomic Risk

We now return to the time series evolution of the Knightian share in Figure 2.1. To further understand this evolution, Figure 2.2 plots Knightian shares for different groups of firms, and also overlays it with two types of credit spreads, key measures of macroeconomic risk during recent boom bust episodes. Theories of Knightian uncertainty tend to emphasize that it should be reflected jointly in firm planning and observed risk premia in financial markets. In each panel, Knightian shares are presented with 95% confidence intervals and measured along the left vertical axis. Credit spreads are measured along the right vertical axis.

The top left panel compares the overall Knightian share with the spread between Greek and German bonds. The co-movement is striking: like the Knightian share, the sovereign risk spread goes through the three phases of initial decline, upward spike, and recovery. As the Greek crisis unfolds, the spread leads the Knightian share by two quarters: we observe an elevated Knightian share only at the beginning of the third quarter of 2015, that is, in early July. The top right panel shows that the Knightian share for large firms – which are presumably more connected to international markets – ticks up already 6 months earlier, at the same time when spreads widen.

The bottom left and right panels look at exporting firms – likely more exposed to an international event – and small firms, respectively. Much like large firms, exporters give fewer Knightian responses most of the time, but experience a notable spike right at the peak of the Greek crisis. A key difference to large firms is that their reaction comes with a lag. Small firms differ from both the other groups in that the 2015 increase in the Knightian share is rather mild, but builds up to a protracted increase. This fact is connected to the longer duration of Knightian spells experienced by the typical small firm. As a result, the path of average Knightian uncertainty experienced by small firms resembles less the Greek spread, a measure of financial stability in Europe, but instead a high yield spread, often taken as a measure of financial frictions.



Figure 2.2: Time-variation of Knightian share with financial measures of macroeconomic risk

**Notes:** Time series of the fraction of Knightian responses by survey wave from 2013Q2 through 2017Q4. We show this series for all firms, as well as for the subsamples of large firms with more than 250 employees, exporting firms defined as firms that always reported to export in our sample, and small firms with 50 employees or less. The rectangular markers illustrate the survey periods in the first month of a quarter. The shaded area represents 95% confidence intervals. We plot the Knightian share series against financial series: the 10-year Greek government bond spread against the 10-year German government bond (top row of plots and bottom left) and the yield of below investment grade euro area corporate debt. The former is retrieved from Macrobond, the latter is taken from the FRED data base (FRED identifier: BAMLHE00EHYIEY).

#### 2.4.3 Transition Dynamics Between Bayesian and Knightian Responses

We have shown above that the share of Knightian responses varies over time and is meaningfully related to macroeconomic events. We now study how switching between Bayesian and Knightian states contribute to changes in the Knightian share. To this end, we estimate a two-state Markov chain that takes on the values "Bayes" or "Knight". We allow transition probabilities to depend on calendar time. We handle missing values in our unbalanced panel of firms by taking as observables all realized transitions between states by firms, possibly more than one quarter apart. We estimate the sequence of transition matrices by maximum likelihood; details are contained in Appendix 2.B for details.

The estimated switching probabilities are displayed in Figure 2.3. They are characterized by substantial time-variation: The probability of switching from a Knightian to a Bayesian response – that is, exiting a Knightian spell – varies between 40 and 70 percent, whereas the probability of entering a Knightian spell varies between 10 and 30 percent. Time variation in both types of transition thus contributes to fluctuations in the Knightian share in Figure 2.1. At the same time, some movements in the Knightian share are not associated with changes in transition probabilities.

Consider in more detail the dynamics of beliefs at the beginning of our sample, that is, the back end of the European debt crisis. The summer of 2013 marked a renewed increase in many risky borrowing rates, including the low quality yield in the bottom right panel of Figure 2.2. The transition matrix from July to October then saw a one time spike in the probability of switching from a Bayesian to a Knightian response. Over the next year and a half, transition probabilities remained essentially constant, which led to a steady exit from Knightian spells. After the ECB's introduction of its QE programs – first announced in September 2014 and extended in January 2015 – there is a large spike in switches from Knightian to Bayesian responses. Finally, the widening of spreads in summer 2015 again coincides with a spike in the probability of entering a Knightian spell.



#### Figure 2.3: Time varying transition probabilities

**Notes:** Estimated time-varying transition probabilities from Bayesian to Knightian responses and from Knightian to Bayesian responses 2013Q3 through 2017Q4. Probabilities for quarter *t* represent transition probabilities from quarter t - 1 to quarter *t*. The shaded area represents 95% confidence intervals. Vertical lines indicate three important dates for the Greek sovereign debt crisis in 2015.

#### 2.5 Conclusion

Using survey data from German firms, this paper studies whether executives think about future sales growth in terms of probabilities. In a question about the likelihood of a sales increase we innovate by letting respondents freely decide to submit either a single probability or a "Knightian" probability interval. Our main result is that "Knightian" responses are pervasive: three quarters of the firms in our sample choose a probability interval at least once in five years. Using results from a meta survey and information on their other forecasts, we show that managers use probability intervals to express their lack of clarity about the future; they do not reflect a lack of sophistication. Moreover, responses with probability intervals are equally miscalibrated compared to "Bayesian" responses with single probabilities.

We further document that respondents switch between the "Knightian" and "Bayesian" answer options: they occasionally enter persistent "'Knightian" spells. This behavior seems to reflect both idiosyncratic and aggregate events. During the Greek debt crisis in 2015, the share of "Knightian" responses spikes up in parallel with bond spreads. This is most pronounced for large and exporting firms that would have been most affected – directly or indirectly – by a default or a possible exit of Greece from the euro area.

Quantitative survey question often elicit subjective beliefs of households and decision makers in firms using single probabilities. This equates uncertainty with risk. Our results suggest that a more flexible survey technique can collect richer information reflecting both Bayesian and Knightian perceptions of the future.

# Appendix

# 2.A Questionnaire for the Fall 2018 Meta-Survey

Meta-Umfrage Kenn-Nr.: Bereich (XY):	ZUR ZUSATZUMFRAG kkk-2365-2342 123456 Textilien, Autos un	e "Unsicherheit" nd Lebensmittel	_		ifre Angabe Der gesetzli Fragebog	en werden streng ver iche <u>Datenschutz</u> ist ren als PDF zum	JT rtraulich behandelt. voll gewährleistet. Drucken
Zur Erinnerung: Fragebogen Zusatzumfrage Unsicherheit	Erwartungen Umsatzveränderungen	Zusatzfrage 2	Zusatzfrag	je 3	Allgemeine Fragen	Umfra	ge abschließen
1. In den Quartz a. Wie Entwick Branch Konjuni Außenv Wirtsch Sonstiges	Zusatzfragen 2 und 3 wurden S I gefragt. bedeutend waren die folgende se dung der Wettbewerber enentwicklung kturelle Entwicklung virtschaftliches Umfeld aftspolitisches Umfeld , und zwar:	ie nach ihren Erwartungen hins n <u>externen</u> Faktoren typischerv hr bedeutend bede 0 ( 0 ( 0 ( 0 ( 0 ( 0 ( 0 ( 0 ( 0 ( 0 (	ichtlich der Umsatzv velse für Ihre Antwor	eränderung Ihre	s Bereichs im jeweils I unbedeutend 0 0 0	begonnenen	
			sehr bedeutend	bedeutend	weniger un bedeutend	bedeutend	•
Auftrags Für das l	bestand am Quartalsbeginn aufende Quartal erwartete Fer	igstellungen/Auslieferungen	0	0	0	0	
von Proj Erwartet	ekten, die vor Quartalsbeginn g e Neuaufträge/-bestellungen ir	estartet wurden n laufenden Quartal	0	•	0	0	
c. Wie bec	und zwar:	en und Einschätzungen aus den edeutend bedeuter	folgenden Funktion nd weniger	sbereichen typis bedeutend	scherweise für Ihre An unbedeutend	itwort?	
Vertrieb		0 0		0	0		
Produkti	on / Cantas III a s						
Finanzer Marketin	a / Controlling ng / Marktforschung	0 0		0	0		
Sonstiges,	und zwar:						

### Figure 2.A.1: Original meta survey questionnaire in German, part 1

Zur Erinnerung: Fragebogen Zusatzumfrage Unsicherheit	Erwartungen Umsatzveränderungen	Zusatzfrage 2	Zusatzfrage 3	Allgemeine Fragen	Umfrage abschließen	
					^	
2. Um wie a) im bestu im schle b) Unter B vierten	wiel Prozent wird sich der Umsatz in Il möglichen Fall: .chtestmöglichen Fall: erücksichtigung aller Chancen und Risil Quartal 2018 alles in allem eine Veränd	rem Bereich im vierten Quartal 2018	verändern? % (bitte ganze, positive oder % (bitte ganze, positive oder % (bitte ganze, positive oder	weiß nicht negative Zahlen eingeben) O negative Zahlen eingeben) O negative Zahlen eingeben) O		
2. In den Z schlecht Ergebnis ja nei	<u>usatzfragen 2 a) und b</u> ) wurden restmöglichen Fall bzw. alles in a sse aus einer quantitativen Ums n	Sie gefragt, welche Umsatzverä allem für Ihren Bereich erwarte atzplanung verwendet, die ohr	inderung Sie im jeweils begon n. Haben Sie bei der Beantwor lehin regelmäßig in Ihrem Bere	nenen Quartal im bestmögliche tung der Frage typischerweise ich stattfindet?	en und	
<u>wenn ja, w</u>	vie bedeutend waren typischerv	veise Ergebnisse aus				
einer Sze Basisproj	narioanalyse um eine gnose herum	sehr bedeutend	bedeutend weniger	bedeutend unbedeute	end	
einer sta	tistischen Analyse					
Sonstiges, 3. In Zusat Aussage Diese be Pla Mö Sonstiges,	Sonstiges, und zwer: <ul> <li>In Zusatzfrage 2 a) wurden Sie nach der Umsatzveränderung im bestmöglichen und schlechtestmöglichen Fall gefragt. Welche der folgenden Aussagen beschreiben am ehesten Ihre Antwort?</li> <li>Diese bestmöglichen und schlechtestmöglichen Fälle sind typischerweise</li> <li>Plausible Szenarien, mit deren Eintreten wir durchaus rechnen müssen.</li> <li>Mögliche Szenarien, deren Eintreten wir aber nur in Ausnahmefällen erwarten.</li> </ul> Sonstiges, und zwar:					
4. Wenn S typische	ie für Zusatzfrage 2 a) die Umsa erweise die nachfolgenden Gesi	tzveränderung im <u>bestmögliche</u> chtspunkte für Sie?	n und schlechtestmöglichen Fr	all ermitteln, wie bedeutend sir nd weniger bedeutend unbede	nd dabei utend	
Umsatzv	eränderungen in den letzten eir	n bis zwei Jahren	0 0	0 0		
Umsatzv	eränderungen, die weiter als zw	vei Jahre zurückliegen	0 0	0 0		
Überlegu	ungen, die wir aktuell anstellen,	unabhängig von der Vergangen	heit O O	0 0		
Unsere R Umsatzv	usikoeinstellung ("Vorsichtsprin eränderungen, die wir bei unse	zıp") ren Wettbewerbern beobachter	1 0 0	0 0		
Sonstiges,	und zwar:					

### Figure 2.A.2: Original meta survey questionnaire in German, part 2

Zur Erinnerung: Fragebogen Zusatzum Unsicherheit	frage Erwartungen Umsatzveränderungen	Zusatzfrage 2	Zusatzfrage 3	Allgemeine Fragen	Umfrage abschließen		
_							
3. Be	i den nächsten drei Teilfragen können Sie Wie hoch schätzen Sie die Wahrscheinlichk	entweder eine Wahrscheinlichkeit oder o eit ein, dass der Umsatz in Ihrem Bereich	sin Wahrscheinlichkeitsintervall a im vierten Quartal 2018 <u>steigt</u> ?	sngeben.			
	Wahrscheinlichkeit liegt bei Wahrscheinlichkeit liegt zwischen weiß nicht	% (bitte ganze Zahlen eing % und	eben) % (bitte ganze Zahlen eingebe	en)			
5. In si bi	der <u>Zusatzfrage 3a</u> wurden Sie geb ch der Umsatz in Ihrem Bereich im ei Ihrer Entscheidung, eine Wahrsch	eten, entweder eine Wahrschein jeweils begonnenen Quartal erhö jeinlichkeit oder ein Wahrscheinli	ichkeit oder ein Wahrschei ht. Bitte bewerten Sie die E chkeitsintervall anzugeben	nlichkeitsintervall dafür anzug Jedeutung der folgenden Gesi :	eben, dass chtspunkte		
W	'ir entscheiden uns typischerweise,	ein <u>Wahrscheinlichkeitsintervall</u>	anzugeben, wenn trifft	trifft abar trifft abar nicht			
			zu	zu zu	trifft nicht zu		
sic	h unser Geschäftsumfeld in den Jah für das jeweils begonnene Quarta	ren zuvor stark verändert hat. eine ungewöhnliche Umsetzenty	wicklung -	• •			
erv	varten,	reme ungewommene omsatzente		•	•		
un	s für das jeweils begonnene Quarta	I noch eine wichtige Information	fehlt.	0 0	•		
WI	r bei der Planung für das jeweils be	gonnene Quartai besonders vorsi	chtig sina. U	0 0	Ŭ I		
				_			
		Zuruck Weiter	Speichern (ohne Abschicken)		•		
Zur Erinnerung: Fragebogen Zusatzum Unsicherheit	frage Erwartungen Umsatzveränderungen	Zusatzfrage 2	Zusatzfrage 3	Allgemeine Fragen	Umfrage abschließen		
<b>6.</b> Z	um Schluss noch drei allgemeine Fr	agen zu Ihrem Bereich:					
a. W	/ie viele Wettbewerber hat Ihr Bere	ich (bitte geben Sie eine Zahl ein)	?				
b. W	<ul> <li>b. Wie viele dieser Wettbewerber beobachten Sie regelmäßig (bitte geben Sie eine Zahl ein)?</li> </ul>						
c. Die Kunden unseres Bereichs, gemessen am Umsatz, sind hauptsächlich							
aus der eigenen Unternehmensgruppe     andere Unternehmen des produzierenden Gewerbes     Handelsunternehmen (inklusive Onlinehandel)     andere Dienstleistungsunternehmen							
	die öffentliche Hand     private Endverbraucher     Sonstige, und zwar:						

### **Figure 2.A.3:** Original meta survey questionnaire in German, part 3

#### 2.B Estimation of Transition Matrices

To model the dynamics of the choice between a probability interval ("Knightian" answer) and a point probability ("Bayesian" answer) for the event of a sales increase, we use a discrete Markov chain with two states. To this end, we define the variable  $y_{it}$ that can take values (states) 1=Knightian and 2=Bayesian. To save notation, we first describe the construction of the likelihood function for the time-invariant case. The objective is to estimate the parameters of the time-invariant transition matrix

$$P^{(1)} \equiv P = \begin{bmatrix} p_{11} & p_{12} \\ p_{21} & p_{22} \end{bmatrix}$$

where  $p_{11} + p_{12} = 1$  and  $p_{21} + p_{22} = 1$ . For later use, let us also define the *h*-step transition matrix

$$P^{(h)} \equiv egin{bmatrix} p_{11}^{(h)} & p_{12}^{(h)} \ p_{21}^{(h)} & p_{22}^{(h)} \end{bmatrix} = P^h,$$

where  $p_{jk}^{(h)}$  are functions of  $p_{jk}$ , again with the property  $p_{11}^{(h)} + p_{12}^{(h)} = 1$  and  $p_{21}^{(h)} + p_{22}^{(h)} = 1$ .

We have an unbalanced panel of i = 1, ..., N firms. The maximum sample is t = 1, ..., T but firms do not respond every period. We assume that each firm i is observed  $5 \le k_i \le T$  times in periods  $t_{i1}, ..., t_{ik_i}$ , where  $1 \le t_{ij} \le T$ . Hence, the vector  $y_i$  of all observations of firm i is

$$y_i = (y_{it_{i1}},\ldots,y_{it_{ik_i}})'.$$

To write down the likelihood function that includes all relevant information, we factorize the joint pmf into observed conditionals. The Markov property implies that, e.g.,

$$f(y_{it}|y_{it-h}) = p_{y_{it-h},y_{it}}^{(h)}$$

Using this result, we write the joint distribution of the observations of firm *i* as

$$f(y_i) = f(y_{it_{i1}}) \prod_{\kappa=2}^{k_i} f(y_{it_{i,\kappa}} | y_{it_{i,\kappa-1}}) = f(y_{it_{i1}}) \prod_{\kappa=2}^{k_i} p_{y_{it_{i,\kappa}}, y_{it_{i,\kappa-1}}}^{(t_{i,\kappa}-t_{i,\kappa-1})}.$$

Assuming cross-sectional independence of firms, the log-likelihood function is

$$\log L(p_{11}, p_{21}) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \log f(y_i).$$

Since it includes the parameters of *h*-step transition matrices, it is highly nonlinear and needs to be maximized numerically.

We now turn to the case of time-varying transition matrices considered in the text.

$$P_t^{(1)} \equiv P_t = \begin{bmatrix} p_{t,11} & p_{t,12} \\ p_{t,21} & p_{t,22} \end{bmatrix}, \quad t = 1, \dots, T,$$

where  $p_{t,11} + p_{t,12} = 1$  and  $p_{t,21} + p_{t,22} = 1$ . The *h*-step transition matrix for transition from t - h to *t* thus is

$$P_t^{(h)} \equiv \begin{bmatrix} p_{t,11}^{(h)} & p_{t,12}^{(h)} \\ p_{t,21}^{(h)} & p_{t,22}^{(h)} \end{bmatrix} = \prod_{j=1}^h P_{t-h+j},$$

where  $p_{t,11}^{(h)} + p_{12}^{(h)} = 1$  and  $p_{t,21}^{(h)} + p_{t,22}^{(h)} = 1$ .

The likelihood function is defined analogously to the time invariant case.

**Chapter 3** 

Subjective Uncertainty, Expectations, and Firm Behavior

## 3.1 Introduction

An active literature is interested in understanding how uncertainty affects individual economic decisions, and as a result, business cycle fluctuations. Similar to expectations, uncertainty is inherently subjective. Thus, a good starting point to analyze how uncertainty affects outcomes are the beliefs of decision makers in firms and households. To guide their actions, individuals form expectations in the presence of uncertainty. Hence, conceptually expectations and subjective uncertainty are closely related. Yet, due to a lack of adequate measures, little is known about their empirical relationship and their relative importance for economic decisions.

This paper presents a new measure of managers' perceived uncertainty and relates it to their expectations and corporate decisions. In particular, I use the results from a novel survey question that asks firms *directly* how uncertain they are about the development of their business. This question is part of the ifo Business Survey, a representative German business survey that covers roughly 9,000 firms each month. Both at the micro level and in the time series, it allows me to develop stylized facts about the relationship between managers' subjective uncertainty vis-à-vis their business expectations over the next six months and their assessment of their current business situation. All three variables are reported on visual analogue scales, which are essentially more differentiated versions of Likert scales. To establish my baseline results, I focus on the manufacturing sector from 2017 to 2019: during this time, it slipped from a boom to a moderate recession. To verify my findings, I extend the analysis to other sectors and to fluctuations of the economy during the subsequent COVID-19 crisis. Exploiting firm heterogeneity and the large aggregate variation in the onset of this crisis, I relate uncertainty and expectations to firms' investment and employment decisions.

My main findings are fourfold. First, asking managers directly about their uncertainty seems to be a sensible method to elicit beliefs. Second, firms' perceived uncertainty about their future business development is strongly negatively related to their business expectations. This stylized fact is manifest both at the micro level and in the time series. Third, I find that this relationship is weaker in bad times. Managers perceive high uncertainty in a period of low economic activity even if expectations improve. Fourth, in contrast to first moment changes, changes in uncertainty neither predict the postponement of investment projects nor a "freeze" of the number of employees in the onset of the COVID-19 crisis. This is not in line with the theoretical mechanism of "wait and see" behavior.

Regarding the measurement of subjective business uncertainty, my first result is that managers have a good understanding of the term "uncertainty"—in the sense of "dif-

ficult to predict". This is based on a comparison of the answers to two questions: one that asks respondents directly how *uncertain* they are about their business development and a second one that asks them for an assessment of the *difficulty to predict* this development. I document that the responses to the two questions essentially contain the same information. Conceptually, both questions are holistic and able to capture not only risk, but also Knightian uncertainty.<sup>1</sup> In case of risk, the second question is a measure of variance. In sum, this suggests that a direct question can be a sensible tool to measure firms' subjective uncertainty.

Using firm-level data from the manufacturing sector, my second result is that perceived uncertainty is strongly negatively related to business expectations and respondents' assessment of the current business situation. Based on bivariate relationships, the more pessimistic a respondent or the worse her assessment of the business situation, the more uncertain she is. This holds true both for the pooled sample and within firms. However, the relationships are not linear. The negative relationship is stronger when firms are pessimistic compared to when they are optimistic. These findings recall the inverse relationship of expected returns and volatility observed in equity markets (see, for instance, Bekaert and Wu 2000). Managers' expectations and subjective uncertainty seem to behave similarly to these financial market outcomes.

Next, I study how perceived uncertainty is related to *combinations* of the assessment of the business situation and expectations. Two cases are of particular interest: a good business situation combined with unfavorable expectations, and a bad business situation combined with favorable expectations. From an aggregate view, many such instances might correspond to business cycle turning points. Based on the micro data, I find that uncertainty is high in both cases. Overall, it emerges as a stylized fact that managers are highly uncertain if either the situation is assessed as poor or expectations are unfavorable, or both. Since in a bad situation uncertainty is always high, the relationship between uncertainty and expectations is weaker in bad times. These findings suggest that managers' uncertainty increases when expectations deteriorate, it stays high in a bad business situation, and it only decreases when the business situation normalizes. Further below, I provide a tentative intuition for this pattern based on the negatively skewed distribution of firms' growth rates.

The stylized facts from the micro level carry over to the time series for the manufacturing sector. The central and novel result is that perceived uncertainty and expectations are almost perfectly inversely correlated in the aggregate. The same is true for the re-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The categorization of uncertainty in risk and Knightian uncertainty (or "ambiguity") dates back to Knight (1921). In today's understanding, risk refers to a situation in which individuals can assign probabilities to a set of future events, while this is not possible in the case of Knightian uncertainty.

lationship between uncertainty and the business situation. This confirms the stylized fact from proxy measures which indicate that uncertainty is counter-cyclical. Moreover, in line with the micro evidence, the relationship between uncertainty and expectations appears to be state-dependent: uncertainty correlates less with expectations if the average business situation in unfavorable.

I demonstrate the validity of these time series results along several dimensions. First, the inverse relation between uncertainty and expectations holds for all major sectors namely manufacturing, construction, retail and wholesale trade, and services—and the German economy as a whole. Moreover, it becomes especially apparent during the COVID-19 crisis in the first half of 2020. By mid-2020, expectations improve, but uncertainty persists, as the economy stays weak. These stylized facts hold true for three different measures of subjective uncertainty. Data from the Survey of Business Uncertainty administered by the Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta displays a similar pattern for the US.

The simultaneity of aggregate movements in subjective uncertainty and expectations challenges traditional recursive identification schemes in vector-autoregressive frameworks that attempt to causally link uncertainty to outcomes. Due to possible endogeneity of uncertainty and growth, Ludvigson et al. (2020) also view other identification strategies used in time-series econometrics as problematic. This applies in particular to recessions, when uncertainty fluctuates the most. Using micro data offers an alternative way to learn about the effect of uncertainty on outcomes. It has two advantages. First, besides time-series variation, also differences in the cross section can be exploited. Second, it provides the opportunity to directly test theoretical channels that connect uncertainty to outcomes: most mechanisms rely on the behavior of individuals. This motivates me to use firm-level data to study the role of subjective uncertainty and expectations for corporate decisions.

In particular, I conduct a case study focusing on the onset of the COVID-19 crisis. The aim is to empirically examine the theoretical "real options" channel. Its idea is that high uncertainty can make it rational for firms to delay (partially) irreversible investments and to "freeze" hiring. Decision makers "wait and see" until more information is available (Bernanke, 1983; Brennan and Schwartz, 1985; McDonald and Siegel, 1986). In the case of an aggregate downturn, uncertainty increases. At the same time, managers' expectations deteriorate, which may let them defer investments and reduce employment. To better understand the importance of uncertainty and expectations for firm behavior, I exploit the between-firm variation of these perceptions during the COVID-19 shock. I find that firms' decisions to postpone investment projects and to reduce the number of employees are related to first moment changes, but not

to changes in uncertainty. While "wait and see" may describe some firms' behavior, the results from averaging over all firms are not in line with the predictions from the "real options" channel.

This paper contributes to several strands of the empirical literature about uncertainty, firms, and business cycles. First, it is part of the literature concerned with the measurement and analysis of subjective business uncertainty. Over the last decade, a handful of surveys have started to elicit the subjective uncertainty of businesses with respect to their own future development. For the US, Altig et al. (2019) have developed the monthly Survey of Business Uncertainty for quantitative one-year ahead expectations and uncertainty regarding a firm's growth of sales, investment, and employment.<sup>2</sup> Respondents are asked for five scenarios from best to worst of the outcome variable. Subsequently, the survey elicits probabilities for these scenarios. Uncertainty is then calculated as a measure of variance of these probability distributions.<sup>3</sup> Bachmann et al. (2018) present an alternative approach for a quarterly supplement to the ifo Business Survey for Germany. They measure subjective uncertainty as the difference between sales growth expectations in the best and in the worst case. Both Altig et al. (2019) and Bachmann et al. (2018) relate uncertainty to past growth and forecast errors at the micro level. I extend this growing strand of literature in three ways. First, I present a new direct and holistic measure of managers' perceived uncertainty. Second, I focus on the relationship between uncertainty and expectations. Third, by considering the business situation, I add a new dimension to the analysis: the relative level position of a firm in its cycle.

Due to the absence of survey-based measures of subjective uncertainty, almost all timeseries studies in the literature on uncertainty shocks rely on proxy measures.<sup>4</sup> For a recent comprehensive overview, see Cascaldi-Garcia et al. (2020). A common finding from these time-series measures is that they are counter-cyclical. This paper differs from the literature on proxy measures by presenting aggregate time series of man-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The resulting time series are available online at https://www.frbatlanta.org/research/surveys/business-uncertainty.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Similarly, Bloom et al. (2017) describe quantitative questions on sales growth uncertainty in the Management and Organizational Practices Survey administered by the Census in 2015. For the UK, the Decision Maker Panel also includes questions that follow this methodology (Bloom et al., 2018a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Popular approaches include indices of implied or realized volatility of stock market returns (Bloom, 2009; Barrero et al., 2017), the cross-sectional dispersion of firm-level outcomes, expectations, or fore-cast errors (Bachmann and Bayer, 2013, 2014; Bloom et al., 2018b; Bachmann et al., 2013), the conditional volatility of statistical forecast errors from macro time series (Jurado et al., 2015), counts of uncertainty-related keywords in news publications (Baker et al., 2016), and time devoted to uncertainty-related topics in quarterly earnings conference calls (Hassan et al., 2019).

agers' subjective uncertainty about their firms' business development—jointly with their expectations and an assessment of their business situation.<sup>5</sup>

This paper also contributes to the survey-based micro-econometric literature that links the subjective uncertainty of economic decision makers to outcomes. Due to the scarcity of data on subjective uncertainty, the literature for households is small. In a recent contribution, Ben-David et al. (2018) relate households' expectations and subjective uncertainty about their personal income to economic decisions. They find that individuals with more uncertain expectations exhibit more precaution in their consumption and investment behavior.<sup>6</sup> The first contribution concerning firms stems from Guiso and Parigi (1999) who measure the uncertainty of managers about future sales growth. Based on a cross section of Italian firms, they find that businesses with similar expectations about sales growth, but higher uncertainty, invest less.<sup>7</sup> In the same spirit, Dibiasi et al. (2018) study the investment response of a small share of firms that were exposed to an uncertainty-inducing referendum in Switzerland. Their result is that uncertain firms with a high degree of irreversibility lower investment. My analysis during the COVID-19 shock differs from previous work due to the focus on corporate decisions on investment and employment and since I exploit the variation of uncertainty in an aggregate downturn.

Furthermore, this paper is part of the growing literature on uncertainty and expectations during the COVID-19 crisis. For the US and the UK, Altig et al. (2020) and Baker et al. (2020) document large increases in both proxy measures of uncertainty and subjective business uncertainty. Using proxy measures, Baker et al. (2020) estimate that half of the aggregate drop in output can be related to second moment effects. Based on data of the ifo Business Survey, Buchheim et al. (2020a) study corporate mitigation strategies in the face of the COVID-19 shock. They highlight the relation of firms' actions with pre-existing business conditions and with expectations about the duration of the crisis. My analysis differs in that I focus on individual changes of uncertainty and expectations that constitute the aggregate variation in the onset of the COVID-19 recession.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> To the best of my knowledge, to date there exists only one study that conducts econometric analyses with an aggregate time series of firms' subjective uncertainty. It is based on an Austrian business survey (Glocker and Hölzl, 2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Other household studies that relate measures of subjective uncertainty to outcomes include Guiso et al. 1992, Guiso et al. 2002, and Leduc and Liu 2016.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Bontempi et al. 2010 examine the same relationship for a panel of Italian firms from 1996 to 2004 and show that the relationship between uncertainty and investment varies over time and can become insignificant, which they attribute to changes in the competitive landscape.

My case study that examines firms' "wait and see" behavior is also reminiscent of the literature that studies the impact of uncertainty shocks on the aggregate economy using real business cycle models. As a prominent example, Bloom et al. (2018b) generate drops of 2.5% of GDP with a model that uses nonconvex adjustment costs and the variance of productivity shocks as a measure of risk. Bachmann and Bayer (2013) specifically study the impact of uncertainty on business cycle fluctuations through the "real options" channel. In line with the results from my case study at the onset of the COVID-19 crisis, they find rather small effects.

The paper is structured as follows. Section 2 explains the data and the survey questions. Section 3 compares two measures of perceived uncertainty. Section 4 analyzes the relationship between subjective uncertainty, business expectations, and managers' assessment of the business situation at the micro level. Section 5 presents time series of these variables for the manufacturing sector. Section 6 shows additional time series evidence that also covers the COVID-19 crisis. Moreover, it presents a micro-level case study at the onset of this crisis that relates uncertainty and expectations to corporate decisions about investment and employment.

# 3.2 Data

This paper is based on data from the monthly ifo Business Survey that currently covers roughly 9,000 German firms. The survey is conducted by the ifo Institute. Data in processible form is available since the German unification in 1990 (since 1980 for West Germany). The sample of firms is maintained to be representative of the German economy. To deal with attrition, ifo adds new respondents to the survey (see Sauer and Wohlrabe 2020). The survey covers firms in manufacturing (IBS-IND, 2020), construction (IBS-CON, 2020), retail and wholesale trade (IBS-TRA, 2020), and services (IBS-SERV, 2020). Its data on the firms' assessment of their business situation and business expectations form the basis of the ifo Business Climate Index, a leading indicator of the German business cycle. As a widely respected measure of business sentiment, it attracts considerable attention from the general public, practitioners, and policy makers. Moreover, ifo Institute is responsible for collecting data according to a set of EU-harmonized business survey questions. They feed into the EU-wide business sentiment index composed by the European Commission.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Aggregate survey results for Germany are presented at www.ifo.de/w/3fvxPxj2P, the harmonized European results, including the European Economic Sentiment Indicator, can be found here: https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/indicators-statistics/economicdatabases/business-and-consumer-surveys\_en.

A business participating in the survey can be a stand-alone firm or a division of a large conglomerate. The position of the personnel within the firms who fill out the question-naire is high: Sauer and Wohlrabe (2019) find that more than 90% of the respondents are top-level managers, such as CEOs, CFOs, or department heads. Furthermore, the results from a meta survey from fall 2019 suggest that the respondents within a firm rarely change. Altogether, this ensures very high quality data.

#### 3.2.1 Two Samples for the Micro Analysis

Besides the presentation of aggregate time series, I draw on two main samples of micro data for this paper. The first sample uses data from the manufacturing sector. It starts with the introduction of the direct question for firms' subjective uncertainty in the online part of the survey in July 2017 and ranges until January 2020. In contrast to the other major sectors, namely construction, wholesale and retail trade, and services, the manufacturing sector went through half a business cycle in this period: from a boom in 2017 to a recession that started in the third quarter of 2018. This makes it particularly interesting when studying fluctuations in uncertainty. The main analyses are based on the subsample of manufacturing firms that responded to the online part of the survey, as opposed to paper-based participation. In the sample period, roughly three quarters of all survey participants responded online. This is equivalent to about 1.500 manufacturing firms each month.<sup>9</sup> The manufacturing sample ends in January 2020 to exclude the COVID-19 crisis. I study it in a separate section of this paper.

The second sample is comprised of data from manufacturing, construction, retail and wholesale trade, and services.<sup>10</sup> I use it for a case study at the onset of the COVID-19 crisis. The survey waves of interest range from January to April 2020. The baseline analysis only takes onto account the observations from online participants, but a robustness test also includes other respondents.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Appendix 3.A shows that there are almost no differences between the answers of online participants compared to those who participated paper-based. There is only one notable difference: online participants are more frequently representing large firms (250 or more employees), and somewhat less frequently small firms (less than 50 employees). However, there is no significant difference in the variables capturing the respondents' the assessment of the current business situation and business expectations, which form the core of the analysis in the subsequent sections.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> I follow the data cleaning and harmonization procedure described in Link (2020). This involves the assignment of industry codes of the WZ08 classification to all observations and in some cases the aggregation of responses of subsidiaries to the entity level of firms. The German WZ08 classification, short for "Klassifikation der Wirtschaftszweige 2008" is closely related to the European industry classification system NACE Rev. 2.

#### 3.2.2 Survey Questions

The basis for this paper is a novel direct survey question on subjective business uncertainty. I compare the responses of this question to the answers of a second new question on subjective uncertainty. Moreover, I relate them to business expectations and an assessment of the business situation. This section explains the survey methodology and the exact wordings of the relevant questions.

In 2005, ifo introduced a new question design to capture firms' assessment of their current business situation and their expectations for the business development in the subsequent six months. Respondents of the online questionnaires provide their answer by clicking on a visual analogue scale with underlying values that range from 0 to 100.<sup>11</sup> In 2017, ifo started to elicit subjective uncertainty using the same technology. Visual analogue scales are essentially continuous versions of the well-known Likert scales. As such, they are qualitative in nature, and are used, for instance, in medical research to assess feelings and pain intensity (Jensen et al., 2003). Visual analogue scales are easy to understand and, in contrast to trichotomous questions, allow for a differentiated assessment of a respondent's beliefs.

Appendix 3.A shows a screenshot of the original questions regarding the perceived business situation, expectations, and uncertainty from ifo's online questionnaire in the manufacturing survey. Translated into English, the questions are as follows:

1. We assess our current state of business as

Respondents can click a the visual analogue scale that is labeled "bad" and "good" at its ends, respectively, and "satisfactory" at the center.

2. In the next 6 months, our state of business is likely to

Respondents can click on a visual analogue scale that is labeled "become rather more unfavorable" and "become rather more favorable" at its ends, respectively, and "roughly stay the same" at the center.

3. We assess the uncertainty w.r.t. our business development in the next 6 months as:

Respondents can click on a visual analogue scale that is labeled "low" and "high" at its ends, respectively, and "average / usual for the season" at the center.

In addition to eliciting firms' perceived business situation and expectations using visual analogue scales, ifo has continued to apply its more traditional trichotomous

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See Stangl (2009) for details on the design and a comparison to the traditional trichotomous questions.

questions for these variables. These traditional questions on the business situation and expectations, in their English translation, read: 1) We assess our current state of business as (a) good (b) satisfactory (c) bad, and 2) Our state of business is likely to (a) become more favourable (b) stay more or less unchanged (c) become less favorable. Question 1) appears in the section with headline "Current situation" and question 2) in the section with headline "Expectations for the next 6 months". I will occasionally use its responses in the subsequent analyses when categorization is helpful.<sup>12</sup>

Following a proposal from the EU Commission's unit for "Economic Situation, Forecasts, Business and Consumer Surveys", ifo implemented a second question regarding uncertainty in April 2019. This question is going to become part of the set of EUharmonized business survey questions in 2021. Hence, it is going to be available for all countries in the EU. It is based on a similar question included in the business survey of the Austrian Institute of Economic Research, which has been asked in different versions since the 1980s (Glocker and Hölzl, 2019). The second question dealing with uncertainty is part of the survey's section titled "Expectations for the next 6 months". It is asked both online and using paper questionnaires. Translated into English, the question reads:

- 4. The future development of our business situation is currently
  - $\Box$  easy to predict
  - $\Box$  rather easy to predict
  - □ rather difficult to predict
  - □ difficult to predict

The responses to questions 3 and 4 yield two separate measures of subjective uncertainty. Let *unc* denote the uncertainty measure based on the responses to question 3 and *diff\_pred* be the variable that captures the responses to question 4.

# 3.3 Comparing Two Measures of Subjective Uncertainty

When characterizing and comparing the two measures of uncertainty *unc* and *diff\_pred*, we note similarities and differences in the underlying questions. Conceptually, we

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The responses to the visual analogue scale questions seem to measure essentially the same as the trichotomous questions: the two unweighted aggregate monthly time series for situation and expectations from 2005 to 2020, respectively, are highly correlated with correlation coefficients of 99% and 86%.

can compare three dimensions. First, any uncertainty measure is characterized by its "object"–the variable over which an individual is uncertain. Second, since uncertainty is forward-looking, the time horizon matters. Third, the way we ask for uncertainty can differ.

Both *unc* and *diff\_pred* have essentially the same object and the same time horizon of uncertainty: the "business development" and the "development of the business situation" over the subsequent six months. The survey deliberately uses the holistic object of "business development". It can be understood as an umbrella term for all relevant firm-specific variables that affect the future path of the business. A meta survey conducted in the fall of 2019 sheds light on the variables that the respondents of the ifo Business Survey consider most important for their assessment of the business situation and expectations. The five factors most important to manufacturing firms are profits, turnover, demand, the stock of orders, and costs (see Appendix 3.B). To further investigate the factors feeding into the holistic measures of business expectations and the business situation, in Appendix 3.B I relate both variables in separate regressions to other variables from the ifo Business Survey. The main findings are that the highest share of the variation of the business situation is explained by the assessments of the profit and order situation, respectively, and by the capacity utilization at the time of the survey. Business expectations are most closely related to production expectations according to the R-squared metric.

Hence, *unc* and *diff\_pred* are comprehensive uncertainty measures. By capturing a wide range of aspects in managers' information set, they differ from measures that focus on the uncertainty concerning the development of one particular firm variable, such as sales or employment, as in the surveys presented by Altig et al. (2019) and Bachmann et al. (2018). Advantages of the comprehensive approach are its brevity and universality. A wide range of sources of uncertainty is covered. Moreover, *unc* and *diff\_pred* capture both risk and Knightian uncertainty. However, this comes at the cost of a lack of transparency regarding the exact source of the uncertainty.

The main difference between *unc* and *diff\_pred*, in addition to the mode of delivery, is the way they ask for uncertainty. Question 3 asks respondents *directly* how uncertain they are, while question 4 asks *indirectly* by inquiring about the degree of difficulty that respondents perceive in predicting the future business development. The responses to the indirect question 4 may either reflect uncertainty as risk, that is, a second moment, or as Knightian uncertainty. In the direct question, it is less clear a priori what respondents think when they are asked for their "uncertainty". Thus, by comparing *unc* and *diff\_pred*, I analyze the influence that the type of question has on the responses, and whether managers in firms have a good understanding of the term "uncertainty".

Appendix 3.B presents summary statistics of the variables *unc* and *diff\_pred*. Most importantly, I find that *unc* covers the entire range of values between 0 and 100, and that the answer category "rather difficult to predict" is the clear mode of *diff\_pred*, while only very few respondents choose the category "easy to predict".<sup>13</sup> Figure 3.1 presents the mean values of the responses from the direct uncertainty question 3, *unc*, for each of the categories of the indirect uncertainty question 4, *diff\_pred*. The bar chart is based on the subsample covering the period from April 2019 to January 2020 for which both variables are available.



Figure 3.1: Comparison of two measures of subjective uncertainty

The main result is that the two variables are almost perfectly aligned: advancement by one category in the perceived difficulty of predicting the future development of the firms' business situation corresponds to a mean of *unc* that is roughly 20 points higher. In other words, the more difficult respondents perceive the prediction of the future development of their business situation, the more uncertain they report to be on the visual analogue scale. Appendix 3.B presents a box plot instead of the bar chart and demonstrates that this finding is robust to using medians instead of means.

The fact that *unc* and *diff\_pred* are very similar implies that respondents have a good understanding of the term "uncertainty" when they are directly asked for it. Hence,

**Notes:** The figure illustrates the mean values of subjective uncertainty (*unc*), the responses to the direct uncertainty question 3 in Section 3.2.2, for each of the categorical answer options of the indirect uncertainty question 4 (*diff\_pred*) in Section 3.2.2 (blue bars). The orange whiskers denote  $\pm 1.96$  standard error bands for the mean values.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> One reason for few responses with the category "easy to predict" may be the stylized fact, based on proxy measures, that uncertainty behaves counter-cyclically (Bloom, 2014). In the period for which *diff\_pred* is available, namely from April 2019 to January 2020, the manufacturing sector was in a recession. Thus, uncertainty is likely to be above a longer-term average at this time.

a direct question for managers' uncertainty appears to be an easy and sensible way to elicit firms' subjective beliefs. The remainder of the paper focuses on the direct uncertainty measure *unc*. It is available for a longer period of time than *diff\_pred*, and it has advantage of being a near-continuous variable. However, I replicate most results using *diff\_pred* for robustness.

## 3.4 Subjective Uncertainty at the Micro Level

Using survey data from businesses allows me to study the properties of uncertainty at the micro level. Moreover, it enables me to study the relationship between perceived uncertainty and expectations from the same respondent. In addition, I can relate subjective uncertainty to the self-assessed business situation of a firm. Given the stylized fact that proxy measures of uncertainty are counter-cyclical, I expect a negative relationship between uncertainty and the business situation. The panel dimension of the sample offers ample variation in the cross section and the time series.

This section has three parts. I start by examining the bivariate relationships between perceived uncertainty vis-à-vis expectations and the business situation, respectively. Second, I study the uncertainty of respondents for combination of these variables. Third, I relate uncertainty to other variables of business activity that are likely to feed into managers' assessment of the business situation and expectations.

#### 3.4.1 Uncertainty vs. Expectations and the Business Situation

Figure 3.1 illustrates two relationships in the pooled sample of manufacturing firms: the relationship between business uncertainty (*unc*) and business expectations in the left plot, and the relationship between business uncertainty (*unc*) and the firms' assessment of their business situation in the right plot. Based on roughly 46,000 firm-time observations, I present non-parametric regression lines and linear fitted lines.

First, I observe a very strong negative and near-linear relationship between subjective uncertainty and expectations. Hence, the more pessimistic respondents are about the development of their business situation over the next six months, the more uncertain they are about it. Moreover, subjective uncertainty is strongly negatively related to the respondents' assessment of the business situation, which indicates the position of a firm in its cycle. Managers perceive higher uncertainty the worse they assess the state of business of their firm. The raw correlations of both relationships in the pooled sample are -0.34.



**Figure 3.1:** Relation of subjective uncertainty to expectations and the business situation

**Notes:** This figure shows non-parametric kernel regression lines of degree zero with shaded 95% confidence bands as well as fitted linear regression lines for the relationship between uncertainty (*unc*) and business expectations in the left plot, and between uncertainty (*unc*) and the business situation in the right plot. The non-parametric lines use an epanechnikov kernel and the "rule-of-thumb" bandwidth (Silverman, 1986). The assessment of the business situation, expectations, and uncertainty are based on questions 1, 2, and 3 in Section 3.2.2. Responses are elicited using visual analogue scales that range from 0 to 100, respectively.

I formalize this descriptive evidence by means of regressions. In doing so, I add significance levels and I further check for the asymmetries in high and low expectations and in good and bad business situations. I also specifically examine the within-firm time variation.<sup>14</sup> This can lead to a better understanding of the time variation in aggregate uncertainty, which is at the center of a large body of the literature on uncertainty and business cycle fluctuations.

Table 3.1 presents pooled ordinary least squares regressions of uncertainty (*unc*) on expectations and the business situation. The negative estimates in columns 1 and 2 correspond to the slopes of the linear predicted lines in figure 3.1. Both coefficients are highly significant. If expectations are 10 points lower on the visual analogue scale, uncertainty is 4.1 points higher on average. For a 10 point lower situation, on average, the uncertainty differential is 3.3 points. This captures both the variation between and within firms. The R-squared values of 0.11 and 0.12 in columns 1 and 2, respectively, indicate the presence of ample variation that is not captured by the bivariate relationships.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> I note that the visual analogue scale is identical for all firms and, hence, is designed to show timevariation within businesses. However, due to the rather short period of time of the sample of less than three years, some firms might be above or below their longer-run average expectations or their "normal" business situation in most or all of the sample horizon.
<b>Table 3.1:</b> Relation c	f subjective ı	uncertaint	ty ( <i>unc</i> ) to	o expecta	tions and	the busi	ness situa	tion
endent variable:		uncertai	nty ( <i>unc</i> )		within-fi	rm variation	of uncertainty	(nnc)
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	(2)	(8

Dependent variable:		uncertai	inty ( <i>unc</i> )		within-f	irm variation	of uncertainty	1 (nnc)
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	(2)	(8)
Business expectations	-0.409***							
Business situation	(0170.0)	-0.329***						
Business expectations low		(1/10:0)	-0.507***					
Business expectations high			-0.323***					
Business situation low			(0.U.J.40)	-0.387***				
Business situation high				(0.0342) -0.294*** (0.0254)				
Demeaned: business expectations					-0.345***			
Demeaned: business situation					(0110:0)	-0.367***		
Demeaned: business expectations low						(9710.0)	-0.409***	
Demeaned: business expectations high							(0.0185) -0.273*** (0.0177)	
Demeaned: business situation low							(110.0)	-0.401***
Demeaned: business situation high								(0.0157) -0.324***
Constant	76.10*** (1.103)	73.63*** (0.950)	54.63*** (0.338)	56.48*** (0.345)	0.0155*** (0.00519)	0.00397 (0.00500)	-0.545*** (0.0918)	(0.0833) -0.352*** (0.0833)
No. of obs. No. of firms R-squared	46394 2598 0.11	46413 2601 0.12	46394 2598 0.12	46413 2601 0.12	42802 1766 0.080	42809 1765 0.11	42802 1766 0.081	42809 1765 0.11
<b>Notes:</b> Results from OLS regressubjective uncertainty, ( <i>unc</i> ); in constructed as the difference of on the responses from question responses, but capture their with results from piecewise regressic visual analogue scale. Columns a break at the firm-specific mean $0.05$ , *** $p < 0.01$ .	ssions with columns 5 <i>unc</i> from tl s 1 and 2 ii ain-firm tirr ons with a l 7 and 8 pre ns, respecti ns, respecti	firm-mon to 8 it is a he firm-spo n Section 3 he variation preak at 50 preak at 50 sent result vely. Stanc	th observat variable ca ecific mean .2.2. The r n for firms for low ar s from piec dard errors	tions. The apturing th of <i>unc</i> . T egressors i with at leau with at leau d high va ewise regr in parentl	dependent he within-fit he regresso n columns st 10 observ lues of exp ressions for neses, clust	: variable i rm time va rs in colum 5 to 8 are ations. Col ations. Col ectations a the demea ered by firr	n columns uriation of a uns 1 to 4 a also based umns 3 an uns 3 an nd situatio ned regress n; * $p < 0.1$	1 to 4 is <i>unc.</i> It is re based on these a 4 show n on the sors with .0, ** p <

To detect asymmetries, I split the sample into high and low expectations, and into high and low values of the assessment of the business situation. I define numbers on the visual analogue scale of 50 or above as "high" and all others as "'low". In columns 3 and 4, I then regress uncertainty (*unc*) on expectations and the business situation, respectively, using piecewise linear models with a break at 50. Formally,

$$unc_{it} = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1^l x_{i,t}^l + \alpha_1^h x_{i,t}^h + \epsilon_{it},$$

where  $x_{i,t}^l = x_{i,t}I(x_{i,t} < 50)$ ,  $x_{i,t}^h = x_{i,t}I(x_{i,t} \ge 50)$ ,  $I(\cdot)$  is the indicator function, and  $x_{i,t}$  denotes either expectations or the business situation of firm *i* at time *t*.

Column 3 demonstrates that the coefficients  $\alpha_1^l$  for low and  $\alpha_1^h$  for high expectations are both negative and highly significant. Moreover, uncertainty appears to correlate more strongly with low expectations than with high expectations. A Wald test clearly rejects the null hypothesis at the 1%-significance level that the two coefficients are equal. Hence, the relationship between uncertainty and expectations is asymmetric. More unfavorable expectations generally go along with higher uncertainty, but more so for low expectations. Column 4 shows that the coefficients of low and high business situations are both negative and highly significant. While the coefficient of the subsample of bad situations is larger in absolute terms, a Wald test cannot reject the null of equality at the 5%-level (p-value is 0.055). I conclude that a simple linear model captures the relationship between uncertainty and the business situation in the pooled sample with reasonable accuracy.

To isolate the within-firm variation in the panel, I subtract the firm-specific means from the firm-time values of uncertainty, expectations, and the business situation. I do so for a subsample of firms for which at least ten observations are available. More than 92% of the pooled sample remains. Columns 5 and 6 show OLS regressions with these demeaned variables, which produce the same results as fixed effect regressions. Similar to columns 1 and 2, columns 5 and 6 indicate negative and highly significant coefficients for both expectations and the business situation. Magnitudes are also similar.

To examine asymmetries in the within-variation, I define values at or above a firms' mean as "high" and all remaining values as "low". Columns 7 and 8 present results from piecewise linear regressions with the demeaned variables and a break at the firm-specific mean of expectations and the business situation, respectively. Technically, I estimate

$$\widetilde{unc}_{it} = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1^l \tilde{x}_{i,t}^l + \alpha_1^h \tilde{x}_{i,t}^h + \epsilon_{it},$$

where  $\tilde{x}_{i,t}^l = \tilde{x}_{i,t}I(x_{i,t} < \bar{x}_i)$ ,  $\tilde{x}_{i,t}^h = \tilde{x}_{i,t}I(x_{i,t} \ge \bar{x}_i)$ ,  $I(\cdot)$  is again the indicator function,  $\bar{x}_i$  is the mean of expectations or the business situation of firm *i*, and  $\tilde{x}_{i,t} = x_{i,t} - \bar{x}_i$  denotes the demeaned expectations or the business situation of firm *i* at time *t*.  $\widetilde{unc}_{it}$  is the analogously demeaned uncertainty variable.

Column 7 again points to an asymmetry in the relationship between uncertainty and expectation values that are above or below the firm mean. The difference in the coefficients is significant at the 1%-level. For the average firm, an increase in expectations by 10 points above its mean on the visual analogue scale goes along with a decrease in uncertainty by 2.7 points. A decrease in expectations of the same magnitude below the mean coincides with an increase of uncertainty by 4.1 points. Column 8 demonstrates the difference between the coefficients of above average and below average business situations is also statistically highly significant. However, the difference is somewhat smaller than that in expectations.

Based on plots similar to Figure 3.1, Appendix 3.C shows that the stylized facts concerning the negative bivariate relationships between uncertainty and expectations, and between uncertainty and the business situation, also hold for the indirect uncertainty measure *diff\_pred*. I conclude that, first, uncertainty is negatively correlated to a firms' cyclical position relative to its trend, which is measured by the business situation. Second, business expectations and the perceived uncertainty regarding these expectations are not only conceptually related. They are also clearly dependent with a negative relationship at the micro level.

The second finding recalls the stylized fact from the finance literature that conditional volatility is negatively correlated with expected returns at stock markets (see, for instance, Bekaert and Wu 2000 and Hibbert et al. 2008). However, it is unclear a priori whether managers' subjective uncertainty and expectations about their future business behave similarly to financial market outcomes. The new survey evidence suggests that this it indeed the case.

## 3.4.2 Uncertainty and Combinations of Situation and Expectations

Table 3.1 establishes negative bivariate relationships between uncertainty and business expectations as well as between uncertainty and the business situation. I now take this analysis one step further by asking what degree of uncertainty respondents perceive for combinations of their business situation and expectations. Overall, respondents' expectations and their assessment of the current business situation are positively related. The correlation coefficient is 0.63 in the pooled sample. However, there are numerous cases in which they differ.

Two cases are of particular interest: On the one hand, a firm can be in a good business situation, but its expectations are unfavorable. Is the uncertainty of such a business high, as the negative relationship between the uncertainty and expectations would suggest, or is its uncertainty low, since the business is still in a good situation? On the other hand, a business can be in a poor condition but have positive expectations. Does this go along with high or low subjective uncertainty?

Figure 3.2: Uncertainty by combinations of business situation and expectations



**Notes:** The bar chart illustrates the mean values of uncertainty (*unc*) by the nine combinations of the categorical responses to the trichotomous questions about the business situation and business expectations. Each mean is based on at least 889 firm-time observations.

Figure 3.2 presents the relationship between uncertainty (*unc*) and combinations of expectations and the business situation. To facilitate the comprehension of this trivariate relationship, I draw on the categorical responses to the trichotomous questions about expectations and the state of business in ifo's business cycle survey. The height of the bars illustrates the mean values of uncertainty for the nine combinations of the business situation assessed as good, satisfactory, or bad, and the expectations reported as favorable, unchanged, or unfavorable. Each combination is based on more than 880 firm-time observations.

The main result is that the respondents perceive high uncertainty if either their expectations are unfavorable or the assessment of their business situation is bad, or both. If expectations are unfavorable, respondents perceive high uncertainty even in a good business situation. If the situation is assessed as poor, uncertainty is high despite favorable expectations. Generally, the relationship between uncertainty and expectations is state-dependent: it is weaker in bad times. Given the bivariate relationships in figure 3.1, it does not come as a surprise that uncertainty is at its lowest if the business situation is good and expectations are favorable.

Appendix 3.C presents results of regressions of uncertainty (*unc*) on dummies for combinations of the categorical business situation and expectations (corresponding to figure 3.2). The case of a good situation and favorable expectations constitutes the baseline. Replicating this estimation using fixed effects allows me to confirm that the main results also hold for the within-firm time variation. Moreover, in Appendix 3.C I demonstrate that the stylized facts regarding the trivariate relationship between uncertainty, expectations, and the business situation are qualitatively the same for the uncertainty measure *diff\_pred*.

As an alternative to the three-dimensional bar chart in Figure 3.2, Appendix 3.C presents the trivariate relationship between uncertainty, expectations, and the business situation also in a more continuous version, similar to figure 3.1. Instead of one non-parametric regression line which illustrates the relationship between uncertainty and the business situation, three lines represent the answer options of the trichotomous question about business expectations. Again, it becomes clear that uncertainty is high if expectations are unfavorable, irrespective of the business situation. If expectations are unchanged or favorable, uncertainty is lower the better the situation. An analogous continuous illustration of *diff\_pred* instead of *unc* confirms this pattern.

From an aggregate perspective of a stylized business cycle, these micro-level findings tentatively suggest that subjective business uncertainty is elevated from the begin of a downturn to the end of a recovery. In a good state, uncertainty starts to rise early when expectations worsen. In a recession, better expectations do not immediately lower perceived uncertainty. Rather, uncertainty prevails until the situation improves.

What may be reasons for this pattern? A starting point can be the asymmetry of the business cycle (or firm cycle), which implies that the distribution of a firms' growth rates is typically negatively skewed.<sup>15</sup> This implies that firms, in absolute terms, can expect the average negative shock to be larger than the average positive shock. Suppose a firm is in a good business situation and holds unfavorable expectations. Uncertainty perceived as risk then concerns the magnitude of the negative shock. It can be large due to the fat left tail of the demand shock distribution. This could explain why managers are more uncertain if they expect the business situation to deteriorate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Evidence for asymmetry in aggregate and firm-level growth is presented, for instance, by Salgado et al. (2020) and Ilut et al. (2018).

than when they expect an improvement. Orlik and Veldkamp (2014) provide a similar reasoning. They show how tail risks arising from negatively skewed growth rates can explain an increase of a forecasters' macroeconomic uncertainty in recessions.

A complementary intuition for low uncertainty in a good business situation with favorable expectations can be based on strong signals of high demand in that case. Knowledge about orders and being (temporarily) constrained by fix capacities can make it relatively easy for managers to predict future sales and profits.<sup>16</sup> Conversely, in case demand is perceived as weak, decision makers lack knowledge about future sales and profits. Hence, uncertainty is high in the case of unfavorable expectations or in a bad business situation. If an unfavorable business situation is a rather rare event for a firm, managers may also be uncertain since they are unfamiliar with that situation. Uncertainty in a bad situation may also originate from the question whether a realized negative shock is temporary or permanent (Bernanke, 1983). In case of a temporary shock, expectations eventually turn favorable. However, then again the potential magnitude of the expected positive change is large. This can make forecasts quantitatively difficult. High upward risk could explain the empirical finding of high perceived uncertainty in an unfavorable situation with positive expectations. Noisy estimates of the recovery can have the same effect (Van Nieuwerburgh and Veldkamp, 2006). Moreover, in the presence of increased risk aversion in a bad situation, there may be doubts about the reliability of positive demand signals.<sup>17</sup>

## 3.4.3 Uncertainty and Components of Situation and Expectations

As discussed in Section 3.2.2, the variables of business expectations and business situation are holistic concepts. For the purpose of robustness and traceability, in this section I study whether factors that might feed into these measures correlate with uncertainty in a similar way. Figure 3.3 relates uncertainty to six specific variables of business activity from the ifo Business Survey that reflect the situation and expectations of firms.

The upper panel of figure 3.3 illustrates measures that are likely to be related to the business situation: capacity utilization in %, the profit situation, and the assessment of the stock of orders. The bottom panel presents expectations about production, prices, and the number of employees of the firm over the next three months. ifo elicits the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> In related research, Kuhn and George (2019) provide theoretical evidence that firms' capacity constraints can prevent them from fully exploiting positive demand shocks. They use this rational to explain the asymmetry of business cycles.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Guiso et al. (2018) provide survey evidence that risk aversion was substantially elevated during the period of low activity in 2009, after the shock of the Great Recession.

capacity utilization in a respondent's business at the time of the survey by providing discrete answer options which range from 30% to 100%. The other five variables are based on questions with categorical answer options.



**Figure 3.3:** Within-variation of uncertainty by variables of business activity

**Notes:** The top left plot displays a non-parametric kernel regression line of degree zero with shaded 95% confidence bands for the relationship between the within-firm time variation in uncertainty (*unc*) and the within-variation of capacity utilization. The unit at the x-axis is percentage points. I exclude values below the 1%-percentile and above the 99%-percentile for better visibility. The figure further presents bar charts illustrating coefficients from separate fixed effect regressions of uncertainty (*unc*) on categorical variables from the ifo Business Survey, as denoted in the titles of the subplots. In particular, the regressors are dummies based on two categorical answers (labels at the x-axes). Thus, each bar corresponds to a coefficient relative to the middle category, which is "unchanged" in case of all variables except the stock of orders and the profit situation. For the latter two variables, the middle categories are labeled "sufficient" and "satisfactory", respectively. The whiskers at the bars are 95% confidence intervals. Capacity utilization is available once a quarter, the profit situation biannually, and all other variables in monthly frequency.

For capacity utilization, I show a non-parametric regression line in the top left plot. The bars in the other plots correspond to coefficients of fixed effect regressions on dummy variables for the categories indicated on the x-axes, with the middle category serving as the baseline. I focus on the within-firm time variation of uncertainty, but results are similar for the total variation in the pooled sample (see appendix 3.C). The within-variation is indicated at the y-axes of all plots. Technically, I take out firm fixed effects before analyzing the relationships between uncertainty and the firm variables.

I find negative relationships between uncertainty and all six factors. Lower capacity utilization in a firm, a worse profit situation, and a lower stock of orders are all connected to higher uncertainty. A linear regression using fixed effects shows that, on average, a 10 percentage points lower capacity utilization goes along with 3.6 point higher uncertainty on the visual analogue scale. A change in a firm's assessment of its profit situation from "good" to "bad" is associated with an increase of uncertainty of almost 15 points, on average. The discrepancy between a situation with a "too low" and a "relatively high" stock of orders is similar in magnitude. Respondents with less favorable expectations about production, prices, and employment are also more uncertain.

To sum up, I establish robustness of the results in Section 3.4.1 by showing that the negative relationships between uncertainty and expectations, and between uncertainty and the business situation also hold for specific variables that are likely to feed into these holistic measures.

# 3.5 Subjective Uncertainty in the Aggregate

In this section, I exploit the time series dimension of my sample, which extends over 31 months from July 2017 to January 2020. From an expansionary phase in the second half of 2017, the German manufacturing sector fell into a recession that started in mid 2018 and lasted until the end of the sample period.<sup>18</sup> Hence, the data allows me to study aggregate fluctuations of subjective uncertainty.

Since the Great Recession, many time series of proxy measures of uncertainty have been developed. For a recent overview, see Cascaldi-Garcia et al. (2020). With the new ifo data, however, I am among the first to construct a time series that is based on micro data on subjective uncertainty: it provides information on the uncertainty perceived by actual decision makers in firms.<sup>19</sup> The second key advantage of using survey data about businesses is that I can construct a time series of expectations from the same

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> To put this development in context, Appendix 3.D displays a time series of seasonally and calendar adjusted gross value added of the German manufacturing sector for a longer time series, namely since 1999. In the sample period, quarter-on-quarter growth rates dropped from a maximum of 1.7% in Q3 2017 to a minimum of -1.7% in Q2 2019. Annual growth was 3.8%, 1.3%, and -3.4% in 2017, 2018, and 2019, respectively.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Glocker and Hölzl (2019) present a time series of uncertainty for the Austrian economy that is based on micro data. Altig et al. (2019) develop time series of firms' uncertainty and expectations based on firm-level data from the Survey of Business Uncertainty administered by the Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta. Leduc and Liu (2016) use a time series of the uncertainty of households about purchasing a vehicle.

respondents. This allows me to compare micro-based time series of perceived uncertainty and expectations. Moreover, I relate these series to respondents' assessment of the business situation. Given the micro evidence presented in Section 3.4, I ask whether subjective business uncertainty is negatively related to expectations and the business situation also in the aggregate.

Figure 3.1 presents time series for the manufacturing sector of subjective uncertainty (*unc*) as well as of business expectations and the business situation. They are computed as unweighted averages of the firm-level responses. Appendix 3.D shows that weighting these observations by firm size produces very similar time series and that the average business situation closely follows the two official series of industrial production and gross value added in manufacturing.

**Figure 3.1:** Time series of subjective uncertainty, expectations, and the business situation



**Notes:** The figure presents time series of unweighted means of subjective uncertainty, business expectations and an assessment of the respondents' current business situation. These measures are based on the firm-level answers to questions 1, 2, and 3 in Section 3.2.2. The labels at the vertical axis are numbers from a visual analogue scale that ranges from 0 to 100.

The first observation from Figure 3.1 is that firms' subjective uncertainty is countercyclical: uncertainty increases as the assessment of the business situation deteriorates and the manufacturing sector slides into recession in mid-2018. In the short sample, uncertainty and the business situation are highly negatively correlated, with a correlation coefficient of -0.96. This confirms earlier findings based on proxy measures of uncertainty and the time series of subjective business uncertainty for Austria presented by Glocker and Hölzl (2019).

A second, and novel, observation is that the subjective uncertainty of businesses appears to be a mirror image of business expectations for most of the sample period:

when expectations decrease, uncertainty increases, and vice versa. In fact, uncertainty and expectations are almost perfectly negatively correlated (-0.98). Revisiting the stylized fact of countercyclicality, I note that uncertainty already increases in the first half of 2018, that is, *before* the business situation declines. This early increase in uncertainty goes along with a deterioration in expectations. As a third observation, I note that if the situation at the end of the sample period is unfavorable, expectations increase while uncertainty remains essentially unchanged.

The second and third observations imply that the results from the micro level investigation in Section 3.4.2 also seem to hold for the time series: uncertainty is higher when either expectations or the situation are more unfavorable, or both. While the economy is still in a good state, along with deteriorating expectations, uncertainty already increases in the first half of 2018. In the rather bad state at the end of the sample, uncertainty remains at a high level despite an increase in expectations.

Next, I divide the sample into three firm size classes and construct unweighted time series for each of them.<sup>20</sup> The results are displayed in Appendix 3.D. I find that the relationship between uncertainty and expectations as well as the business situation is similar in the aggregate series. In general, the patterns of an increase in uncertainty and deteriorating expectations and business situations between July 2017 and January 2020 are fairly consistent across all size classes.

To analyze whether the aggregate increase in uncertainty is subject to variation across industries in the manufacturing sector, Appendix 3.E presents an analysis of the time variation for subsectors between 2017 and 2019. I find that uncertainty did not rise evenly across industries. In line with the micro evidence and the time series result, uncertainty increased more in industries that experienced a larger decline in expectations and in the business situation.

Is the negative relationship between uncertainty and both expectations and the business situation in the time series specific to the German manufacturing sector and the sample period between July 2017 and January 2020? To broaden the scope of the analysis and to test the validity of the results, I proceed by studying subjective uncertainty and expectations during the COVID-19 crisis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Based on the number of employees, I define three size classes of firms. Following the definition of the German Federal Statistical Office, small firms have less than 50 employees, medium-sized firms between 50 and 249 employees, and large firms 250 or more employees.

# 3.6 Case Study: COVID-19 Crisis

The COVID-19 crisis constitutes an unprecedented disruption of economic activity worldwide. Shutdowns imposed by governments triggered severe recessions that unfolded at high speed. These characteristics of the COVID-19 crisis differ considerably from the gradual and rather moderate economic downturn in the German manufacturing sector in Germany in 2018 and 2019. Hence, the COVID-19 crisis provides fertile grounds for testing the robustness of the time series results from the previous section. This constitutes the first part of this case study. In the second part, I exploit cross-sectional differences in changes in managers' uncertainty and expectations at the beginning of crisis to investigate their role for decisions about investment and employment.

## 3.6.1 Time Series during the COVID-19 Crisis

In this section, I test the robustness of the new stylized facts about the relationship between subjective uncertainty and expectations by extending the sample until July 2020. In this way, I include the COVID-19 crisis. To establish the stylized facts in the first part of the paper, I have focused on data from the manufacturing sector in the time period from July 2017 to January 2020. To analyze time variation in uncertainty, it is most interesting to study. The reason is that, during this time, compared to the other major sectors and the economy overall, the manufacturing sector exhibits the largest fluctuations in economic activity.

With the longer sample that includes the COVID-19 crisis, I present time series for subjective uncertainty (*unc*), expectations, and the business situation for the German economy as a whole. As for all other time series in this section that are based on ifo data, I use the ifo weighting procedure described in Sauer and Wohlrabe (2020) to aggregate firm-level data.<sup>21</sup>

To further test the validity of the stylized facts, I broaden the time series analysis by considering additional measures of subjective business uncertainty. First, I present a monthly time series of *diff\_pred* that starts in April 2019.<sup>22</sup> Second, since my previous results could be exclusive to the measures of subjective uncertainty *unc* and *diff\_pred*,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Firm-level responses are first aggregated to the 2-digit level of the WZ08 classification using firm size weights, and then aggregated to the level of the total economy by using value added weights from the German Federal Statistical Office.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> To compute a balance statistic for *diff\_pred*, I assign the values -1, -0.5, 0.5, and 1 for the answer options "easy", "rather easy", "rather difficult", and "difficult", respectively.

I present a quarterly time series of a third measure of subjective uncertainty. It is calculated as the difference between the quantitative quarter-on-quarter sales growth expectations in the best and the worst case in percentage points. The underlying data stems from a survey supplement to the ifo business cycle survey, which is conducted in the first month of a quarter. It also contains a question on expected sales growth in the most likely case. See Bachmann et al. (2018) for a detailed description. This time series is based on ifo survey data from firms in manufacturing, retail and wholesale trade, and services. For all of these sectors, it is available starting in April 2019.

Third, I compare the time series for Germany with time series on subjective uncertainty and expectations for the United States. In particular, I draw on the monthly quantitative survey results on firms' uncertainty and expectations about twelve-monthahead sales growth from the Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta. The survey elicits five sales growth scenarios from best to worst in percentage points and asks the respondents to assign probabilities to these scenarios. Uncertainty is computed as the standard deviation and the expectation as the mean of the resulting five-point distribution. The survey design is documented in detail by Altig et al. (2019).<sup>23</sup>

Conceptually, I note that the four measures of uncertainty and expectations differ in several ways: *unc* and *diff\_pred* are based on qualitative data and refer to the business development over the next six months, while the other measures are quantitative and refer to quarter-on-quarter and twelve-month-ahead sales growth. The four time series of subjective uncertainty and business expectations are displayed in Figure 3.1. The uncertainty measure *diff\_pred* is depicted jointly with the balance statistics from the categorical questions on business expectations and the business situation in the top left plot. In the plots in the top row for *unc* and *unc\_pred*, I also include the business situation.

Despite the differences in the construction of the series, the evidence from the four plots is very similar. I make two observations. First, during the COVID-19 crisis the developments of perceived uncertainty and expectations are almost perfectly inversely related. From March 2020 onward, the sharp decline in expectations, followed by a recovery, is mirrored by a sharp increase in uncertainty and a subsequent decrease. Appendix 3.F shows that this pattern is also present for the time series of all major sectors of the German economy. Based on admittedly rather short time series, these findings support the stylized fact of the negative relationship between uncer-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> The time series for subjective business uncertainty and expectations of US firms goes back to January 2015 and are available online at https://www.frbatlanta.org/research/surveys/businessuncertainty.

tainty and expectations from the micro data and the time series of the manufacturing sector.



Figure 3.1: Subjective uncertainty and expectations in the COVID-19 crisis and before

**Notes:** The plot in the top left presents size-weighted time series of subjective uncertainty (*unc*), expectations, and the business situation elicited using visual analogue scales. The uncertainty (*diff\_pred*) series in the top right plot is a size-weighted balance statistics constructed from the responses to question 4 described in Section 3.2.2. The other series in the top right plot are balance statistics from ifo's categorical questions on expectations and the business situation described in the same section. The plot in the bottom left shows size-weighted time series of quantitative expectations and uncertainty about q-o-q sales growth. Uncertainty is computed as the difference between best and worst case expectations as described in Bachmann et al. (2018). The data stems from a survey supplement to the ifo business cycle survey and is elicited from firms in manufacturing, wholesale and retail trade, and services. It is available for all of these sectors since Q2 2019. The plot in the bottom right shows business uncertainty and expectations with respect to twelve-month-ahead sales growth from the Atlanta Fed/Chicago Booth/Stanford Survey of Business Uncertainty. For comparability, the x-axis ranges from July 2017 to July 2020 for all plots.

Second, after the COVID-19 spike in April 2020, for all measures the increase in expectations is larger than the decrease in subjective uncertainty. For instance, the top left plot in Figure 3.1 shows that from April to July 2020 business expectations recover 80% of the initial drop from February to April, whereas *unc* only recovers 36%. This difference in the recovery rate is even more pronounced for the series in the other two plots for Germany. While only based on few data points, this second observation supports the previous microdata-based result—and the findings from the time series of the

manufacturing sector before the COVID-19 recession—that the relationship between uncertainty and expectations is weaker in bad times. For Germany, low economic activity in mid-2020 is indicated by an unfavorable business situation in the aggregate. At this time, uncertainty remains elevated even though expectations improve.

To sum up, the stylized facts from the micro data and the time series of the manufacturing sector are also manifest during the COVID-19 crisis. They are robust to different measures of perceived uncertainty, they hold for different sectors of the German economy, and they apply both for Germany and the US.

An implication of this finding is that, when using time series econometric analyses, it may be difficult to disentangle possible effects of subjective business uncertainty on macroeconomic variables, such as investment and GDP, from the effects of expectations. As an alternative approach, in the next section I use micro data to empirically study the predictions of a theoretical channel that links uncertainty to firm behavior.

## 3.6.2 Uncertainty, Expectations, and Corporate Decisions

When examining the effect of uncertainty on firms' economic decisions, one prominent theoretical channel is centered around "real options" (Bernanke, 1983; Brennan and Schwartz, 1985; McDonald and Siegel, 1986).<sup>24</sup> When decisions in firms cannot be easily reversed (or it is costly to do so) and when they affect the profitability of actions taken later, managers confronted with high uncertainty may prefer to "wait and see". More specifically, in such a case, it can be optimal for a business to postpone investment projects and to stop hiring and firing until the outlook becomes clearer. Due to the lack of suitable measures of subjective uncertainty at the firm level, empirical evidence on such behavior is scarce.

Perceived uncertainty seems to fluctuate most around recessions. Section 3.6.1 has provided evidence that the onset of the COVID-19 crisis was accompanied by a massive increase in uncertainty, while expectations plummeted. Based on the theoretical considerations above, in the presence of an uncertainty shock alone I would expect firms to postpone investments and to leave the number of employees largely unchanged.<sup>25</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Other possible theoretical channels include precautionary behavior, borrowing constraints due to higher risk premia, and a loss in confidence caused by ambiguity aversion. Growth options and the Oi-Hartman-Abel effect constitute theoretical mechanisms that can explain positive investment and growth effects from uncertainty. Bloom (2014) provides an overview of these channels.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> According to the "real options" channel, uncertainty can lead managers to postpone investments if they are at least partially irreversible. Indeed, Guiso and Parigi (1999) find stronger negative effects of uncertainty on investment the more difficult or costly firms assess the possibility to resell investment goods after they were acquired. Surveying Swiss firms, Dibiasi et al. (2018) present evidence that 70%

A negative first moment shock is also likely to make firms defer investments. However, we would expect them to reduce employment as a consequence. The actual effect of each of the two shocks is unclear. Therefore, it is interesting to use micro data to study the relationship between uncertainty and firms' actions while the aggregate economy simultaneously experiences a first and a second moment shock.

In this case study, I exploit the cross-sectional heterogeneity in changes of subjective uncertainty and expectations between German firms in the onset of the COVID-19 crisis. I use the aggregate variation to find out whether differences in the impact of this shock on the subjective uncertainty of managers relates to differences in their investment and employment decisions.

## Sample

To address this question, I use the micro data that underlie the top left plot in figure 3.1 in the previous section. The relevant sample comprises the February, March, and April waves of the ifo Business Survey from 2020 and contains responses from firms in the manufacturing industry, construction, retail and wholesale trade, and the service sector.<sup>26</sup> Based on this data, I relate subjective uncertainty (*unc*) and business expectations in March to subsequent self-reported information in April about whether firms have postponed investment projects and whether they have reduced employment, respectively, because of the COVID-19 crisis. Appendix 3.F contains a translation of the special question in the April wave of the ifo Business Survey which asks firms about measures taken in response to the pandemic.

While the March wave of the ifo Business Survey was conducted from March 2 to March 24, I base my analysis on the subsample of firms that submitted their questionnaires in the nine days from March 16 to March 24.<sup>27</sup> Appendix 3.F shows that this group of respondents is representative for the entire sample of firms that responded in March. Selecting this subsample ensures that managers are well-informed about the gravity of the crisis, and especially about the shutdown. As a result, I can exploit the

of the respondents consider their investments to be highly or fully irreversible; 94% view them as at least somewhat irreversible. The degree of irreversibility seems idiosyncratic to firms as the authors cannot predict it by observable characteristics such as size and sector. Given that almost all firms in the Swiss sample report at least some degree of irreversibility of their investments, I find it reasonable to assume that the "real options" theory would predict that also firms in my sample "wait and see" if they are confronted with high uncertainty.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> I follow the data cleaning and harmonization procedure described in Link (2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Appendix 3.F presents a histogram of the submission dates in March. Information on this date is missing for 12% of all participants. I exclude these observations from all further analyses. Of the participants for which a submission date is available, 21% responded between March 16 and 24.

full aggregate variation of the shock to uncertainty and expectations. Using data from the beginning of March would blur the within-variation of the aggregate shock as idiosyncratic changes in uncertainty and expectations are likely to dominate changes in beliefs due to the COVID-19 crisis.

## Descriptive Evidence

To further motivate why I focus on the firms that responded between March 16 and 24, I present a series of descriptive evidence. Table F.1 in Appendix 3.F presents a short time-line of events during the onset of the COVID-19 crisis in Germany. Due to the unprecedented character of the crisis, the negative consequences of the pandemic for the economy only became apparent gradually: on March 10, many federal states canceled mass events with more than 1,000 participants. On March 13, schools and childcare facilities were closed in most federal states. On March 16, the first day of the subsample period for the analysis, Germany closed its federal borders and the government announced the closing of shops and public facilities.

Along these events, subjective uncertainty (unc) increases and business expectations deteriorate.<sup>28</sup> Figure 3.2 divides the respondents of the March wave of the ifo survey into three groups and displays the change of their subjective uncertainty, expectations, and assessment of their business situation against the corresponding values from their responses in February. The first group of respondents who submit their survey responses before March 9, record an increase in uncertainty of 5.9 compared to February. For the second group, with a submission date between March 10 and March 15, it is 9.6 points. The third group, that responds between March 16 and 24, shows the largest increase: on average, these firms report an increase in their perceived uncertainty of 19.2 points on the visual analogue scale. The aggregate increase between February and April 2020 is likewise about 20 points on the visual analogue scale. Hence, by using the responses from the third group of firms, I can exploit the full variation of the aggregate shock. Figure 3.2 further indicates that the decrease in expectations is of a similar magnitude as the increase in uncertainty. The assessments of the current business situation also worsen, but the decline is less than the change in expectations.<sup>29</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Buchheim et al. (2020b) have first documented this shift in firms' expectations and uncertainty.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> The month-over-month changes in the three variables for the three weeks of the survey in March 2019 are tiny; they are all smaller than one point on the visual analogue scale in absolute terms. This suggests that there are no shifts in firms' perceptions that regularly occur during the month of March.





**Notes:** The figure presents changes in subjective uncertainty (*unc*), business expectations and the business situation between three periods in March 2020 (indicated on the horizontal axis) against the averages of the responses from the same groups of firms in February, respectively. These measures are based on the firm-level answers to questions 1, 2, and 3 in Section 3.2.2. The labels at the vertical axis are numbers from a visual analogue scales that ranges from 0 to 100.

In the analysis, I use the variation between firms with respect to changes in their perceived uncertainty and expectations between February and March. The aim is to capture the variation that is due to the aggregate shock of the COVID-19 crisis, as opposed to idiosyncratic changes. Figure 3.3 presents distributions of changes between February and March in subjective uncertainty (*unc*) and expectations, respectively, for the three groups of firms identified above. The changes for all firms in January and February compared to the previous month, respectively, are also displayed as a reference. They are centered around zero. Thus, these changes are not driven by a common aggregate shock but reflect idiosyncratic variation at a lower level.

While the kernel density estimate for the first group of firms that responded between March 2 and 8 shows only minor deviations from the distributions of the changes in January and February, the kernel density estimates for the second group of firms (March 9-15) differ more. For the third group (March 16-24), the distribution is much wider and clearly positively skewed in case of the changes in uncertainty and negatively skewed for changes in expectations. This reflects the aggregate shock to uncertainty and expectations triggered by the events at the beginning of the COVID-19 crisis. Considering only the third group of firms, that responds between March 16 and 24, should allow me to mostly capture this variation. Moreover, I observe ample heterogeneity between firms: while on average, respondents become more uncertain and pessimistic, these changes in beliefs are more pronounced among some managers compared to others.



#### Figure 3.3: Distribution of changes in uncertainty and expectations

**Notes:** The figure shows kernel density estimates for month-over-month changes in subjective uncertainty (*unc*) in the left plot and month-over-month changes of expectations in the right plot for all firms in January and February, respectively, as well as for three groups of firms in March, split by the date of submission of their questionnaire. The density estimates are obtained using an epanechnikov kernel and the "rule-of-thumb" bandwidth (Silverman, 1986). The measures for uncertainty and expectations are based on the responses to questions 1, 2, and 3 in Section 3.2.2. The horizontal axes depict changes based on numbers from visual analogue scales that range from 0 to 100.

#### Econometric Model and Estimation

I exploit this between-firm variation to estimate the relationship between uncertainty (*unc*) and corporate decisions. As the baseline econometric specification, I choose a probit model of the form:

$$y_{it} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \Delta u_{i,t-1} + \beta_2 u_{i,t-2} + \beta_3 \Delta e_{i,t-1} + \beta_4 e_{i,t-2} + \beta_3 \Delta s_{i,t-1} + \beta_4 s_{i,t-2} + \gamma' x_i + \epsilon_{it}$$

where  $y_{it}$  denotes a dummy variable for firm *i*'s decision at time *t*, which can be either to postpone investments or to reduce employment.  $\Delta u_{i,t-1}$ ,  $\Delta e_{i,t-1}$ , and  $\Delta s_{i,t-1}$  are changes in uncertainty, expectations, and the business situation between periods t - 2 and t - 1.  $u_{i,t-2}$ ,  $e_{i,t-2}$ , and  $s_{i,t-2}$  are the levels of these variables in period t - 2, respectively.  $x_i$  captures time-invariant firm characteristics, namely size and sector, and  $\epsilon_{it}$  is an error term.

For the estimation, I use survey data from February, March, and April 2020, which refer to t - 2, t - 1, and t above. Unconditionally, 43% of the firms that responded between March 16 and 24 report in April that they have postponed investments and 16% state that they have reduced employment because of the COVID-19 crisis.<sup>30</sup> For the baseline regressions, I use the uncertainty measure *unc*, as well as business expectations and situation elicited with a visual analogue scale. These variables are based

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> The responses of the April survey were collected between April 1 and April 23.

on questions 1, 2, and 3 in Section 3.2.2. To control for the size of the firms, I define dummy variables for three size classes based on the number of employees: small firms have less than 50 employees, medium-sized firms have between 50 and 249 employees, and large firms have 250 or more employees. This categorization is in line with the official definition of the German Federal Statistical Office. To take out sector-specific effects, I include dummies for sectors at the two-digit level of the German WZ08 classification, which is closely related to the European industry classification system NACE Rev. 2.

The econometric model contains both *levels* in period t - 2 as well as *changes* in uncertainty, expectations, and the business situation between t - 2 and t - 1. The levels in February control for heterogeneity between firms before the aggregate shock. This is especially advantageous in view of the boundedness of the visual analogue scale. It allows me to compare changes between firms with the same level in February. As I want to relate changes of uncertainty caused by the aggregate shock of the COVID-19 crisis to managers' investment and employment decisions, my primary focus is on the coefficient of the change in uncertainty,  $\beta_1$ .<sup>31</sup>

## Results

Table F.5 presents average marginal effects from ten probit regressions. The dependent variable in columns 1 to 5 is a dummy for firms' decisions to postpone investment, in columns 6 to 10 the dependent variable is a dummy for the decision to reduce employment.

From the regressions in columns 1 to 5, I find that there is a weak positive relationship between changes in uncertainty and the probability that firms postpone investments, when controlling for the base level of uncertainty. However, the coefficients are not significant at the 5%-level and they seem to be dominated by other variables. The level of uncertainty before the aggregate shock of the COVID-19 crisis appears to be a much better predictor of firms' decisions to postpone investments. Column 2 shows that, unconditionally, both the base level and the change in expectations are strongly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Given the negative relationships of uncertainty and expectations as well as uncertainty and the business situation documented in Section 3.4.1, there might be a concern of multicollinearity. Table F.3 in Appendix 3.F shows that the main regressors in levels and changes are indeed correlated. However, none of the pairwise correlation coefficients exceeds 0.53. The R-squared from an OLS regression of  $\Delta u_{i,t-1}$  on the level of uncertainty in t - 2, as well as level and change variables of expectations and the business situation is 0.33. This leaves room for independent contributions of the regressors. Table F.3 also shows that individual firms seem to experience the aggregate uncertainty and expectation shocks quite differently: the correlation between changes in uncertainty and changes in expectations is merely -0.21.

negatively related to the dependent variable. The coefficients are quantitatively important: a decrease in expectations by ten points on the visual analogue scale goes along with an increase of the likelihood to postpone investments by roughly five percentage points. In the joint regression of levels and changes in uncertainty and expectations in column 3, the level of expectations becomes insignificant. When adding variables for the level and change of the business situation in column 4, only the change in the situation is significant. These results are robust to including firm size and sector dummies in column 5. To sum up, changes in expectations and the business situation triggered by the COVID-19 crisis are related to a higher likelihood to postpone investments, while changes in uncertainty are not. Moreover, firms with a higher level of uncertainty before the aggregate shock more often defer investments because of the crisis.

Columns 6 to 10 show that changes in uncertainty are not related to the decision to lay off employees. In case of a "freeze" of employment, I would have expected a significant negative coefficient. With higher uncertainty, firms would be less likely to lay off personnel. However, the coefficients in all specifications are quantitatively small and statistically not significant. In contrast, column 7 illustrates that the relationship between changes in expectations and the decision to reduce employment is strong. The more pronounced the deterioration in expectations, the more likely respondents downsize their workforce. The levels of uncertainty and expectations in February in columns 6 and 7 are also connected to a higher probability to lay off employees. In the joint regression in column 8, the level and change in expectations drive out the level of uncertainty. Including levels and changes in the business situation in column 9, as well as size and sector dummies in column 10, emphasizes the role of pre-existing differences between firms for their decisions to lay off staff. Moreover, changes in the business situation seem most important as a transmission channel from the aggregate shock to the decision to reduce employment.

These results suggest that the first moment shock at the onset of the COVID-19 crisis dominates the effects that we expect from a pure uncertainty shock. I do not find evidence that firms postpone investment or "freeze" employment following changes in uncertainty. In contrast, negative changes of expectations and of the assessment of the business situation are significantly related to these corporate decisions. Moreover, perceptions and the business situation before the aggregate shock also predict firms' reactions to the crisis. This is in line with previous findings by Buchheim et al. (2020a).

tion
situa
and
expectations,
uncertainty
past
s and
lecisions
nent c
ployn
d em]
ment an
nvest
rate i
corpc
etween
hip b
tions
: Rela
le 3.1
Tab

Dependent variable:		decision: p	ostponement of	f investment			lecision: reducti	ion of the numbe	er of employees	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	(2)	(8)	(6)	(10)
$\Delta U$ ncertainty in $t-1$	0.00150*		0.000543	0.000631	0.000583	0.0000985		-0.000411	-0.000279	0.000278
I Incertainty in $t = 2$	(1.84) 0 00552***		(0.67) 0 00459***	(0.77) 0 00456***	(0.71) 0 00406***	(0.15)		(-0.67) 0 000654	(-0.46) 0 000679	(0.45) 0.00100
	(5.82)		(4.54)	(4.27)	(3.73)	(2.60)		(0.85)	(0.87)	(1.16)
$\Delta Expectations$ in $t-1$		-0.00534***	-0.00466***	-0.00312***	-0.00330***		-0.00325***	-0.00311***	$-0.00147^{*}$	-0.00109
Expectations in $t - 2$		(-5.93) -0.00433***	(-4.89) -0.00216	(-2.96) -0.000945	(-3.15) -0.000599		(-3.88) -0.00568***	(-3.66) -0.00524***	(-1.77) -0.00374***	(-1.39) -0.00402***
T		(-3.44)	(-1.60)	(-0.64)	(-0.40)		(-5.33)	(-4.74)	(-3.20)	(-3.23)
$\Delta$ Situation in $t-1$				-0.00330***	-0.00331***				-0.00315***	-0.00286***
Situation in $t = 2$				(-3.31) -0.00210*	(-3.14) -0 00166				(-4.09) -0 00214**	(-3.75) -0 00163*
				(-1.76)	(-1.29)				(-2.47)	(-1.69)
Dummy medium sized firms				~	0.0309				~	0.0305
					(0.71)					(0.86)
Dummy large firms					0.0279					0.0284
Sector dummies					(U.48) YES					(0.64) YES
No. of firms	660	667	656	653	630	660	667	656	653	561
Pseudo R-sq.	0.037	0.039	0.066	0.078	0.15	0.019	0.077	0.080	0.11	0.24
Notes: Average margin	al effects fro	m probit reg	gressions. T	he depender	nt variable ii	n columns 1	to 5 is a dı	ummy for the	e decision to	postpone
investment projects beca	use of the C(	<b>DVID-19 cris.</b>	is, in columr	ns 6 to 10 it is	a dummy fc	or the decisic	in to reduce (	employment	because of th	he COVID-
19 crisis. Information on	these corpo	rate decision	is stems fron	n the ifo Busi	ness Survey	in April 202	20. The regre	ssors are leve	els of uncerta	inty (unc),
expectations, and busine	ess situation	from Febru	ary 2020, ar	id month-ovi	er-month ch	anges from	March 2020.	. These mea	sures are bas	sed on the
responses to questions 1,	2, and 3 in 5	Section 3.2.2.	t-statistics in	n parenthese	s; * p < 0.10,	** p < 0.05, *	** p < 0.01.			

Appendix 3.F presents additional regressions for two related managerial decisions: the cancellation of investment projects and the implementation of short-time work. I use dummies for these actions as dependent variables in otherwise unchanged regressions. The data stems from the same special question in April as the data on the decisions to postpone investments and to reduce employment. Unconditionally, 19% of the firms that responded between March 16 and 24 report to have canceled investment projects, and 49% indicate to have introduced short-time work. In principal, uncertainty could also affect these decisions via precautionary behavior. However, this does not seem to be the case: once expectations are controlled for, again I find that only first moment changes—and pre-existing business conditions before the aggregate shock—are related to these investment and employment decisions.

### Robustness

Did managers anticipate the economic consequences of the COVID-19 crisis before March 2020? News about the COVID-19 epidemic in Asia could have affected uncertainty and expectations of respondents in February. However, Buchheim et al. (2020b) show that there was basically no such effect. Instead, respondents of the ifo Business Survey only changed their beliefs once domestic policy imposed measures to contain the epidemic in March. The spread of the disease in Italy only became known on February 21, the last day of this month's survey wave. Hence, information about the outbreak in Europe is also unlikely to affect the results.

Appendix 3.F presents several robustness checks for the baseline regression results above. First, instead of computing marginal effects from probit regressions, I estimate linear probability models. The results are almost exactly the same. Second, I estimate the baseline regressions excluding firms from the manufacturing sector. Due to the relatively poor performance of this sector relative to the other major sectors before the COVID-19 crisis, it may drive some of the results. However, this is not the case: the main regressions results are robust to excluding manufacturing firms from the sample.

Third, to account for possible measurement error in the variables for uncertainty, expectations, and the business situation, I apply the Obviously Related Instrumental Variable (ORIV) approach proposed by Gillen et al. (2019). To this end, in the sample from February to April 2020, I first regress the uncertainty variable *unc* on *diff\_pred* and use the predicted values, as well as changes of the predicted values, as alternative regressors  $\Delta u_{i,t-1}$ \* and  $u_{i,t-2}$ \*. These new variables capture the common variation in *unc* and *diff\_pred* and are free of independent and identically distributed measurement error. By regressing expectations and the business situation measured using visual

analogue scales on their categorical counter-parts, I analogously obtain predicted values for these variables, in levels and in changes. Table F.7 in Appendix 3.F shows that the main results are robust to re-estimating the baseline regressions with these modified variables. A difference is that the coefficients of expectations and the business situation are substantially larger using the ORIV approach. This suggests the presence of an attenuation bias in the baseline regressions. As a consequence, in the regressions with the modified variables, uncertainty in February is driven out by expectations and the situation. In contrast to the baseline regressions, using the ORIV approach the level of uncertainty before the aggregate shock does not predict firms' investment and employment decisions anymore.

As another robustness test, Table F.8 replicates the baseline regressions in Table F.5 using the uncertainty measure *diff\_pred* as well as the categorical variables for expectations and the business situation. This requires the definition of several dummy variables. Regarding *diff\_pred*, I join the sparsely populated category "Easy" with the category "Rather easy" and create indicator variables for the resulting three levels of the difficulty to predict the future business development in periods t - 2 and t - 1. Based on these uncertainty states, I define dummy variables for positive and negative changes from t - 2 to t - 1. Moreover, I use the trichotomous variables on expectations and the business situation to create dummies for the levels in t - 2 as well as positive and negative changes between t - 2 and t - 1, respectively. In the regressions, I define the lowest uncertainty level as well as the middle categories of expectations and the business situation as the baseline. The baseline for the variables in changes are the cases of no change, respectively.

The regression results in Table F.8 confirm the main findings from above. Unfavorable expectations in the level as well as negative changes in expectations drive out the effect captured by the dummy for increases in uncertainty. This holds true for both the decision to postpone investments and the decision to reduce the number of employees. In regressions with only uncertainty and expectation variables, the level of uncertainty in February is also significantly related to the outcome dummies. However, it turns insignificant once I control for levels and changes of the business situation.

## 3.7 Conclusion

The uncertainty of firms and households is inherently subjective. As for expectations, a good way to measure it is to ask actual decision makers about their perceptions. Based on data from a large and representative German business survey, this paper

presents a novel direct measure of firms' subjective uncertainty about the development of their businesses. It appears to be a sensible measure since it contains essentially the same information as a second measure of perceived uncertainty that asks managers to assess the difficulty to predict their future business development. The collection of more data of this kind can facilitate research concerned with the effect of subjective uncertainty on decision making and the business cycle.

While conceptually closely related, there is little empirical evidence on the relationship between subjective uncertainty and expectations. I contrast managers' perceived uncertainty with their business expectations and an assessment of their business situation and find strong negative relations at the micro level and almost perfectly inverse relationships in the time series. Moreover, the relationship between uncertainty and expectations is state-dependent: in bad times, this relationship is weaker, since uncertainty is generally high. The new evidence highlights the simultaneity of movements in subjective uncertainty and both expectations and business activity in the aggregate. This impedes the identification of aggregate uncertainty shocks using time-series econometric methods. As an alternative approach, the availability of micro data of managers' perceptions allows me to analyze the impact of uncertainty on firm behavior.

Exploiting the between-firm variation at the onset of the COVID-19 crisis, I investigate the relation of uncertainty and expectations to firms' decisions to postpone investment projects and to reduce the number of employees. I find that changes in uncertainty during the aggregate downturn do not predict "wait and see" behavior. By contrast, first moment changes are related to the deferral of investment and a reduction of the workforce. These results may be particular to the sharp economic downturn in March 2020, which was extraordinary in many respects. More research should be devoted to examine the link between perceived uncertainty and corporate actions. Of particular interest could be the business cycle stage of an early recovery, when expectations improve but uncertainty remains elevated.

# Appendix

## 3.A Data

Figure A.1: Online questionnaire with questions using visual analogue scales

<b>Konj</b> Monat: Kenn-Nr. Bereich (	unkturum alle Mor .: kkk-236 (XY): 123456	frage Verarbeit ate 5-2342 Textilien, Autos und Lebens	endes Gewerbe			Ihre Angaben werden streng vertrauli Der gesetzliche <u>Datenschutz</u> ist voll ges Fragebogen als PDF zum Druck	ich behandelt. ewährleistet. <u>ken</u>
Aktı	uelle Situation	Rückblick - Tendenzen im Monat-1	Pläne und Erwartungen	Sonderfragen	einmalige Sonderfragen	Quantitative Skala	
Umfra	age abschließen	) Wir bi	tten Sie, die Fragen zu zusätzlich noch auf ei	ır aktuellen und zukün iner feineren Skala zu l	ftigen Geschäftslage beantworten.		^
	Wir beurteilen u	nsere derzeitige Geschäftsla	ige als	Unsere Ges Monaten	chäftslage wird voraussicht	tlich in den nächsten 6	
	schlecht	befriedigend	gut	eher ungün:	stiger eher gleich b	ileiben eher günstige	ir
		Unsicherheitsfrag	ze				
	Die Unsicherheit nächsten 6 Mon	: hinsichtlich unserer Geschä aten schätzen wir wie folgt e	iftsentwicklung in den ein:				
	gering	durchschnittlich	groß				
			Zurück Weite	r Speichern (ohne Abs	chicken)		

**Notes:** In the original German, the screenshot shows the section of the online survey questionnaire that elicits an assessment of the business situation as well as expectations and subjective uncertainty about the future business development using visual analogue scales. They correspond to questions 1, 2, and 3 in Section 3.2.2.

Dep. variable: dummy for online participation	(1) probit
Dummy medium sized firms	0.0177
Dummy large firms	(0.0455) 0.250***
an activity attilization in %	(0.0591)
capacity utilization in %	(0.00171)
Dummy production vs previous month: more	0.00133 (0.0409)
Dummy production vs previous month: less	0.0996**
Dummy production vs previous month: no production	-0.101
Dummy order vs previous month: higher	(0.239) 0.0405
Dummy order vs previous month: lower	(0.0428) 0.0266
	(0.0418)
Dummy demand vs previous month: higher	(0.0431)
Dummy demand vs previous month: lower	0.0287
Dummy domestic prices vs previous month: increase	-0.0107
Dummy domestic prices vs previous month: decrease	(0.0418) -0.158*
Dummy capacity utilization appraisal: more than enough	(0.0804) -0.0580
	(0.0582)
Dummy capacity utilization, appraisal: not enough	0.0564 (0.0481)
Dummy state of business: good	-0.0330 (0.0454)
Dummy state of business: bad	0.0680
Dummy expected commercial operations: favourable	(0.0598) 0.0404
Dummy expected commercial operations: unfavourable	(0.0435) -0.00589
Dummu andara annuaical, relativaly high	(0.0428)
Duniny orders, appraisal: relatively high	(0.0529)
Dummy orders, appraisal: too small	0.0924* (0.0550)
Dummy foreign orders, appraisal: relatively high	-0.0271
Dummy foreign orders, appraisal: too small	-0.0382
Dummy foreign orders, appraisal: no fexport	(0.0611) -0.372***
	(0.0689)
Duniny expected domestic prices: increase	(0.0387)
Dummy expected domestic prices: decrease	0.0599 (0.0691)
Dummy expected number of employees: increase	0.0171
Dummy expected number of employees: decrease	0.0184
Dummy stock of inventories: too little	(0.0528) 0.0141
Dummy stock of inventories: too much	(0.0705)
Dumment all of inventories and the literature	(0.0578)
Dummy stock of inventories: no stock-keeping	(0.0584)
Dummy constraints to production: yes	0.196*** (0.0423)
Constant	-0.444***
	(0.134)
No. of firms	17432 3182
Pseudo R-squared	0.035

Table A.1: Representativeness of online participants in the ifo Business Survey

**Notes:** Probit regression of a dummy variable that identifies online participants—vs. mainly paper-based respondents—in the manufacturing part of the ifo Business Survey on firm characteristics and variables of business activity. The underlying sample spans from July 2017 to January 2020. Standard errors in parentheses, clustered by firm; \* p < 0.10, \*\* p < 0.05, \*\*\* p < 0.01.

## 3.B Comparing Two Measures of Subjective Uncertainty



**Figure B.1:** Determinants of business situation and expectations from meta survey

**Notes:** The bar chart presents the results of two questions in a meta survey about the ifo Business Survey conducted in fall 2019. Respondents were asked to rate the importance of a list of variables for their assessment of the business situation and business expectations using numbers from 0 (unimportant) to 6 (very important).

Dependent variable: business situation	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	6	(8)	(6)	(10)	(11)
Dummy production vs previous month: more	11.13***										
Dummy production vs previous month: less	-18.44***										
Dummy orders vs previous month: higher	(67.00-)	9.808***									
Dummy orders vs previous month: lower		-14.89***									
Dummy demand vs previous month: higher		(60.40-)	7.155***								
Dummy demand vs previous month: lower			(10.27) -14.76***								
Dummy domestic prices vs previous month: increase			(cn.cc-)	7.367***							
Dummy domestic prices vs previous month: decrease				(12.33) -16.43***							
capacity utilization in %				(00.01-)	0.715***						
Dummy stock of orders: relatively high					(60.62)	16.83***					
Dummy stock of orders: too small						-22.36*** -22.36***					
Dummy profit situation: good						(44.44)	19.56***				
Dummy profit situation: bad							(77.cc) -19.48***				
Dummy constraints to production: yes							(10.16-)	-7.509***			
Dummy expected production: increase								(+12.04)	8.280***		
Dummy expected production: decrease									-16.73*** -16.73***		
Dummy expected number of employees: increase									(07-16-)	15.80***	
Dummy expected number of employees: decrease										(66.62) -19.63***	
Dummy expected domestic prices: increase										(77.16-)	5.618***
Dummy expected domestic prices: decrease											-15.43***
Constant	57.16*** (158.70)	57.19*** (154.63)	57.48*** (148.05)	55.90*** (149.99)	-3.934* (-1.91)	57.79*** (187.26)	54.24*** (159.97)	$60.14^{***}$ (146.06)	56.73*** (154.77)	56.18*** (158.23)	(-17.04) 55.92*** (148.54)
No. of observations R-squared	46006 0.18	45938 0.17	46056 0.13	45941 0.045	14492 0.25	45597 0.43	7222 0.45	$16060 \\ 0.032$	46127 0.13	46026 0.19	45852 0.044
Notes: Results from OLS regressio	ons. The e	depende	nt variał	ole is the	respon	dents' as	sessmer	it of the	business	situatio	n, based
on question 1 in Section 3.2.2. The	e base cat	egory of	the dun	nmy var.	iables co	<b>nstruct</b> e	ed from	the respo	onses of	the ques	tions on
changes in production, orders, der	mand, an	d prices	and of	the expe	ctations	auestio	ns is "ur	change	d". The l	ase leve	l for the
CIMINED IN PLACE CONTOURS IN THE STATE	דדומדואל איז	in harry	ל מדות הד	う ムく こう こう コ	ייייייי	10000		I'LI III I'G	·		

dummies for the stock of orders and profit situation is labeled "satisfactory", respectively. t-statistics in parenthesis. Standard

errors are clustered by firm; \* p < 0.10̂, \*\* p < 0.05̂, \*\*\* p < 0.01.

**Table B.1:** Relationship of the business situation and variables of business activity

Dependent variable: business expectations	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	6	(8)	(6)	(10)	(11)
Dummy production vs previous month: more	8.363***										
Dummy production vs previous month: less	(/T:07) ***098.6-										
Dummy orders vs previous month: higher	(67.77-)	7.653***									
Dummy orders vs previous month: lower		-10.63***									
Dummy demand vs previous month: higher		(70.62-)	7.541***								
Dummy demand vs previous month: lower			(20.88) -11.00***								
Dummy domestic prices vs previous month: increase			(10.62-)	5.005***							
Dummy domestic prices vs previous month: decrease				-11.31***							
capacity utilization in %				(-12.47)	0.254***						
Dummy stock of orders: relatively high					(15.44)	6.068*** /12.05/					
Dummy stock of orders: too small						-11.29***					
Dummy profit situation: good						(-24.93)	6.832***				
Dummy profit situation: bad							(12.39) -8.582*** / 12.04)				
Dummy constraints to production: yes							(+10.04)	4.411***			
Dummy expected production: increase								(-10.22)	11.62***		
Dummy expected production: decrease									-15.81*** -15.81***		
Dummy expected number of employees: increase									(06.00-)	11.47***	
Dummy expected number of employees: decrease										-13.29***	
Dummy expected domestic prices: increase										(07.07-)	4.808***
Dummy expected domestic prices: decrease											-13.35*** -13.35***
Constant	51.31*** (209.07)	51.81*** (208.25)	51.71*** (209.68)	51.07*** (189.94)	30.15*** (18.38)	52.60*** (202.73)	50.63*** (155.89)	53.61*** (168.91)	50.96*** (228.92)	51.15*** (210.63)	(-17.49) 51.05*** (193.40)
No. of observations R-squared	45989 0.11	45923 0.14	46039 0.14	45927 0.033	14488 0.052	45575 0.14	7219 0.11	16053 0.018	46111 0.24	46011 0.14	45841 0.052
Notes: Results from OLS regression	ons. The	depende	ent varia	ıble is bı	tsiness e	xpectati	ions, bas	sed on g	uestion 2	2 in Secti	on 3.2.2.
The base category of the dummy	variables	construc	cted fron	n the res	ponses (	of the qu	lestions	on chang	ges in pr	oduction	, orders,
demand, and prices, and of the ex	pectation	s questic	u" si suc	nchange	d″. The	base lev	rel for th	e dumm	ies for th	ie stock (	of orders
and profit situation is labeled "sat	iisfactory'	', respec	tively. t-	-statistics	s in pare	nthesis.	Standar	d errors	are clus	tered hv	firm: * p

Table B.2: Relationship of business expectations and variables of business activity

< 0.10, \*\* p < 0.05, \*\*\* p < 0.01.

Variable	No. Obs	Mean	Std. Dev.	P1	P10	P25	P50	P75	P90	P99
Business situation	46413	56.1	20.7	6	30	45	53	71	85	99
<b>Business</b> expectations	46394	51.2	16.5	8	30	45	50	59	73	95
Uncertainty: unc	46740	55.2	19.9	5	28	47	53	69	81	97

Table B.3: Summary statistics of situation, expectations, and uncertainty (unc)

**Notes:** Summary statistics of the responses from questions 1, 2, and 3 in section 3.2.2 for the manufacturing sector. The sample ranges from July 2017 to January 2020.

Table B.4: Summary statistics of uncertainty: *diff\_pred* 

	No. Obs.	Share
Easy	277	0.02
Rather easy	3,282	0.20
Rather difficult	10,053	0.62
Difficult	2,499	0.16
Total	16 111	1 00

**Notes:** Distribution of the responses to question 4 in section 3.2.2 for the manufacturing sector. The sample ranges from April 2019 to January 2020.

Figure B.2: Comparison of two measures of subjective uncertainty



**Notes:** The box plot illustrates the distribution of the responses of the direct uncertainty question 3 in Section 3.2.2 (*unc*) for each of the answer options of the indirect uncertainty question 4 (*diff\_pred*).

## **3.C** Subjective Uncertainty at the Micro Level



**Figure C.1:** Relation of uncertainty (*diff\_pred*) to expectations and the business situation

**Notes:** This figure shows non-parametric kernel regression lines of degree zero with shaded 95% confidence bands as well as fitted linear regression lines for the relationship between uncertainty (*diff\_pred*) and business expectations in the left plot, and between uncertainty (*diff\_pred*) and the business situation in the right plot. The assessment of the business situation, expectations, and uncertainty are based on questions 1, 2, and 4 in section 3.2.2, respectively. The categorical values of diff\_pred "Easy", "Rather Easy", "Rather difficult", and "Difficult" are coded as -1.5, -0.5, 0.5, and 1.5, respectively.



Figure C.2: Relation of uncertainty to the business situation by expectation category

**Notes:** The figure shows two plots with non-parametric kernel regression lines of degree zero with shaded 95% confidence bands for the relationship between uncertainty and the business situation, for three subsamples according to the respondents' business expectations being unfavorable, unchanged, and favorable. The vertical axis of the left plot depicts the uncertainty measure *unc* that is based on question 3 in Section 3.2.2; for the right plot it is *diff\_pred* that is based on question 4 in Section 3.2.2. The assessment of the business situation is based on question 1 in Section 3.2.2. The categorical values of *diff\_pred* "Easy", "Rather Easy", "Rather difficult", and "Difficult" are coded as -1.5, -0.5, 0.5, and 1.5, respectively.





**Notes:** The bar chart illustrates the mean values of uncertainty (*diff\_pred*) by the nine combinations of the categorical responses to the trichotomous questions about the business situation and business expectations described in Section 3.2.2. Each mean is based on at least 527 firm-time observations. For this illustration, the categories of *diff\_pred* "Easy", "Rather Easy", "Rather difficult", and "Difficult" are coded as 0, 1, 2, and 3, respectively. The underlying sample from the spans from April 2019 to January 2020.

	(1)	(2)
	POLS	FE
Situation good and expectations unchanged	6.677***	4.629***
	(0.774)	(0.409)
Situation good and expectations unfavorable	22.35***	14.49***
	(1.054)	(0.677)
Situation satisfactory and expectations favorable	10.01***	8.992***
	(0.899)	(0.544)
Situation satisfactory and expectations unchanged	13.21***	11.70***
	(0.834)	(0.506)
Situation satisfactory and expectations unfavorable	22.43***	16.89***
	(0.953)	(0.601)
Situation bad and expectations favorable	19.93***	17.63***
	(1.274)	(0.821)
Situation bad and expectations unchanged	20.57***	19.09***
	(1.325)	(0.740)
Situation bad and expectations unfavorable	26.31***	21.21***
	(1.223)	(0.834)
Constant	42.73***	45.06***
	(0.800)	(0.405)
No. of obs.	46248	46248
R-squared	0.14	0.55

Table C.1: Uncertainty by interaction dummies of business situation and expectations

**Notes:** Results from OLS and fixed effects regressions. The dependent variable is uncertainty (*unc*). The regressors are are based on the categorical questions on expectations and the business situation described in Section 3.2.2. In both regressions, the baseline category is a dummy for a good situation and favorable expectations. Standard errors in parentheses, clustered by firm; \* p < 0.10, \*\* p < 0.05, \*\*\* p < 0.01.



Figure C.4: Total variation of uncertainty by variables of business activity

**Notes:** The top left plot displays a non-parametric kernel regression line of degree zero with shaded 95% confidence bands for the relationship between uncertainty (*unc*) and capacity utilization in percent. I restrict the x-axis to the inter-decile range of capacity utilization for better visibility. The figure further presents bar charts illustrating coefficients from separate pooled OLS regressions of uncertainty (*unc*) on categorical variables from the ifo Business Survey, as denoted in the titles of the subplots. In particular, the regressors are dummies based on two categorical answers (labels at the x-axes). Thus, each bar corresponds to a coefficient relative to the middle category, which is "unchanged" in case of all variables except the stock of orders and the profit situation. For the latter two variables, the middle categories are labeled "sufficient" and "satisfactory", respectively. The whiskers at the bars are 95% confidence intervals. Capacity utilization is available once a quarter, the profit situation biannually, and all other variables in monthly frequency.

# 3.D Subjective Uncertainty in the Aggregate



Figure D.1: Weighted and unweighted time series

**Notes:** The figure presents weighted and unweighted aggregate time series of subjective uncertainty, business expectations and an assessment of the respondents' current business situation. These measures are based on the firm-level answers to questions 1, 2, and 3 in Section 3.2.2. The labels at the vertical axis are numbers from a visual analogue scale that ranges from 0 to 100. The weighted series are computed following the standard aggregation approach at ifo described in Sauer and Wohlrabe (2020). Weighting occurs in a two-step procedure: in the first step, observations are aggregated to the 2-digit WZ 08 sector level using firm size weights. In the second step, gross value added weights based on data from the German Statistical Office are used to aggregate from the 2-digit sector level to total manufacturing. The unweighted series are based on simple averages.



Figure D.2: Business situation vs. industrial production and gross value added

**Notes:** The left plot shows the unweighted average of the assessment of the business situation by manufacturing firms described in Section 3.2.2 and a monthly index of seasonally and calendar adjusted industrial production in the manufacturing sector from Eurostat. The right plot depicts the unweighted average of the business situation from manufacturing firms with a quarterly series of seasonally and calendar adjusted gross value added in constant prices for the manufacturing sector, provided by the German Federal Statistical Office.

Figure D.3: Long time series of gross value added in manufacturing



**Notes:** The figure depicts a quarterly index of seasonally and calender adjusted gross value added in manufacturing from Q1 1999 to Q4 2019. The sample period from Q3 2017 to Q4 2019 is marked in yellow. Note that the sample also includes January 2020. However, due to the impact of the COVID-19 crisis in March 2020, I leave out the value of the gross value added series for Q1 2020.


Figure D.4: Time series of uncertainty, expectations, and situation by firm size

**Notes:** The figure presents time series of unweighted means of subjective uncertainty, business expectations and an assessment of the respondents' current business situation. These measures are based on the firm-level answers to questions 1, 2, and 3 in Section 3.2.2. I categorize firms in three size classes based on the number of employees, following the definition of the German Federal Statistical Office: small firms have less than 50 employees, medium-sized firms between 50 and 249 employees, and large firms 250 or more employees.

### 3.E Variation in Uncertainty and Sectoral Performance

Industries in the manufacturing sector are typically affected differently by an economic downturn. More cyclical sectors such as vehicle production or machinery tend to contract more than industries with rather stable demand, such as the food or pharmaceutical industries. The aim of this appendix is to better understand the drivers of the aggregate increase in perceived uncertainty. Does uncertainty increase fairly evenly in all sectors, or are different sectoral paths in the economic downturn related to sectoral heterogeneity in uncertainty?



Figure E.1: Changes in uncertainty, expectations, and the situation by sector

**Notes:** The left plot of the figure presents a scatter plot and a non-parametric kernel regression line of degree zero with an epanechnikov kernel and the "rule of thumb" bandwidth for the relationship between the change in average uncertainty (*unc*) and the change in average business expectations between 2017 and 2019 at the 2-digit WZ08 sector level. In particular, for each sector, I take averages of uncertainty and expectations over two periods, respectively: July through December in 2017 and July through December in 2019, before computing the time-differences between these averages. The right plot replicates the left plot, but replaces business expectations with the assessment of the business situation. For both plots, I exclude sectors 12, 15, 19, 30, and 33, for which I have less than 10 observations in at least one month of the two time periods. The assessments of the business situation, expectations, and uncertainty are based on questions 1, 2, and 3 in Section 3.2.2. Responses are elicited using visual analogue scales that range from 0 to 100, respectively.

To answer this question, I compare uncertainty (*unc*), expectations, and the business situation for a time period of low aggregate uncertainty in the beginning of the sample with a time period of high aggregate uncertainty in the end of the sample. For each 2-digit sector from the WZ08 classification, I compute averages of the three variables for the six months from July to December 2017, and from July to December 2019, respectively.<sup>32</sup> Taking differences of these averages allows me to compare changes in uncertainty to changes in expectations and changes in the business situation at the industry level. These comparisons are illustrated in Figure E.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> The German WZ08 classification, short for "Klassifikation der Wirtschaftszweige 2008" is closely related to the European industry classification system NACE Rev. 2.

As expected, the two scatter plots show a sectoral heterogeneity in the change in expectations and the change in the assessment of the business situation between the second half of 2017 and the second half of 2019. This is the variation along the horizontal axes of the two plots, respectively. For instance, cyclical sectors, such as the industries producing motor vehicles and electrical equipment, underwent a large decline of their business situation by approximately 14 and 20 points on the visual analogue scale, respectively. The food and pharmaceutical sectors, on the other hand, reported a decline of only one and six points, respectively.

As the main result of this exercise, I find that uncertainty increased more in industries that experienced a larger decline in expectations and in the business situation. The negative correlations are high: the coefficient between changes in uncertainty and changes in expectations is -0.83; for changes in uncertainty vs. changes in the business situation the coefficient is -0.87. Thus, uncertainty did not rise evenly across all industries. Heterogeneity in sectoral performance is reflected in heterogeneity in uncertainty. This implies that the aggregate increase in uncertainty in the sample period was driven by industries whose situation and expectations deteriorated the most.

## 3.F Case Study: COVID-19 Crisis



Figure F.1: Uncertainty (unc), expectations, and business situation by major sector

**Notes:** The figure presents size-weighted time series of subjective uncertainty (*unc*), expectations, and the business situation for five major sectors of the German economy. The survey responses are elicited using visual analogue scales as described in Section 3.2.2.



Figure F.2: Uncertainty (*diff\_pred*), expectations, and business situation by major sector

**Notes:** The figure shows size-weighted time series of uncertainty (*diff\_pred*) for five major sectors of the German economy. They are constructed as balance statistics using the responses to question 4 described in Section 3.2.2. The weights are -1 for the answer option "easy", -0.5 for "rather easy", 0.5 for "rather difficult", and 1 for "difficult". The other series are balance statistics from ifo's categorical questions on expectations and the business situation.



Figure F.3: Sales growth uncertainty, expectations, and business situation by major sector

**Note:** The figure shows size-weighted time series of quantitative expectations and uncertainty about quarter-over-quarter sales growth for four major sectors of the German economy. Uncertainty is computed as the difference between expectations in the best and in the worst case, as described in Bachmann et al. (2018). Its unit for uncertainty at the vertical axis is percentage points. The data stems from a survey supplement to the ifo Business Survey. It is available for all four major sectors since Q2 2019.

Below is the author's English translation of a special question in the ifo Business Survey from April 2020. For the baseline analysis in section 3.6.2, I use the responses on whether or not businesses reduced employment and whether or not they postponed investment projects. Additional regressions use the responses on short-time work and the cancellation of investment projects.

#### Which measures has your firm taken in response to the Corona pandemic?

#### **Operations:**

- □ Intensified use of working from home
- $\Box$  Short-time work
- □ Reduction of time accounts and leave days
- □ Reduction of employment (e.g., lay-offs, desist from extensions)
- □ Plant closure, stop of production
- □ Increased stock-keeping
- □ Change of suppliers / diversification of supply chains

#### *Finances / Investment:*

- $\Box$  Use of existing credit lines
- □ Acquisition of new credit lines
- □ Application for public liquidity facilities
- □ Postponement of investment projects
- □ Cancellation of investment projects

Date	Event
March 2	The German Robert Koch Institute raises the threat level for the population to "moderate" because of COVID-19.
March 6	The German Health Minister rules out "any measure leading to restrictions on travel" within the European Union.
March 8	Recommendation of the German Health Minister to cancel events with more than 1000 participants.
March 9	Second death because of COVID-19 in Germany; more than 1,200 verified infections.
March 12	Federal and State governments recommend to avoid gatherings and social contacts.
March 13	Schools and childcare facilities close in almost all federal states.

Table F.1: Selected events in the onset of the COVID-19 crisis in Germany

March 16	German federal borders are closed; start of shutdown
	in which most shops and many public facilities are being closed.



Figure F.4: Histogram of the submission dates of the responses in March 2020

**Note:** Histogram of the submission dates of the questionnaires of the ifo Business Survey in March 2020. It was conducted from March 2 to March 24.

	March	2 to 15	March	16 to 24
	Mean	N	Mean	Ν
Firm characteristics				
Dummy small firms	0.557	4,767	0.546	1,269
Dummy medium firms	0.297	4,767	0.284	1,269
Dummy large firms	0.143	4,767	0.164	1,269
Dummy manufacturing	0.319	4,767	0.251	1,269
Dummy construction	0.093	4,767	0.128	1,269
Dummy wholesale & retail trade	0.245	4,767	0.199	1,269
Dummy services	0.342	4,767	0.422	1,269
Responses in February 2020				
Situation (visual analogue scale)	53.5	3,367	54.7	809
Expectations (visual analogue scale)	51.2	3,370	52.0	806
Uncertainty ( <i>unc</i> ) (visual analogue scale)	55.4	3,367	54.5	804
Dummy situation bad	0.157	4,251	0.136	920
Dummy situation good	0.335	4,251	0.370	920
Dummy expectation unfavorable	0.213	4,251	0.192	920
Dummy expectation favorable	0.178	4,251	0.184	920
Dummy uncertainty ( <i>diff_pred</i> ): easy or rather easy to predict	0.343	4,224	0.357	908
Dummy uncertainty ( <i>diff_pred</i> ): rather difficult to predict	0.532	4,224	0.537	908
Dummy uncertainty ( <i>diff_pred</i> ): difficult to predict	0.125	4,224	0.106	908
Responses in April 2020				
Dummy investment postponed	0.405	4,248	0.426	1,004
Dummy employment reduced	0.151	4,248	0.161	1,004
Dummy investment canceled	0.196	4,248	0.187	1,004
Dummy short-time work	0.471	4,248	0.488	1,004

#### Table F.2: Representativeness of subsample of firms responding from March 16 to 24

**Notes:** The table presents means and the number of observations for a list of variables for two subsamples: firms the responded between March 2 and March 15, and firms that responded between March 16 and March 24. The top panel of the table presents the shares and frequencies of the responses from three size classes and four major economic sectors, respectively. The second panel considers past responses of the firms from February 2020 about the business situation, expectations, and uncertainty. The last panel shows the firms' subsequent responses in April 2020 about investment and employment decisions.

	$\Delta$ Unc. in $t - 1$	Unc. in $t - 2$	$\Delta$ Exp. in $t - 1$	Exp. in $t - 2$	$\Delta$ Sit. in $t - 1$	Sit. in $t - 2$
$\Delta$ Unc. in $t - 1$	1.00					
Unc. in $t - 2$	-0.53	1.00				
$\Delta Exp.$ in $t-1$	-0.21	0.05	1.00			
Exp. in $t-2$	0.18	-0.32	-0.46	1.00		
$\Delta Sit.$ in $t-1$	-0.23	0.19	0.47	-0.24	1.00	
Sit. in $t-2$	0.31	-0.49	-0.20	0.53	-0.36	1.00

Table F.3: Correlation of regressors, levels and changes

**Notes:** Pairwise correlations of main regressors in Table F.5: uncertainty (*unc*), expectations, and business situation as levels in February (t - 2) and as month-over-month changes in March 2020 (t - 1). These variables are based on the responses to questions 1, 2, and 3 in Section 3.2.2

Table F.4:	Relationship	between	other	corporate	investment	and	emplc	oyment	decision	s and	past v	incertainty,	expectations,	an
	situation													

$\sim$	
Ì	
σ	
⊐	
님	
S	

Dependent variable:		decision: canc	ellation of inves	stment projects			decisi	on: short-time v	vork	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	(2)	(8)	(6)	(10)
$\Delta$ Uncertainty in $t-1$	0.000500		-0.000694	-0.000678	-0.000323	0.000403		-0.0000603	-0.000119	0.000232
Uncertainty in $t-2$	$0.00314^{***}$		(-0.00)	(10.0-)	0.000368	0.00303***		$0.00142^{*}$	(-0.20)	(0.00)
$\Delta Expectations$ in $t-1$	(3.14)	-0.00559***	(1.08) -0.00571*** / 2.00)	(-0.09) -0.00251** / 257	(0.35) -0.00207** / 2.11)	(3.90)	-0.00312***	(1.96) -0.00288*** (2.65)	(1.33) -0.00189** (12.21)	(1.36) -0.00194** (2225)
Expectations in $t - 2$		(1C.0-) -0.00686***	$(-0.0616^{***})$	-0.00139	-0.000962		-4.14 <i>)</i> -0.00630***	-0.00557***	-0.00384***	-0.00481***
$\Delta$ Situation in $t-1$		(-5.54)	(-4.68)	(-0.97) -0.00705***	(-0.68) -0.00659***		(-6.37)	(-5.46)	(-3.39) -0.00221***	(-4.11) -0.00318***
-				(-8.13)	(-6.88)				(-2.87)	(-3.55)
Situation in $t-2$				-0.00820*** (-7.53)	-0.00618*** (-5 19)				-0.00259*** (-7 87)	-0.00244** (-2.31)
Dummy medium sized firms					0.0919**					0.00321
Dummy large firms					$(2.14)$ $0.116^{**}$					(0.09) 0.0670
Sector dummies					(2.08) YES					(1.41) YES
No. of firms	660	667	656	653	602	660	667	656	653	586
Pseudo R-sq.	0.012	0.052	0.057	0.14	0.22	0.029	0.072	0.080	0.099	0.17
Notes: Average marginal projects because of the C crisis. Information on firr	effects from OVID-19 cri ns' decision	l probit regre sis, in colum s stems from	ssions. The c ns 6 to 10 it the ifo Busir	lependent va is a dummy ness Survey i	uriable in col for the decis n April 2020	umns 1 to 5 ion to imple . The regres	is a dummy f ment short-t sors are level	or the decision ime work be- ls of uncertai	on to cancel i cause of the nty ( <i>unc</i> ), exp	nvestment COVID-19 pectations,
and business situation fi	om Februa	ry 2020, and	month-over	-month char	nges from N	larch 2020.	These meas	ures are base	ed on the re	sponses to

questions 1, 2, and 3 in Section 3.2.2. t-statistics in parentheses; \* p < 0.10, \*\* p < 0.05, \*\*\* p < 0.01.

on	
Q	
:⊐	
g	
- 2	
iit	
ŝ	
р	
Ц	
5	
S	
H	
. <u> </u>	
Ľt.	
ta	
Ù	
ē	
<u> </u>	
×	
Φ	
5	
، به	
F	
ы.	
ٽڊ	
Я	
Ŭ	
Ē	
Ξ	
<u>۔</u>	
S	
ā	
Ъ	
<del>.</del> .	
2	
H	
(0	
S	
Ä	
. <u>.</u>	
S.	
. <u>ല</u>	
ĕ	
Ð	
- D	
μ	
a	
H	
×	
臣	
ō	
Ũ	
0	
·=-	
Ę,	
lsh	
hsno	
ionsh	
tionsh	
lationsh	
elationsh	
relationsh	
l: relationsh	
el: relationsh	
del: relationsh	
odel: relationsh	
nodel: relationsh	
model: relationsh	
y model: relationsh	
ity model: relationsh	
ility model: relationsh	
bility model: relationsh	
vability model: relationsh	
bability model: relationsh	
cobability model: relationsh	
probability model: relationsh	
probability model: relationsh	
ar probability model: relationsh	
ear probability model: relationsh	
near probability model: relationsh	
linear probability model: relationsh	
s linear probability model: relationsh	
ss linear probability model: relationsh	
ess linear probability model: relationsh	
ness linear probability model: relationsh	
stness linear probability model: relationsh	
ustness linear probability model: relationsh	
oustness linear probability model: relationsh	
obustness linear probability model: relationsh	
Robustness linear probability model: relationsh	
Robustness linear probability model: relationsh	
5: Robustness linear probability model: relationsh	
<b>5:</b> Robustness linear probability model: relationsh	
E5: Robustness linear probability model: relationsh	
e F.5: Robustness linear probability model: relationsh	
vle F.5: Robustness linear probability model: relationsh	
ible F.5: Robustness linear probability model: relationsh	
Table F.5: Robustness linear probability model: relationsh	

Dependent variable:		decision: p	ostponement of	investment		0	lecision: reducti	on of the numbe	er of employees	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	(2)	(8)	(6)	(10)
$\Delta$ Uncertainty in $t-1$	$0.00148^{*}$		0.000567	0.000682	0.000660	0.000156		-0.000399	-0.000237	0.000215
ň	(1.86)		(0.70)	(0.83)	(0.75)	(0.23)		(-0.59)	(-0.36)	(0.36)
Uncertainty in $t-2$	0.00551***		0.00457***	0.00452***	$0.00394^{***}$	0.00210***		0.000564	0.000474	0.000719
AFxpectations in $t - 1$	(5.85)	-0.00528***	(4.61)-0.00464***	(4.28) -0 00312***	(3.41)-0.00317***	(2.60)	-0.00797***	(0.68) -0.00289***	(0.56) -0.00133*	-0 000779
		(-6.06)	(-5.01)	(-3.00)	(-2.91)		(-4.55)	(-4.17)	(-1.80)	(-1.05)
Expectations in $t - 2$		-0.00437***	$-0.00234^{*}$	-0.00127	-0.00105		-0.00572***	-0.00535***	-0.00408***	-0.00402***
$\Delta$ Situation in $t-1$		(-3.46)	(-1.77)	(-0.89) -0.00327***	(-0.70) -0.00324***		(-5.57)	(-4.83)	(-3.68)-0.00324***	(-3.58) -0.00271***
				(-3.19)	(-2.84)				(-3.93)	(-3.27)
Situation in $t-2$				-0.00194*	-0.00141				-0.00222***	-0.00156*
Dummy medium sized firms				(07.1-)	(-1.U8) 0.0330				(68.2-)	(-1.93) 0.0302
numu size in the second size of the second sec					40000 (11 0)					
Dummv large firms					(0.74) 0.0289					(c8.0) 0.0222
)					(0.47)					(0.51)
Constant	0.0788	$0.526^{***}$	$0.169^{*}$	$0.210^{*}$	-0.195	0.0337	$0.385^{***}$	$0.344^{***}$	$0.390^{***}$	$0.195^{*}$
Sector dummies	(1.25)	(8.58)	(1.75)	(1.87)	(-1.37) YES	(0.63)	(7.21)	(4.04)	(4.10)	(1.87) YES
No. of firms	660	667	656	653	653	660	667	656	653	653
R-sq.	0.048	0.052	0.085	0.100	0.21	0.016	0.064	0.066	0.094	0.24
Notes: Results from OLS	regressions.	The depend	lent variable	in columns 1	to 5 is a dun	nmy for the o	decision to po	ostpone inve	stment projec	ts because
of the CUVID-19 crisis, in	a columns t	• to 10 it is a	dummy for	the decision	to reduce en	nployment	because of th	ar CUVID-19	crisis. Infor	mation on
firms' decisions stems fro from February 2020, and i	m the ito bu month-ovier	ISINESS DUIVE month chan	y in April 20 ae from Ma	720. The regree 120. The	essors are lev	vels of uncer	tainty ( <i>unc)</i> , i	expectations,	, and busines	s situation
3.2.2. Standard errors in F	arentheses;	* p < 0.10, **	• p < 0.05, ***	<sup>+</sup> p < 0.01.					o mm /2 / T mm	

uation
lsitı
, and
expectations
uncertainty,
past
decisions and
corporate
relationship
g excluded:
facturing
kobustness manu
F.6: I
ble ]
Ta

Dans dan taniahla.		la cicicia la	J. 1	t and other			inclose carioico	5	for the large set of the set of t	
Dependent variable:		aecision: p	ostponement or	Investment		C	ecision: reaucti	on of the numbe	er or empioyees	
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	(2)	(8)	(6)	(10)
$\Delta$ Uncertainty in $t-1$	$0.00213^{**}$		0.000985	0.00115	0.00142	0.000637		-0.000101	0.000104	0.000730
	(2.31)		(1.10)	(1.26)	(1.53)	(0.82)		(-0.15)	(0.16)	(1.09)
Uncertainty in $t-2$	0.00493***		0.00428***	0.00407***	0.00457***	0.00288***		$0.00154^{*}$	$0.00151^{*}$	0.00220**
AExpectations in $t = 1$	(4.37)	-0.00576***	(3.51)-0.00525***	(3.25) -0.00345***	(3.58)-0.00304**	(3.12)	-0.00384***	(1.71) -0.00364***	(1.71) -0.00137	(2.29) -0.000935
		(-5.70)	(-4.96)	(-2.89)	(-2.49)		(-3.96)	(-3.74)	(-1.51)	(-1.15)
Expectations in $t-2$		-0.00300**	-0.00116	0.000363	0.00101		-0.00508***	-0.00420***	-0.00199	-0.00229
$\Delta$ Situation in $t - 1$		(cn.7-)	(-0.74)	(0.21) -0.00336***	-0.00295**		(-3.81)	(20.6-)	(-1. <del>44</del> ) -0.00376***	(-1.62) -0.00291***
				(-3.18)	(-2.56)				(-4.82)	(-3.92)
Situation in $t-2$				-0.00268*	-0.00197				-0.00297***	-0.00189*
				(-1.93)	(-1.31)				(-2.80)	(-1.78)
Dummy medium sized firms					0.00302					0.0127
					(0.06)					(0.34)
Dummy large firms					0.0506					0.0165
Sector dumnies					(U.7.1) YES					YES
No. of firms. Pseudo R-sq.	487 0.028	492 0.049	484 0.071	481 0.088	464 0.15	487 0.032	492 0.082	484 0.091	481 0.16	424 0.27
Notes: Average margina 5 is a dummy for the de- to reduce employment t regressors are levels of u	l effects from cision to post ecause of the incertainty $(\iota_i)$	probit regre prone invest a COVID-19 <i>unc)</i> , expecta	essions that $\epsilon$ ment project or crisis. Info ations, and b	exclude firms ts because of rmation on f vusiness situe	s from the m f the COVIC firms' decisi ation from F	anufacturin -19 crisis, ir ons stems fi 'ebruary 202	g sector. The t columns 6 t com the ifo I .0, and mont	dependent v to 10 it is a d 3usiness Surv th-over-mont	'ariable in co lummy for th vey in April th changes fr	lumns 1 to te decision 2020. The om March
2020. These measures are	hased on the	responses t	o auestions	1. 2. and 3 in	section 3.2.2	t-statistics	in narenthes	es: * n < 0.10	** n < 0.05	** n < 0.01

Dependent variable:		decision: p	ostponement o	f investment		-	decision: reduct	tion of the numb	er of employees	
•	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	(2)	(8)	(6)	(10)
$\Delta Uncertainty^*$ in $t-1$	0.000358		-0.00137	-0.00182	-0.00202	0.00121		0.000334	-0.000395	-0.000562
Uncertainty* in $t-2$	0.00469***		0.00316*	0.000726	-0.000465	0.00336***		0.00133	-0.00279	-0.00150
$\Delta Expectations^*$ in $t-1$	(06.7)	-0.0108***	(1.84) -0.0106*** / 1.28/	(0.39) -0.00872*** / 2 50)	(0.00857*** -0.00857***	(707)	-0.00928***	-0.00875*** -0.00875	-0.20) -0.00575**	(-1.03) -0.00522* (1.87)
Expectations* in $t - 2$		(cc. <del>1</del> -) -0.00906***		-0.00512**	-0.00511** -0.00511		(15.5-) -0.00948***	(c1.c-) ***29800.0-	(07.2-) -0.00607***	-1.00) -0.00622***
$\Delta Situation^*$ in $t-1$		(cc. <del>1</del> -)	(10.0-)	(00:7-) -0.00609***	-2.42) -0.00666***		(-4.42)	(66.C-)	(70.c-) (70.c-)	-2.92) -0.00691***
Situation* in $t - 2$				-3.71) -0.00526***	(-3.84) -0.00488***				(-4.86) -0.00419***	(-5.11) -0.00460***
Dummy medium sized firms				(-4.14)	(-3.44) 0.0249 (0.77)				(00.4-)	(-3.87) 0.0335 (0.051)
Dumny large firms					(cc.u) 0.0202 (cc.o)					(cc.0) -0.0107
Sector dumnies					(033) YES					(-0.23) YES
No. of firms Pseudo R-sq.	654 0.013	650 0.029	639 0.038	629 0.062	606 0.13	654 0.017	650 0.064	639 0.064	629 0.12	542 0.25
Notes: Average margin investment projects, in c Business Survey in April ( <i>unc</i> ), expectations, and t other regressors marked the categorical variables Obviously Related Instru- based on the responses t	al effects frc olumns 6 to 2020. The ri- vusiness situ with a star ( in March 20 imental Var o questions theses: * n <	om probit re 10 it is a du ght hand sid ation elicitec are predictec (20. In case o iable approa 1, 2, 3, and 4	gressions. T gressions. T e variables rr 1 using visua 1 values from of uncertaint ich to accour	The depender e decision to narked with a nl analogue sc n regressions y ( <i>unc</i> ), the p th for indepen categorical q	nt variable i reduce empl a star contain cales in Febru of monthly redicted val ndent and id luestions on	n columns loyment. In t predicted v uary 2020 or changes in t lues stem fre lues stem fre lentically di business exj	I to 5 is a differmation or alues from re o their catego the visual an om regressio stributed me pectations ar	ummy for th n firms' decis sgressions of i rical counter- alogue scale ns on <i>diff_pre</i> asurement el asurement el	e decision to ions stems fr ihe levels of u parts, respec variables on a. This imple rror. The region on presented	o postpone om the ifo uncertainty tively. The changes in ements the ressors are in Section

177

0
:Ē
lai
Ξ
r S
ŭ
, a
ns
10
tat
eci
ğ
G
ť,
II.
ta
G
ŭ
t u
asi
Ω,
p
aı
ns
10
Cis.
le
e
at
or
ц
9
d.
ĿĻ,
2
H
tior
lation
Relation
d: Relation
red: Relation
pred: Relation
liff_pred: Relation
y diff_pred: Relation
nty diff_pred: Relation
ainty diff_pred: Relation
ertainty diff_pred: Relation
ncertainty diff_pred: Relation
uncertainty <i>diff_pred</i> : Relation
ss uncertainty diff_pred: Relation
ness uncertainty diff_pred: Relation
stness uncertainty diff_pred: Relation
bustness uncertainty diff_pred: Relation
Robustness uncertainty diff_pred: Relation
: Robustness uncertainty diff_pred: Relation
E.8: Robustness uncertainty diff_pred: Relation
le F.8: Robustness uncertainty diff_pred: Relation
<b>ble F.8:</b> Robustness uncertainty <i>diff_pred</i> : Relation

		decision: pc	stponement	of investment		decis	sion: reductic	on of the num	ber of employ	rees
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	(2)	(8)	(6)	(10)
Uncertainty: negative change in $t - 1$	0.101		0.0741	0.0857	0.0881	0.0294		0.0153	0.00843	0.0298
Uncertainty: positive change in $t-1$	(1.30) $0.0974^{**}$		(0.96) 0.0381	(1.11) 0.0254	(1.18) 0.0193	$(0.54)$ $0.0664^{**}$		(0.28) 0.0334	(0.16) 0.0180	(0.54)-0.00291
	(2.51)		(0.92)	(0.61)	(0.45)	(2.26)		(1.08)	(09.0)	(60.0-)
Uncertainty: dummy 'rather difficult' in $t-2$	0.0958** (2.55)		0.0620 (1.56)	-0.00130 (-0.03)	-0.0344 (-0.77)	$0.0485^{*}$ (1.73)		0.0105 (0.35)	-0.0246 (-0.78)	-0.0353 (-1.03)
Uncertainty: dummy 'difficult' in $t-2$	0.267***		0.163**	0.0727	0.0251	0.192***		0.102**	0.0551	-0.000124
Expectations: negative change in $t-1$	(4.04)	0.221***	0.194***	0.170***	0.155***	(4.20)	0.170***	(2.02) 0.156***	(1.09) 0.114*** (0.114	0.0959**
Expectations: positive change in $t-1$		(5.18) -0.111	(4.26)-0.106	(3.63) -0.0853	(3.24)-0.0649		(4.17)	(3.70) -0.0625	(27.2) -0.0323	-0.0383
Expectations: dummy 'favorable' in $t-2$		(-1.07) 0.00652	(-1.02) 0.0217	(-0.85) 0.0245	(-0.65) 0.0279		(-0.82) -0.0218	(-0.79) -0.0185	(-0.43) -0.0151	(-0.55) -0.00840
Expectations: dummy 'unfavorable' in $t-2$		$(0.16)$ $0.314^{***}$	$(0.51)$ $0.262^{***}$	$(0.57)$ $0.183^{***}$	(0.64) $0.203^{***}$		(-0.71) $0.265^{***}$	(-0.58) $0.240^{***}$	(-0.48) $0.175^{***}$	(-0.24) $0.167^{***}$
Situation: negative change in $t-1$		(5.75)	(4.49)	(2.95) $0.117^{***}$	(3.24) $0.139^{***}$		(5.71)	(4.87)	(3.70) $0.130^{***}$	(3.22) $0.139^{***}$
Situation: positive change in $t-1$				(2.98) -0.0389	(3.38) -0.0628				(4.70) -0.0594	(4.53) -0.0836
Situation: dummy 'sood' in $t - 2$				(-0.60) -0.137***	(-0.99) -0 144***				(-1.23) -0 0696**	(-1.63) -0.0544
Situation: dummy 'bad' in $t-2$				(-3.31) $(0.104^*)$	(-3.29) 0.0865				(-2.30) $(0.112^{***})$	(-1.57) $(0.129^{***})$
Dummy medium sized firms				(1.81)	(1.47) 0.0437				(3.05)	(3.12) 0.0483
Dummy large firms					(1.07) 0.0558					(1.56) 0.0276
Sector dummies					(1.01) YES					(0.67) YES
No. of firms Pseudo R-sq.	796 0.019	782 0.036	782 0.043	775 0.060	750 0.11	796 0.029	782 0.065	782 0.073	775 0.12	670 0.24
Notes: Average marginal effects from F investment projects because of the CON COVID-19 crisis. Information on firms' ( $diff_pred$ ), expectations, and business s based on the responses to question 4 t-statistics in parentheses: * $p < 0.10$ . ** t	VID-19 cr VID-19 cr / decision situation and the c	ressions. 7 risis, in col ns stems fr from Febru categorical *** p < 0.07	The depenution of the depenution of the form of the ifo of the ifo uary 2020, uary 2020, the form of the	dent variab 10 it is a d Business S and month and month	le in colur ummy for urvey in <i>i</i> 1-over-moi ss expecta	mns 1 to 5 the decisi April 2020. nth change ttions and	is a dumr on to redu The regre s from Má the situati	ny for the c ce employ ssors are l arch 2020. ion presen	decision to ment becau levels of ur These mea tred in Sect	postpone ise of the certainty sures are ion 3.2.2.

CHAPTER 3. UNCERTAINTY, EXPECTATIONS, AND FIRM BEHAVIOR

# Bibliography

- Abberger, K., Sauer, S., Seiler, C., 2011. Der Test des Tests im ifo Konjunkturtest Handel. ifo Forschungsberichte 52.
- Altig, D., Baker, S. R., Barrero, J. M., Bloom, N., Bunn, P., Chen, S., Davis, S. J., Leather, J., Meyer, B. H., Mihaylov, E., et al., 2020. Economic uncertainty before and during the COVID–19 pandemic. Working Paper 27418, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Altig, D., Barrero, J. M., Bloom, N., Davis, S. J., Meyer, B. H., Parker, N., 2019. Surveying business uncertainty. Working Paper 25956, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Arellano, C., Bai, Y., Kehoe, P. J., 2019. Financial frictions and fluctuations in volatility. Journal of Political Economy 127 (5), 2049–2103.
- Arkolakis, C., Papageorgiou, T., Timoshenko, O. A., 2018. Firm learning and growth. Review of Economic Dynamics 27, 146 – 168.
- Armantier, O., Bruine de Bruin, W., Topa, G., van der Klaauw, W., Zafar, B., 2015. Inflation expectations and behavior: Do survey respondents act on their beliefs? International Economic Review 56 (2), 505–536.
- Asparouhova, E., Bossaerts, P., Eguia, J., Zame, W., 2015. Asset pricing and asymmetric reasoning. Journal of Political Economy 123 (1), 66–122.
- Bachmann, R., 2019. Comments on "Monetary policy announcements and expectations: Evidence from German firms". Journal of Monetary Economics 108, 64–68.
- Bachmann, R., Bayer, C., 2013. "Wait-and-see" business cycles? Journal of Monetary Economics 60 (6), 704–719.
- Bachmann, R., Bayer, C., April 2014. Investment dispersion and the business cycle. American Economic Review 104 (4), 1392–1416.
- Bachmann, R., Born, B., Elstner, S., Grimme, C., 2019. Time-varying business volatility and the price setting of firms. Journal of Monetary Economics 101, 82 99.

- Bachmann, R., Carstensen, K., Lautenbacher, S., Schneider, M., 2018. Uncertainty and change: survey evidence of firms' subjective beliefs. Mimeo, University of Notre Dame.
- Bachmann, R., Elstner, S., Hristov, A., 2017. Surprise, surprise measuring firm-level investment innovations. Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control 83, 107 148.
- Bachmann, R., Elstner, S., Sims, E. R., 2013. Uncertainty and economic activity: Evidence from business survey data. American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics 5 (2), 217–249.
- Bachmann, R., Moscarini, G., 2012. Business cycles and endogenous uncertainty. Mimeo, Yale University.
- Bai, J., Ng, S., 2008. Forecasting economic time series using targeted predictors. Journal of Econometrics 146, 304–317.
- Baker, S. R., Bloom, N., Davis, S. J., 2016. Measuring economic policy uncertainty. The Quarterly Journal of Economics 131 (4), 1593–1636.
- Baker, S. R., Bloom, N., Davis, S. J., Terry, S. J., 2020. COVID–induced economic uncertainty. Working Paper 26983, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Baley, I., Blanco, A., January 2019. Firm uncertainty cycles and the propagation of nominal shocks. American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics 11 (1), 276–337.
- Barrero, J. M., Bloom, N., Wright, I., 2017. Short and long run uncertainty. Working Paper 23676, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Basu, S., Bundick, B., 2017. Uncertainty shocks in a model of effective demand. Econometrica 85 (3), 937–958.
- Bekaert, G., Wu, G., 2000. Asymmetric volatility and risk in equity markets. The Review of Financial Studies 13 (1), 1–42.
- Belloni, A., Chernozhukov, V., 2013. Least squares after model selection in highdimensional sparse models. Bernoulli 19 (2), 521–547.
- Ben-David, I., Fermand, E., Kuhnen, C. M., Li, G., 2018. Expectations uncertainty and household economic behavior. Working Paper 25336, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Ben-David, I., Graham, J. R., Harvey, C. R., 2013. Managerial miscalibration. The Quarterly Journal of Economics 128 (4), 1547–1584.

- Berger, D., Dew-Becker, I., Giglio, S., 2020. Uncertainty shocks as second-moment news shocks. The Review of Economic Studies 87 (1), 40–76.
- Berger, D., Vavra, J., 2019. Shocks versus responsiveness: What drives time-varying dispersion? Journal of Political Economy 127 (5), 2104–2142.
- Bernanke, B. S., 1983. Irreversibility, uncertainty, and cyclical investment. The Quarterly Journal of Economics 98 (1), 85–106.
- Bianchi, F., Ilut, C. L., Schneider, M., 2017. Uncertainty shocks, asset supply and pricing over the business cycle. The Review of Economic Studies 85 (2), 810–854.
- Bloom, N., 2009. The impact of uncertainty shocks. Econometrica 77 (3), 623-685.
- Bloom, N., 2014. Fluctuations in uncertainty. Journal of Economic Perspectives 28 (2), 153–76.
- Bloom, N., Bond, S., Van Reenen, J., 04 2007. Uncertainty and Investment Dynamics. The Review of Economic Studies 74 (2), 391–415.
- Bloom, N., Bunn, P., Chen, S., Mizen, P., Smietanka, P., Thwaites, G., 2019. The impact of Brexit on UK firms, SIEPR Working Paper No. 19-019.
- Bloom, N., Bunn, P., Chen, S., Mizen, P., Smietanka, P., Thwaites, G., Young, G., 2018a. Brexit and uncertainty: insights from the decision maker panel. Fiscal Studies 39 (4), 555–580.
- Bloom, N., Davis, S. J., Foster, L., Lucking, B., Ohlmacher, S., Saporta-Eksten, I., 2017. Business-level expectations and uncertainty. Mimeo, Stanford University.
- Bloom, N., Floetotto, M., Jaimovich, N., Saporta-Eksten, I., Terry, S. J., 2018b. Really uncertain business cycles. Econometrica 86 (3), 1031–1065.
- Bontempi, M. E., Golinelli, R., Parigi, G., 2010. Why demand uncertainty curbs investment: Evidence from a panel of italian manufacturing firms. Journal of Macroeconomics 32 (1), 218 – 238.
- Brennan, M. J., Schwartz, E. S., 1985. Evaluating natural resource investments. Journal of Business, 135–157.
- Buchheim, L., Dovern, J., Krolage, C., Link, S., 2020a. Firm-level expectations and behavior in response to the COVID–19 crisis. Working Paper 8304, CESifo.
- Buchheim, L., Krolage, C., Link, S., 2020b. Sudden stop: When did firms anticipate the potential consequences of COVID-19? Working Paper 13253, Institute of Labor Economics (IZA).

- Buchheim, L., Link, S., 2017. The effect of disaggregate information on the expectation formation of firms, CESifo Working Paper 6768.
- Caballero, R., Simsek, A., 2013. Fire sales in a model of complexity. Journal of Finance 68 (6), 2549–2587.
- Campbell, J. Y., Lettau, M., Malkiel, B. G., Xu, Y., 2001. Have individual stocks become more volatile? An empirical exploration of idiosyncratic risk. Journal of Finance 56 (1), 1–43.
- Cascaldi-Garcia, D., Datta, D., Ferreira, T., Grishchenko, O., Jahan-Parvar, M. R., Loria, F., Ma, S., Rodriguez, M., Londono, J. M., Rogers, J., et al., 2020. What is certain about uncertainty? International Finance Discussion Papers 1294. Washington: Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.
- Christiano, L. J., Motto, R., Rostagno, M., 2014. Risk shocks. American Economic Review 104 (1), 37–65.
- Coibion, O., Gorodnichenko, Y., Kamdar, R., 2018a. The formation of expectations, inflation, and the phillips curve. Journal of Economic Literature 56 (4), 1447–91.
- Coibion, O., Gorodnichenko, Y., Kumar, S., 2018b. How do firms form their expectations? New survey evidence. American Economic Review 108 (9), 2671–2713.
- Coibion, O., Gorodnichenko, Y., Ropele, T., 2020. Inflation expectations and firm decisions: New causal evidence. The Quarterly Journal of Economics 135 (1), 165–219.
- David, J. M., Venkateswaran, V., July 2019. The sources of capital misallocation. American Economic Review 109 (7), 2531–67.
- Delavande, A., Ganguli, J., Mengel, F., 2019. Measuring uncertainty attitudes and their impact on behaviour in general social surveys. Mimeo, University of Essex.
- Dibiasi, A., Abberger, K., Siegenthaler, M., Sturm, J.-E., 2018. The effects of policy uncertainty on investment: Evidence from the unexpected acceptance of a far-reaching referendum in switzerland. European Economic Review 104, 38–67.
- Dimmock, S., Kouwenberg, R., Mitchell, O., Peijnenburg, K., 2016. Ambiguity aversion and household portfolio choice puzzles: Empirical evidence. Journal of Financial Economics 119 (3), 559–577.
- Ding, Z., Granger, C., 1996. Modeling volatility persistence of speculative returns: a new approach. Journal of Econometrics 73, 185–215.
- Ding, Z., Granger, C., Engle, R., 1993. A long memory property of stock market returns and a new model. Journal of Empricial Finance 1 (1), 83–106.

- Dominitz, J., Manski, C. F., 1997. Using expectations data to study subjective income expectations. Journal of the American Statistical Association 92 (439), 855–867.
- Dominitz, J., Manski, C. F., 2004. How should we measure consumer confidence? Journal of Economic Perspectives 18 (2), 51–66.
- Efron, B., Hastie, T., Johnstone, I., Tibshiranie, R., 2004. Least angle regression. Annals of Statistics 32 (2), 407–499.
- Elliott, G., Timmermann, A., 2016. Forecasting in economics and finance. Annual Review of Economics 8, 81–110.
- Ellsberg, D., 1961. Risk, ambiguity, and the savage axioms. The Quarterly Journal of Economics 75 (4), 643–669.
- Enders, Z., Hünnekes, F., Müller, G. J., 2019a. Monetary policy announcements and expectations: Evidence from German firms. Journal of Monetary Economics 108, 45 63.
- Enders, Z., Hünnekes, F., Müller, G. J., 2019b. Firm expectations and economic activity, CESifo Working Paper 7623.
- Epstein, L. G., Wang, T., 1994. Intertemporal asset pricing under Knightian uncertainty. Econometrica 62 (2), 283–322.
- Fajgelbaum, P. D., Schaal, E., Taschereau-Dumouchel, M., 2017. Uncertainty traps. The Quarterly Journal of Economics 132 (4), 1641–1692.
- Fan, J., Gijbels, I., 1996. Local polynomial modelling and its applications. Chapman & Hall.
- Fernández-Villaverde, J., Guerrón-Quintana, P. A., 2020. Uncertainty shocks and business cycle research. Working Paper 26768, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Fernández-Villaverde, J., Guerrón-Quintana, P. A., Kuester, K., Rubio-Ramírez, J., 2015. Fiscal volatility shocks and economic activity. American Economic Review 105 (11), 3352–3384.
- Gennaioli, N., Ma, Y., Shleifer, A., 2016. Expectations and investment. NBER Macroeconomics Annual 30, 379–442.
- Gilboa, I., Schmeidler, D., 1989. Maxmin expected utility with non-unique prior. Journal of Mathematical Economics.
- Gilchrist, S., Sim, J. W., Zakrajšek, E., 2014. Uncertainty, financial frictions, and investment dynamics. Working Paper 20038, National Bureau of Economic Research.

- Gillen, B., Snowberg, E., Yariv, L., 2019. Experimenting with measurement error: Techniques with applications to the caltech cohort study. Journal of Political Economy 127 (4), 1826–1863.
- Giustinelli, P., Manski, C., Molinari, F., 2019. Precise or imprecise probabilities? Evidence from survey response on late-onset dementia. Working Paper 26125, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Giustinelli, P., Pavoni, N., 2017. The evolution of awareness and belief ambiguity in the process of high school track choice. Review of Economic Dynamics 25, 93–120.
- Glocker, C., Hölzl, W., 2019. Assessing the economic content of direct and indirect business uncertainty measures. Working Paper 576, WIFO.
- Guiso, L., Jappelli, T., Pistaferri, L., 2002. An empirical analysis of earnings and employment risk. Journal of Business & Economic Statistics 20 (2), 241–253.
- Guiso, L., Jappelli, T., Terlizzese, D., 1992. Earnings uncertainty and precautionary saving. Journal of Monetary Economics 30 (2), 307–337.
- Guiso, L., Parigi, G., 1999. Investment and demand uncertainty. The Quarterly Journal of Economics 114 (1), 185–227.
- Guiso, L., Sapienza, P., Zingales, L., 2018. Time varying risk aversion. Journal of Financial Economics 128 (3), 403–421.
- Hassan, T. A., Hollander, S., van Lent, L., Tahoun, A., 2019. Firm-level political risk: Measurement and effects. The Quarterly Journal of Economics 134 (4), 2135–2202.
- Hastie, T., Tibshirani, R., Friedman, J., 2017. The elements of statistical learning. Springer, 2nd edition, corrected 12th printing.
- Hibbert, A. M., Daigler, R. T., Dupoyet, B., 2008. A behavioral explanation for the negative asymmetric return–volatility relation. Journal of Banking & Finance 32 (10), 2254–2266.
- Hopenhayn, H. A., 2014. Firms, misallocation, and aggregate productivity: A review. Annual Review of Economics 6 (1), 735–770.
- Hurd, M. D., McGarry, K., 2002. The predictive validity of subjective probabilities of survival. The Economic Journal 112 (482), 966–985.
- IBS-CON, 2020. ifo Business Survey Construction 01/1991–06/2020. LMU-ifo Economics & Business Data Center, Munich, doi: 10.7805/ebdc-ibs-con-2020b.

- IBS-IND, 2016. ifo Business Survey Industry 01/1980–12/2016. LMU-ifo Economics & Business Data Center, Munich, doi: 10.7805/ebdc-ibs-ind-2016b.
- IBS-IND, 2017. ifo Business Survey Industry 01/1980–12/2017. LMU-ifo Economics & Business Data Center, Munich, doi: 10.7805/ebdc-ibs-ind-2017b.
- IBS-IND, 2020. ifo Business Survey Industry 01/1980–06/2020. LMU-ifo Economics & Business Data Center, Munich, doi: 10.7805/ebdc-ibs-ind-2020b.
- IBS-SERV, 2020. ifo Business Survey Service sector 10/2004–06/2020. LMU-ifo Economics & Business Data Center, Munich, doi: 10.7805/ebdc-ibs-serv-2020b.
- IBS-TRA, 2020. ifo Business Survey Trade 01/1990–06/2020. LMU-ifo Economics & Business Data Center, Munich, doi: 10.7805/ebdc-ibs-tra-2020b.
- Ilut, C., Kehrig, M., Schneider, M., 2018. Slow to hire, quick to fire: Employment dynamics with asymmetric responses to news. Journal of Political Economy 126 (5), 2011–2071.
- Ilut, C., Saijo, H., 2020. Learning, confidence, and business cycles. Journal of Monetary Economics, forthcoming.
- Ilut, C., Schneider, M., 2014. Ambiguous business cycles. American Economic Review 104 (8), 2368–99.
- Ilut, C., Valchev, R., 2017. Economic agents as imperfect problem solvers. Mimeo, Duke University.
- Jensen, M. P., Chen, C., Brugger, A. M., 2003. Interpretation of visual analog scale ratings and change scores: a reanalysis of two clinical trials of postoperative pain. The Journal of Pain 4 (7), 407–414.
- Jovanovic, B., 1982. Selection and the evolution of industry. Econometrica 50 (3), 649–670.
- Jurado, K., Ludvigson, S. C., Ng, S., 2015. Measuring uncertainty. American Economic Review 105 (3), 1177–1216.
- Juster, F. T., 1966. Consumer buying intentions and purchase probability: An experiment in survey design. Journal of the American Statistical Association 61 (315), 658– 696.
- Juster, F. T., Suzman, R., 1995. An overview of the health and retirement study. The Journal of Human Resources 30, S7–S56.

- Karanasos, M., Kim, J., 2006. A re-examination of the asymmetric power arch model. Journal of Empirical Finance 13, 113–128.
- Kass, R., Raftery, A., 1995. Bayes factors. Journal of the American Statistical Association 90 (430), 773–795.
- Knight, F., 1921. Risk, ambiguity, and profit. Boston, MA: HoughtonMifflin.
- Kozeniauskas, N., Orlik, A., Veldkamp, L., 2018. What are uncertainty shocks? Journal of Monetary Economics 100, 1–15.
- Kuhn, F., George, C., 2019. Business cycle implications of capacity constraints under demand shocks. Review of Economic Dynamics 32, 94–121.
- Kumar, S., Afrouzi, H., Coibion, O., Gorodnichenko, Y., 2015. Inflation targeting does not anchor inflation expectations: Evidence from firms in New Zealand. Brookings Papers on Economic Activity 2015, 151–208.
- Leahy, J., Whited, T., 1996. The effect of uncertainty on investment: Some stylized facts. Journal of Money, Credit and Banking 28 (1), 64–83.
- Leduc, S., Liu, Z., 2016. Uncertainty shocks are aggregate demand shocks. Journal of Monetary Economics 82, 20–35.
- Lehrer, S., Xie, T., 2017. Box office buzz: Does social media data steal the show from model uncertainty when forecasting for hollywood? The Review of Economics and Statistics 99 (5), 749–755.
- Link, S., 2020. Harmonization of the ifo business survey's micro data. Journal of Economics and Statistics 240 (4), 543–555.
- Ludvigson, S. C., May, S., Ng, S., 2020. Uncertainty and business cycles: Exogenous impulse or endogenous response? American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics, forthcoming.
- Lütkepohl, H., 2005. New introduction to multiple time series analysis. Springer.
- Luttmer, E. G., 2010. Models of growth and firm heterogeneity. Annual Review of Economics 2 (1), 547–576.
- Manski, C., Molinari, F., 2010. Rounding probabilistic expectations in surveys. Journal of Business & Economic Statistics 28 (2), 219–231.
- Manzan, S., 2015. Forecasting the distribution of economic variables in a data-rich environment. Journal of Business & Economic Statistics 33 (1), 144–164.

- Massenot, B., Pettinicchi, Y., 2018. Can firms see into the future? Survey evidence from Germany. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization 145, 66 79.
- McDonald, R., Siegel, D., 1986. The value of waiting to invest. The Quarterly Journal of Economics 101 (4), 707–727.
- Mietzner, D., 2009. Strategische Vorausschau und Szenarioanalysen. Hamburg: Springer Verlag.
- Nelson, D., 1991. Conditional heteroskedasticity in asset returns: a new approach. Econometrica 59 (2), 347–370.
- Orlik, A., Veldkamp, L., 2014. Understanding uncertainty shocks and the role of black swans. Working Paper 20445, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Pugsley, B., Sedlacek, P., Sterk, V., 2018. The nature of firm growth, CEPR Discussion Paper 12670.
- Salgado, S., Guvenen, F., Bloom, N., 2020. Skewed business cycles. Working Paper 26983, National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Sauer, S., Wohlrabe, K., 2019. CEO or intern–who actually answers the questionnaires in the ifo business survey? CESifo Forum 20 (2), 29–31.
- Sauer, S., Wohlrabe, K., 2020. ifo Handbuch der Konjunkturumfragen. ifo Beiträge zur Wirtschaftsforschung 88.
- Schaal, E., 2017. Uncertainty and unemployment. Econometrica 85 (6), 1675–1721.
- Silverman, B. W., 1986. Density estimation for statistics and data analysis. Vol. 26. CRC press.
- Stangl, A., 2009. Essays on the measurement of economic expectations. Ph.D. thesis, LMU Munich.
- Tanaka, M., Bloom, N., David, J., Koga, M., 2019. Firm performance and macro forecast accuracy. Journal of Monetary Economics 114, 26–41.
- Tibshirani, R., 1996. Regression shrinkage and selection via the lasso. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society Series B 58 (1), 267–288.
- Van Nieuwerburgh, S., Veldkamp, L., 2006. Learning asymmetries in real business cycles. Journal of Monetary Economics 53 (4), 753–772.
- Varian, H., 2014. Big data: new tricks for econometrics. Journal of Economic Perspectives 28 (2), 3–28.

Zivot, E., 2009. Practical issues in the analysis of univariate garch models. In: Mikosch,T., Kreiß, J., Davis, R., Andersen, T. (Eds.), Handbook of Financial Time Series.Springer, pp. 113–155.